
TOWN OF GANANOQUE 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES FOR NOVEMBER 4, 2014 

AT ES BUILDING- 340 HERBERT ST 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Mayor: 

Councillors: 

Regrets: 

STAFF: 

Erika Demchuk 

Jeff Girling, Joe Jansen, Jan Hayes and Anne Warren 

Roberta Abbott and Bill Sheppard 

Kelly Shipclark, Deputy Clerk 

Bill McKennan, Treasurer 

Sue Smith, Manager of Parks, Reacreation and Marina 

Brenda Guy, Community Development Manager 

Krista Vandewal, Human Resource Specialist 

Shelley Hirstwood, Economic Development Manager 

CALL To ORDER 6:00PM 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

MOTION NO: 2014-302 

Moved by: Councillor Warren 

Seconded by: Councillor Jansen 

Be it resolved that Council adopt the agenda for November 4, 2014 as posted. 

CARRIED 

HEALTH SAFETY & WELLNESS 

Invited everyone to attend the Remebrance Day service at Town Hall. 

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST & THE GENERAL NATURE THEREOF 

PUBLIC MEETINGS 

PUBLIC QUESTION/COMMENT 

Several residents commented or questioned items on the Agenda. 

DEPUTATION 

Howard Allan, Allan Chartered Accountant Professional Corporation and Allan and 

Partners Inc.- presentation ofthe 2013 Financial Statements 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

MOTION NO: 2014-303 

Moved by: Councillor Jansen 

Seconded by: Councillor Girling 

Be it resolved that Council move into Committee ofthe Whole w ith Councillor 

Warren as the Chair. 

MOTIONS (Council Direction to Staff) 

MOTION NO: 2014-304 

Moved by: Councillor Warren 

Seconded by: Councillor Jansen 

CARRIED 

Be it resolved that Council direct the clerk to start the Library Board advertisement 
process for additional members. 

CARRIED 
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Regular Council Meeting Minutes for November 4, 2014 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE RISES 

MOTION NO: 2014-305 

Moved by: Councillor Jansen 
Seconded by: Councillor Warren 
Be it resolved that the Committee of the Whole rises. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

MOTION NO: 2014-306 
Moved by: Councillor Warren 
Seconded by: Councillor Jansen 

CARRIED 

Be it resolved that the items contained on the Consent Agenda are hereby received 
and processed as follows: 
Council Minutes are hereby received and adopted as posted: 

Regular Council Meeting Minutes for October 7, 2014 
Committee Minutes are hereby received and adopt the recommendations: 

Economic Developent Advisory Committee- September 17, 2014 

Community Grants Committee- October 9, 2014 

Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority - September 24, 2014 

Trail and Urban Forest Committee- October 15, 2014 

Planning Advisory Committee/Committee of Adjustment- June 24, 2014 

Planning Advisory Committee/Committee of Adjustment- July 2, 2014 

Health Unit Summary- October 16, 2014 

Heritage Committee- September 3, 2014 

Deputations 
Howard Allan -Allan Chartered Accountant Professional Corporation and Allan 
and Partners Inc. - 2013 Financial Statements and Management Letter 

Receive and Adopt 
Municipal Officer Reports received and processed as follows: 

September Fire Services Report Receive for Info 

2014-27-CD- Arthur Child Heritage Museum Award Tender- Andrecon 
Construction By-law 2014-109 

2014-28-CD- BIA Request Receive for Info 

2014-21-RECM- Marina Dredging 

2014-05-HR - Human Resource Policy Manual 

2014-18-ED- Parking Shuttle Service Overview 

Receive for Info 

By-law 2014-110 

Receive for Info 

Correspondence - be received and the direction be given as indicated: 
Craig Higgs- Chip Truck Licence Renewal Refer to Staff 
Gananoque Business Improvement Are - Free Parking from December 1, 2014 to 
March 1, 2015 By-law 2014-112 
Stewardship Ontario- Blue Box Recycling for the 2014 Program Year 

Receive for Info 
Donna Dempsey- Welcome Weagon Basket Program Separate Motion 
Rural Ontario Municipal Association - Protecting Rural Broadband 

Separate Motion 
Municipal Property Assessment Corporation - 2014 Information Kit 

Receive for Info 
Save the River - 2014 Plan for Modern WaterLevels for Lake Ontario and the St. 
Lawrence River Separate Motion 
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A RR21Jm 
Chartered Accounr.liH Prof.:ssJon.ll Corpor.HWil 


October 2, 2014 


Mrs. Erika Demchuk, Mayor 
The Corporation of the Town of Gananoque 
P 0 Box 100 Town Hall 
30 King Street East 
Gananoque, ON K7G 2T6 


Dear Mrs. Demchuk: 


RECE IV ED OCT 0 9 2014 


We would like to thank the employees of the accounting and administration departments of the Town 


for their assistance during the audit performed in respect of the Town's December 31 s'. 2013 year end 


financial statements. 


As reported in prior letters, our audit approach focuses on understanding sources of business risk, fraud 


risk, entity governance policies and management's overall decision making processes, rather than 


simply focussing on the financial statements. The planning and execution of audits includes the 


requirement for the auditor to obtain an understanding of the internal control designed and implemented 


by management to prevent and detect fraud and error. 


The procedures performed during the course of the audit included documenting any changes from the 


previous year end in the Town's system of internal controls. Audit standards require we report on any 


areas where we see an opportunity to consider enhanced internal controls. The feasibility of the 


enhancement of internal controls rests with management. 


During the course of the audit we identified matters that may be of interest to management. The 


objective of an audit is to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of 


material misstatement. It is not designed for the purpose of identifying matters to communicate. 


Accordingly an audit would not usually identify all such matters that may be of interest to management 


and it is inappropriate to conclude that no such matters exist. 


The purpose of adequate controls is to ensure, as far as practica l, the orderly and efficient conduct of 


the Town's business, including the discharge of statutory responsibilities, for example safeguarding of 


assets, prevention and detection of fraud and error, reliability of accounting records and timely 


preparation of financial information. 
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Post Retirement Benefits 


In our examination of payroll expenditures, there were payments on behalf of retired employees. In 


reviewing the collective agreements, we noted the police agreement, the fire agreement and the library 


agreement provide for post retirement benefits with respect to the Town's group insurance plans. 


Under PSAB section 3255, the accounting objective is to measure and report the obligation for 


employee future benefits and to attribute the cost of those benefits to the appropriate periods. 


Generally, the liability is determined through an actuarial valuation. 


We believe the liability for post retirement benefit obligations will be a material liability. We recommend 


the Town engage an actuary to prepare a valuation of this obligation. The liability should be recognized 


in the financial statements. 


Long Term Financial Plan and Tangible Capital Assets 


We reviewed with Town staff the process for the development of capital budgets and acknowledge that 


multi year capital budgets for expenditure are developed and maintained for major infrastructure. 


In order to adequately fund the costs of infrastructure and manage anticipated growth, we recommend 


the Town consider developing a long term financial plan using factors impacting capital and operating 


budgets. The plan would include assumptions with respect to growth, changes in assessment, tax rate 


and user rate increase strategy, the opportunity for development charge revenue, interest rates 


impacting reserves and debt policies. The goal is to ensure the Town is in a sound financial position 


and can finance services to the public on a sustainable and affordable bas is. 


In addition, we would recommend policies be developed to assist with the consistent application of the 


tangible capital asset policy for betterments to existing assets and any related impact on the estimated 


useful life of the asset. 


With the implementation of Public Sector Accounting Board Standards (PSAB), the Province has passed 


Ontario Regulation 284/09 which requires a reconciliation of the budget to include items considered 


under PSAB such as amortization and tangible capital assets. 


We recommend that once Council has adopted the budget and the levy, a PSAB reconciliation be 


prepared and adopted as well. This will meet the requirement of Ontario Regulation 284/09. 


Liability for Unused Vacation and Overtime 


The liability for unused vacation and overtime approximates $94,000 at the year end .. 


The policy indicates up to two weeks of vacation entitlement may be carried over with the written 


approval of the Department Head. There are employees who have hours in excess of two weeks. 
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A summary of the banked hours and unused vacation should be provided to managers on a periodic 


basis throughout the year to allow the managers an opportunity to manage the time banks. 


In addition, we recommend the CAO review and approve the manager's cumulative banks and the 


Mayor review the GAO's year end carryover entitlement. 


Reserves 


We noted tax arrears are $1 .002 million and the working fund reserve is $648,000. We generally look 


for a correlation of 75% between the working fund reserve and tax arrears to ensure the Municipality has 


adequate funds for operations. We would suggest the Municipality review the level of the working fund 


reserve on an ongoing basis. 


Segregation of Duties 


Strong internal controls include the segregation of duties within financial areas which would include 


accounts payable, accounts receivable, payroll and journal entries. Segregation of duties ensures that 


one person is not responsible for the complete cycle of processing and recording financia l information. 


For example, in accounts payable one individual should not be responsible for establishing vendors, 


processing invoices, processing the payment and preparing the bank reconci liation. Complete control 


of a processing and reconciliation cycle by an individual may provide opportun ities for fa lsification of 


original source documents and ultimately the potential for defalcation of cash. Segregation of duties 


within a process assists in the detection of errors and in preventing fraud and is for the benefit of the 


employee as well as the Town. 


With the re-organization and the additional staff complement, we would recommend the processes be 


reviewed to ensure there is adequate segregation of duties. 


Due to the change in payroll processing from "in house" to out sourcing the payroll service, we 


recommend the payroll process be set as a priority. At the time of the audit, the integration of the 


outsourced payroll had not occurred. In our documentation of the process, we noted areas where we 


believe the controls should be improved. 


The payroll process now involves the electronic entry of hours worked, vacation entitlements, sick leave 


and overtime. The managers provide electronic sign off of the payroll. The payroll is uploaded to the 


payroll provider, the payroll provider then processes the payroll, electron ically withdraws the funds from 


the Town's bank account and deposits the amounts to the respective employee's bank account. The 


general ledger entry should be an automated upload to the Town's general ledger. This was not 


occurring at the time of the audit. The integration of the two systems had not been implemented. 


We would recommend the following for the payroll process: 


the hours should be reconciled between the time input system and the payroll reg ister 
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there should be documented evidence of the manager's approval of the sign off of the 


time sheets in the time input system 


the integration of the payroll should be reviewed and completed to ensure the wages are 


allocated to the appropriate expenditure accounts 


the payroll register should be reviewed by the Treasurer and compared to the bank 


withdrawal. The Treasurer would evidence this review by initialling and retaining the 


summary reports. 


managers should be provided reports on vacation and overtime entitlements to allow 


them to manage the liability 


a second employee should be trained in the use of the system 


Long Term Debt and Payment Guarantees 


During the audit, we noted that the Town has guaranteed loans on behalf of an independent 


organization. We also noted significant receivables from various organizations. 


Loan guarantees pose a risk to the Town and we would encourage the Town to continue monitoring the 


financial results of the organization through Board representation and a review of annual financial 


statements. 


Regular Reconciliation of Balance Sheet Accounts 


The year end sub ledger for taxes receivable did not reconcile to the control account. We recommend 


balance sheet accounts be reconciled on a monthly basis. Should a sub ledger not agree to the control 


account the difference should be investigated in a timely manner. The support for the reconciliation 


should be retained in such a manner that should the account subsequently not agree a clear starting 


point would be documented. If the difference cannot be resolved within the month, subsequent month 


end reconciliations should be completed to ensure the difference is consistent. If required, the software 


provider should be contacted for assistance to ensure the reconciliation is not due to timing or to 


software updates. 


Grant Claims and Cash Management 


The year end receivables included an accrual of $355,000 for the Ontario Small Water Assistance 


program funding . We would recommend claims be filed on a timely basis to improve cash flow. 


We would recommend all grant applications be forwarded to the Finance department and the Finance 


department review claims prior to their submission to ensure the claim is complete and reconciled to 


general ledger expenditures. 


In addition, prior to the submission of the final claim a global reconciliation of expenditures be completed 


to reconcile expenditures to claims submitted. This would ensure year end accruals and contract 


holdbacks are captured in the claims process .. 
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It is our pleasure to be of service to the Town in connection with the fiscal 2013 audited financial 


statements . If you have any questions on the above noted items, please do not hesitate to contact us. 


Yours truly, 


Howard A. Allan FCPA, FCA 


CF/dkp 


Enclosures 


cc: Robert Small, CAO 


Bill McKennan, Treasurer 


Carole Fuller, CPA, CGA 
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December 31 2013 201 2 


Population (Statistics Canada) 5,194 5,194 


Number of Households (M PAC) 2,527 2,505 


Taxable Assessment (OOO's) $ $ 
Residential and farm 407,625 401,805 
Commercial and industrial 80,378 80,244 


Total 488,003 482,049 


Commercial, industrial as % of assessment 16.5% 16.7% 


Rates of Taxation 
Residential 
• for general municipal purposes 1.166170 1.140340 
• for school board purposes 0.212000 0.221000 


Total 1.378170 1.361340 


Multi-Residential (total) 2.366490 2.380790 
Commercial (total) 3.644490 3.649790 
Industrial (total) 3.798720 3.749792 


Tax Arrears • percentage of current levy ( <1 0% )** 12.3% 12.8% 


Taxes Transferred (OOO's) 
• School Boards 2,058 2,077 


Revenues (OOO's) $ $ 
• Taxation and payments in lieu 6,780 6,582 
• Government transfers 2,195 2,446 
• Fees and service charges 3,682 3,731 
• Other 2,260 2,183 
• Revenues related to capital assets 1,373 1,669 


Total 16,290 16,61 1 


Expenditures (OOO's) 
• Operations 14,053 13,652 
• Amortization 2,228 2,140 


Net Assets (Net Debt) 
• %of Operating Revenue (>(20%)) •• (10.79%) (7.89%) 
• %of Taxation and User Charges (>(50%)) ** (15.36%) (1 1.43%) 


Town of Gananoque 
Five Year Financial Review 


(not subject to audit) 


2011 2010 2009 


5,194 4,702 4,702 


2,495 2,488 2,488 


$ $ $ 
378,905 358,736 336,107 


77,820 72,765 70,173 


456,725 431,501 406,280 


17.0% 16.7% 17.3% 


1.154470 1.171950 1.183500 
0.231000 0.241000 0.252000 


1.385470 1.412950 1.435500 


2.425650 2.468870 2.501840 
3.939650 4.285153 4.395490 
4.966250 5.532220 5.795840 


12.2% 12.7% 17.4% 


2,187 2,403 2,326 


$ $ $ 
6,426 6,359 5,962 
1,928 2,144 1,921 
3,479 3,566 3,087 
2,177 2,136 2,418 


999 5,376 2,985 


15,009 19,581 16,373 


13,073 13,569 12,642 
2,050 2,289 2,148 


(21.53%) (30.18%) (30.05%) 
(30.45%) (43.18%) (44.47%) 


** Represents the Provincial Low Risk Indicator. 
(Note: All dollar amounts are in thousands of dollars.) 
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Town of Gananoque 
Five Year Financial Review 


(not subject to audit) 


December 31 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 


$ $ $ $ $ 


Long Term Debt 
• Net long term debt (OOO's) 6,154 6,688 7,006 7,474 7,947 


• Long term debt charges (OOO's) 827 624 804 806 807 


• Annual repayment limit (OOO's) 3,375 3,027 3,061 2,862 2,757 


• Long term debt per household 2,435 2,670 2,808 3,004 3,194 


• Debt charges 
• rate supported • water & sewer (OOO's) 39 38 189 219 219 


• tax supported (OOO's) 788 586 615 587 588 


Municipal Equity (OOO's) 
• Surplus and Reserves 4,594 5,558 4,007 3,206 3,938 


• Invested in capital assets 49,980 46,779 45,370 44,235 37,491 


• Net book value to original cost 55.73% 55.66% 56.28% 57.13% 55.41% 


• Reserves as% of operating expenses (>20%) ** 43.88% 25.71% 33.15% 25.64% 29.65% 


Financial Indicators 
• Sustainability 


• financial assets to liabilities 0.819 0.885 0.700 0.565 0.619 


• financial assets to liabilities 
excluding long term debt 2.655 2.546 2.315 2.340 2.490 


• long term debt to tangible capital assets 10.96% 12.5 1% 13.38% 14 .45% 17.49% 


• Flexibility 
• Debt charges to total operating revenue (<5%) •• 5.55% 4.17% 5.74% 5.67% 6.02% 


• Total operating revenue to taxable assessment 3.06% 3.10% 3.07% 2.67% 3.30% 


• Working capital to operating expenses (>10%) .. 32.33% 40.36% 30.51% 23.49% 31 .03% 


• Vulnerability 
• Operating government transfers 


• to operating revenue 13.45% 15.49% 13.76% 15.10% 14.35% 


• Total government transfers 
• to total revenues 20.55% 17.66% 20.06% 50.52% 36.41% 
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TH E C ORPO RA TIO N O F THE TOW N O F 


Gi ~NANOQUE 
~ Cn11ndian Gateway to the 1000 Isln11ds 


Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 


The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque 
are the responsibility of the Town's management and have been prepared in compliance with 
legislation, and in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards established by 
the Public Sector Accounting Board of The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. A 
summary of significant accounting policies are described in note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The preparation of consolidated financial statements necessarily involves the use of 
estimates based on management's judgement, particularly when transactions affecting the current 
accounting period cannot be finalized with certainty until future periods. 


The Town's management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in 
compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is 
available on a timely basis for preparation of consolidated financial statements. These systems are 
monitored and evaluated by management. 


Management meets with the external auditors to review the consolidated financial statements and 
discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to Council approval of the 
consolidated financial statements. 


The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Allan Chartered Accountant 
Professional Corporation, independent external auditors appointed by the Town. The 
accompanying Auditor's Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their examination and 
their opinion on the Town's consolidated financial statements. 


Robert Small, CAO 
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Bill McKennan, CPA, CMA, Treasurer 


30 King Street East 
P.O. Box 100 
Gananoque, Ontario 
K7G 2T6 
Phone: 613-382-2149 
Fax: 613-382-8587 
www.gananoque.ca 







C hartered Accountant Professtonal Corporar ton 


INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 


To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque: 


We have audited the consolidated statement of financial position of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque as 
at December 31, 2013 and the consolidated statement of operations, changes in net debt and cash flows for the 
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 


Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
The Corporation of the Town of Gananoque's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 


Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. 


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 


Opinion 
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque as at December 31, 2013 and its consolidated 
results of operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting Standards. 


Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
Allan Chartered Accountants Professional Corporation 
Authorized to practice public accounting by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario 


Perth, Ontario, 
October 7, 2014. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 


December 31 2013 


$ 


ASSETS 


Financial Assets 


Cash and short term deposits 4,079,812 
Taxes receivable (net of allowance of $58,243) 1,002,107 
User charges receivable (net of allowance $2,519) 539,322 
Accounts receivable (net of allowance $259,229) 1,625,279 
Mortgage receivable (note 5) 42,800 


7,289,320 


LIABILITIES 


Financial Liabilities 


Accounts payable 1,550,813 
Other current liabilities 119,178 
Employee future benefit obligations (note 6) 515,978 
Deferred revenues (note 7) 559,464 
Long term liabilities (note 8) 6,154,061 


8,899,494 


NET DEBT {1,610,174) 


NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 


Tangible capital assets (note 15) 56,134,532 
Inventories 50,000 


56,184,532 


Commitments (note 13) Contingent Liabilities (note 12) 


MUNICIPAL EQUITY (note 9) 54,574,358 


Approved On Behalf of Council : 


Mayor Deputy Mayor 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2012 


$ 


5,848,240 
1,027,322 


470,301 
1,662,560 


64,200 


9,072,623 


1,970,125 
106,258 
540,321 
946,590 


6,688,151 


10,251 ,445 


(1 '178,822) 


53,466,824 
48,816 


53,515,640 


52,336,818 







Town of Gananoque 
Consolidated Statement of Operations 


(Note 17) 
For the year ended December 31 Budget 2013 2012 


$ $ $ 


REVENUES 


Taxation • residential 4,863,543 4,862,866 4,704,592 


• commercial and industrial 1,700,168 1,682,696 1,679,910 


• other governments 200,000 234,942 197,967 
User charges • environmental 2,702,591 2,420,162 2,500,445 


• transportation 68,300 68,724 66,136 
• recreation and culture 946,550 916,269 885,611 
• other 291 ,064 277,294 279,303 


Government transfers 2,152,051 2,1 95,390 2,445,645 
Investment income 54,650 80,194 66,867 
Penalties and interest on taxes 148,000 150,529 150,276 
Licenses and permits 82,900 87,840 75,704 
Provincial offenses 48,285 48,803 47,045 
Casino revenues 1,600,000 1,692,133 1,640,355 
Other 212,498 200,200 202,836 


TOTAL REVENUES 15,070,600 14,918,042 14,942,692 


EXPENDITURES 


General government 1,394,852 1,659,427 1,463,752 
Protection to persons and property 4,214,091 4,304,155 4,272,122 
Transportation services 1,599,798 2,321,223 2,204,363 
Environmental services 2,164,046 2,557,071 2,534,1 11 
Health services 462,584 472,490 423,915 
Social and family services 599,470 585,559 596,282 
Recreation and cultural services 1,626,289 1,746,863 1,648,741 
Planning and development 463,432 406,401 508,595 


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 12,524,562 14,053,189 13,651,881 


NET REVENUES 
FROM OPERATIONS 2,546,038 864,853 1,290,811 


OTHER 


Grants and transfers related to capital 
Deferred revenues earned {note 7) 570,387 46,504 
Government transfers 18,382 771,753 573,562 


Foundation reimbursement 1,007,908 
Other 35,000 30,547 40,719 


53,382 1,372,687 1,668,693 


ANNUAL SURPLUS 2,599,420 2,237,540 2,959,504 


MUNICIPAL EQUITY, BEGINNING OF YEAR 52,336,818 52,336,818 49,377,314 


MUNICIPAL EQUITY, END OF YEAR 54,936,238 54,574,358 52,336,818 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt 


For the year ended December 31 


ANNUAL SURPLUS 


Amortization of tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Disposal of tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of supplies inventories 


(DECREASE) INCREASE IN 
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 


NET DEBT, 
BEGINNING OF YEAR 


NET DEBT, 
END OF YEAR 


(Note 17) 
Budget 


$ 


2,599,420 


(14,011,856) 


(11 ,412,936) 


(1 ,178,822) 


(12,591,258) 


2013 


$ 


2,237,540 


2,227,900 
(4,895,608) 


(1,184) 


(431,352) 


(1 '178,822) 


(1,610,174) 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2012 


$ 


2,959,504 


2,140,396 
(3,271 ,391 ) 


40,000 
(30,972) 


1,837,537 


(3,016,359) 


(1 '178,822) 







Town of Gananoque 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 


For the year ended December 31 


OPERATING 


Annual surplus for the year 
Amortization 


Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Balances 
Taxes receivable 
User charges receivable 
Accounts receivable 
Accounts payable 
Other current liabilities 
Employee future benefit obligations 
Deferred revenues 
Inventories 


Working Capital from Operations 


CAPITAL 


Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Disposal of tangible capital assets 


Net investment in tangible capital assets 


INVESTING ACTIVITIES 


Decrease in mortgage receivable 


Net decrease in cash from investing activities 


FINANCING 


Debt principal repayments 


Net decrease in cash from financing activities 


NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH 


CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 


CASH, END OF YEAR 


2013 


$ 


2,237,540 
2,227,900 


4,465,440 


25,215 
(69,021) 
37,281 


(419,312) 
12,920 


(24,343) 
(387,126) 


(1,184) 


(825,570) 


3,639,870 


(4,895,608) 


(4,895,608) 


21,400 


21,400 


(534,090) 


(534,090) 


(1 ,768,428) 


5,848,240 


4,079,812 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2012 


$ 


2,959,504 
2,140,396 


5,099,900 


(61,454) 
3,292 


(105,118) 
436,409 


10,871 
71,312 
11 ,804 


(30,972) 


336,144 


5,436,044 


(3,271,391) 
40,000 


(3,231 ,391) 


21,400 


21,400 


(317,403) 


(317,403) 


1,908,650 


3,939,590 


5,848,240 







December 31 2013 


Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


1. Status of the Town of Gananoque 


The Town of Gananoque (the 'Town') was incorporated in 1890. The Town operates as a single tier 
government in the United Counties of Leeds and Grenville, in the Province of Ontario, Canada and 
provides municipal services such as police, fire, public works, planning, parks and recreation, library 
and other general government operations. 


2. Significant Accounting Policies 


The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque are the 
representations of management and have been prepared in all material respects in accordance with 
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards for local governments as recommended by the Public 
Sector Accounting Board ('PSAB') of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. Significant 
aspects of the accounting policies by the Town are as follows: 


Reporting Entity 


(i) The consolidated financial statements reflect financial assets, liabilities, operating revenues and 
expenditures, reserves, reserve funds and changes in investment in tangible capital assets of the 
Town. The reporting entity is comprised of ·all organizations, committees and local boards 
accountable for the administration of their financial affairs and resources to the Town and which 
are owned or controlled by the Town. Interdepartmental and inter-organizational transactions and 
balances between these organizations are eliminated. These consolidated financial statements 
include: 


~ Public Library Board 
~ Business Improvement Area Committee 
~ Police Commission 


(ii) The taxation, other revenues, expenditures, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations of 
the school boards are not reflected in the municipal fund balances of these consolidated financial 
statements. 


Basis of Accounting 


(i) The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The 
accrual basis of accounting records revenue as it is earned and measurable. Expenditures are 
recognized as they are incurred and measurable based on receipt of goods and services and I or 
the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 


(ii) Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the 
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year, and are not 
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets during 
the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the change in net financial 
assets for the year. 


Tangible Capital Assets 


Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which include all amounts that are directly attributable to 
acquisition, construction , development or betterment of the asset. The cost of the tangible capital assets 
are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
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Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


December 31 2013 


2. Significant Accounting Policies I continued 


Tangible Capital Assets I continued 


Land 
Buildings 
Equipment 
Vehicles 
Linear Assets 


Roads 
Bridges 
Sidewalks 
Traffic Lights 
Street Lights 
Sanitary Sewer 
Storm Sewer 
Water Lines 


Construction in Progress 


40 years 
5 to 15 years 
5 to 15 years 


60 years 
60 years 
20 years 
15 years 
15 years 
60 years 
60 years 
60 years 


Amortization is charged from the date of acquisition. Assets under construction are not amortized until 
the asset is available for productive use, at which time they are capitalized. 


The Town has a capitalization threshold of $10,000 for vehicles and equipment and $50,000 for linear 
assets and buildings so that individual capital assets of lesser value are expensed. 


Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt, 
and that fair value is also recorded as revenue. Similarly, transfers of assets to third parties are 
recorded as an expense equal to the net book value of other asset as of the date of transfer. 


Leases 


Leases are classified as capital or operating leases. Leases which transfer substantially all of the 
benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as capital leases. All other 
leases are accounted for as operating leases and the related lease payments are charged to expenses 
as incurred. 


Inventories and Prepaid Expenses 


Inventories and prepaid expenses held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost or replacement 
cost. 


Pension and Employee Benefits 


The Town accounts for its participation in the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System 
('OMERS'), a multi-employer public sector pension fund, as a defined benefit plan. The OMERS plan 
specifies the retirement benefits to be received by employees based on length of service and pay rates . 


Employee benefits include vacation entitlement and sick leave benefits. Vacation entitlements are 
accrued as entitlements are earned. Sick leave benefits are accrued in accordance with the Town's 
policy. 
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December 31 2013 


Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


2. Significant Accounting Policies I continued 


Cash and Cash Equivalents 


The Town considers cash and cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less. 


Government Transfers 


Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenues in the period in which 
events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have 
been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made. 


Deferred Revenues 


The Town defers recognition of user charges and fees which have been collected but for which the 
related services have yet to be performed. Government transfers of gas taxes, and infrastructure 
funding are reported as deferred revenues in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. These 
amounts will be recognized as revenues in the fi scal year the services are performed. 


Investments 


Short-term and long-term investments are recorded at cost plus accrual interest. If the market value of 
investments become lower than cost and the decline in value is considered to be other than temporary, 
the investments are written down to market value . 


Investment income earned on surplus current funds, capital funds, reserves and reserve funds (other 
than obligatory reserve funds) are reported as revenue in the period earned. Investment income earned 
on deferred revenue is added to the fund balance and forms part of respective deferred revenue 
balances. 


Financial Instruments 


All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial 
position. The Town has classified each financial instrument into one of the following categories: held-for
trading financial assets and liabilities, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets and other 
financial liabilities. Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is based on their classification . 


Held-for-trading financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in 
those fair values recognized in net revenues. 


Loans and receivables, held-to-maturity, financial assets and other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 


The Town classifies cash and cash equivalents as held-for-trading financial assets, accounts receivable 
as loans and receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities as other financial liabilities. 


Measurement Uncertainty 


The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions on such areas as 
employee benefits, assessment appeals and environmental provisions. These estimates and 
assumptions are based on the Town's best information and judgment and may differ significantly based 
on actual results. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


December 31, 2013 


3. Operations of the School Boards 


During 2013, the Town collected and made property tax transfers including payments in lieu of property 
taxes, to the School Boards as follows: 


2013 2012 


$ $ 


Property taxes 2,058,1 09 2,077,126 


Amounts requisitioned and paid 2,058,1 09 2,077,126 


4. Bank Indebtedness 


The Town's financial agreement with its bank provides for an operating credit facility of up to $2,100,000 
to finance expenses, pending receipt of property taxes and other income. Interest on funds drawn is 
charged at the Bank of Montreal's prime rate. As at December 31 , 2013, there was $Nil (2012 $Nil) 
drawn on the facility. 


5. Mortgage Receivable 


United Counties of Leeds and Grenville, bearing interest at the rate (prime 
+ 1%), with annual principal payments to begin on December 1, 2007 of 
$21 ,400. 


6. Employee Future Benefit Obligations 


2013 2012 


$ $ 


42,800 64,200 


The Town provides a sick leave benefit plan to its employees. Unused sick leave can be accumulated 
and employees may become entitled to a cash payment when they leave the Town's employment. 


The liabilities for these accumulated days, to the extent they were vested and could be taken in cash by 
an employee on termination is $515,978 (2012 $540,321 ). An amount of $Nil was paid out in 2013 
(2012 $Nil). Payout to employees eligible to retire in the next five years approximates $257,000. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


December 31 2013 


7. Deferred Revenues 


A requirement of public sector accounting principles of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
is that obligatory reserve funds be reported as deferred revenue. This requirement is in place as 
Provincial legislation restricts how these funds may be used and under certain circumstances these 
funds may possibly be refunded. The transactions for the year are summarized below: 


Federal Infrastructure 
Gas Tax Funding Total 


$ $ $ 


January 1, 2013 376,203 570,387 946,590 


Grants 174,580 174,580 
Interest 8,681 8,681 
Transfer to capital acquisitions (570,387) (570,387) 


December 31, 2013 559,464 559,464 


8. Long Term Liabilities 


(a) The balance of long term liabilities reported on the "Consolidated Statement of Financial Position" 
is comprised of the following: 


Fixed rate bank loans with maturity dates in 2016 and interest 
rates of 4.989%. 


Ontario Infrastructure Projects Corporation with maturity dates 
between 2023 and 2047 and interest rates between 2.840% and 
5.606%. 


Capital lease obligations with MFA Leasing Corporation with 
maturity dates between 2012 and 2018 and interest rates 
between 2.500% and 5.000%. 


Net long term liabilities at the end of the year 


13 


2013 


$ 


3,030,234 


3,070,751 


53,076 


6,154,061 


2012 


$ 


3,146,185 


3,210,349 


331,617 


6,688,151 







Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


December 31, 2013 


8. Long Term Liabilities I continued 


9. 


(b) Principal payments fall due as follows: 


Water and General 
Sewer Rates Revenues Total 


$ $ $ 


2014 9,646 281,871 291,517 
2015 9,922 294,825 304,747 
2016 10,205 2,934,297 2,944,502 
2017 10,498 155,884 166,382 
2018 10,805 163,087 173,892 
2019 to 2023 58,803 865,005 923,808 
2024 and thereafter 432,624 916,589 1,349,213 


542,503 5,611 ,558 6,154,061 


(c) These payments are within the annual debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal 
Affairs and Housing. 


(d) Interest expense on long term liabilities in 2013 amounted to $293,182 (201 2 $306,311 ). 


Municipal Equity 


Municipal equity consists of: 


2013 2012 


$ $ 


Invested in tangible capital assets 56,134,532 53,466,824 
Long term liabilities (6,154,061) (6,688, 151) 


49,980,471 46,778,673 


Unrestricted surplus 70,207 63,395 


Unexpended Capital Financing (Unfinanced Capital Projects) 
Road projects 806,703 
Water and sewer projects (305,377) 751 ,301 
Recreation facilities (1 ,337,121) 242,420 
Other projects 20,000 
Administration facilities 164,800 


(1 ,642,498) 1,985,224 


Reserves (Schedule 1) 3,674,696 2,636,150 


Reserve Funds (Schedule 1) 2,491 ,482 873,376 


Total Municipal Equity 54,574,358 52,336,818 
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December 31, 2013 


10. Pension Contributions 


Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


The Town makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS"), 
which is a multi-employer plan , on behalf of all permanent members of its staff. The plan is a defined 
benefit plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees based 
on the length of service and rates of pay. The amount contributed to OMERS was $399,670 (2012 
$390,750) for current services and is included as an expenditure on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations classified under the appropriate functional expenditure. Contributions by employees were 
a similar amount. 


11. Provincial Offences Administration (POA) 


The United Counties of Leeds and Grenville has assumed the administration of the Provincial Offences 
office for all County of Leeds and Grenville resident municipalities. The transfer of administration from 
the Ministry of the Attorney General to the Town was a result of the Provincial Offences Act (POA) 1997, 
which provides the framework for the transfer of responsibility and administration of POA courts. 


The POA is a procedural law for administering and prosecuting provincial offences, including those 
committed under the Highway Traffic Act, Compulsory Automobile Insurance Act, Trespass to Property 
Act, Liquor Licence Act, Municipal By-Laws and minor federal offences. The POA governs all aspects 
of legal process from serving notice to a defendant, to conducting trials, including sentencing and 
appeals. 


The Town's share of net revenues arising from operation of the POA office have been consolidated with 
these financial statements. The revenue of the court office consists of fines levied under Parts I and Ill 
(including delay penalties) for POA charges filed in court. 


lffines are paid at other court offices, the receipt is recorded in the Integrated Courts Operation Network 
System ("ICON") operated by the Province of Ontario. Revenue is recognized when receipt of funds is 
recorded by the provincial ICON system regardless of the location where payment is made. 


The Town of Gananoque shares net POA revenues based on weighted assessment. 


12. Contingent Liabilities 


The nature of municipal activities is such that there may be litigation pending or in prospect at any time. 
With respect to claims as at December 31, 2013, management believes that the Town has valid 
defences and appropriate insurance coverages in place. In the event any claims are successful, 
management believes that such claims are not expected to have a material effect on the Town's financial 
position. 


The Town has also agreed that if either the Springer Theatre or the Firehall Theatre, (both owned by the 
Town but operated by the Thousand Islands Foundation for the Performing Arts), terminates their 
respective lease with the Town, the Town shall be obligated to make a payment to the Toronto Dominion 
Bank on behalf of the Foundation as follows: 


Springer Theatre $100,000 guarantee expires December 2024 
Firehall Theatre $290,000 to December 2013 


$190,000 to December 2024 
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December 31 2013 


13. Commitments 


Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


The Town has entered into the following contractual service commitments: 


(a) An agreement with Frontenac Municipal Law Enforcement Incorporated for the provision of by-law 
enforcement services which expired December 2013. Fees are based on an hourly rate and 
mileage is reimbursed on a kilometre basis. Fee increases are to be reviewed from time to time 
at the request of the contractor. Fees paid under the contract for 2013 were $83,049. Subsequent 
to the year end the contract was renewed to 2017. 


(b) The Town has entered into a contractual obligation with BFI Canada Inc. for the collection and 
disposal of solid waste and recycled materials. Fees are based on tonnage and are adjusted for 
a fuel surcharge and annually for inflation. The contract expires September 2014. Fees paid under 
the contract for 2013 were $260,848 (2012- $265,400) . 


(c) The Town has entered into additional contractual obligations as follows: 


(i) for the rehabilitation of marina docks for a total cost of$2,247,000. Costs incurred during 2013 
were $1,670,000. The project is expected to be completed in 2014 and will be funded from 
long term debt. 


(ii) for the separation of the infiltration of storm sewer from sanitary sewer for a total cost of 
$860,000. Costs incurred during 2013 were $481,000. The project is to be completed in 2014 
and will be funded from grants and reserves . 


(iii) for the rehabilitation of the swing Bridge for a total cost of $518,000. Costs incurred during 
2013 were $336,000 The project is to be completed in 2014 and will be funded from reserves. 


(iv) subsequent to the year end, the Town has entered into an additional contract for marina dock 
rehabilitation in the amount of $974,000. The project is expected to be completed in 2014. 


(d) The Town has committed to a long term vehicle supply for police vehicles with Gananoque 
Chevrolet Cadillac. The agreement provides for an annual payment of $29,500 per year from 2011 
to 2016 for the acquisition of vehicles. The agreement provides for a 10% increase after the third 
year and establishes targets to reducing fleet mileage, upgrading the average age and lowering 
fleet maintenance costs. 


(e) The Town has entered into agreements to lease computer and office equipment, of which the costs 
are provided for in the operating budget. Any lease may be terminated with the payment of the 
present value of the remaining lease payments. The future minimum lease payments are: 


2014 
2015 


$ 
19,997 
12,402 


(f) The Town has committed to funding to the Arthur Child Heritage Museum as follows: 


2014 
2015 
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45,000 
44,000 







December 31 , 2013 


13. Commitments I continued 


Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


(g) The Town has committed funding to the Eastern Ontario Wardens Caucus Broadband Project in 
the amount of $35,410 per year for the period 2011 to 2014. 


(h) The Town has pledged an annual contribution of $30,000 to the University Hospitals Kingston 
Foundation for the years 2013 and 2014. 


14. Risk Management 


In the normal course of operations, the Town is exposed to a variety of financial risks which are actively 
managed by the Town. 


The Town's financial instruments consist of cash, investments, accounts receivable, mortgage 
receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair values of cash, investments, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values because of their expected short term 
maturity and treatment on normal trade terms. 


The Town's exposure to and management of risk has not changed materially from December 31 , 2012. 


Credit Risk 


Credit risk arises from the possibility that the entities to which the Town provides services to may 
experience difficulty and be unable to fulfill their obligations. The Town is exposed to financial risk that 
arises from the credit quality of the entities to which it provides services. The Town does not have a 
significant exposure to any individual customer or counter party. As a result, the requirement for credit 
risk related reserves for accounts receivable is minimal. 


Interest Rate Risk 


Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that the value of, or cash flows related to, a financial 
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The Town is exposed to financial 
risk that arises from the interest rate differentials between the market interest rate and the rates on its 
cash and cash equivalents and operating loan. Changes in variable interest rates could cause 
unanticipated fluctuations in the Town's operating results. 


Liquidity Risk 


Liquidity risk is the risk that the Town will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. The Town 
requires working capital to meet day-to-day operating activities. Management expects that the Town's 
cash flows from operating activities will be sufficient to meet these requirements. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


December 31, 2013 


15. Tangible Capital Assets 


2013 2012 


$ $ 


Land 4,893,730 4,893,730 
Buildings 11,973,084 12,326,744 
Equipment 3,362,329 3,604,238 
Vehicles 539,969 488,387 
Linear Assets 


Roads 14,893,616 13,890,292 
Bridges 1,620,668 1,670,663 
Sidewalks 1,360,652 1,401 ,821 
Traffic Lights 205,441 240,066 
Street Lights 95,968 103,757 
Sanitary Sewer 4,998,853 4,803,825 
Storm Sewer 1,712,322 1,739,856 
Water Lines 6,798,595 6,795,812 


Construction in Progress 
Road Projects 914,650 746,645 
Water and Sewer Projects 621,177 370,171 
Marina 53,280 
Administration 2,090,198 390,817 


56,134,532 53,466,824 


For additional information, see Schedule 2 • Tangible Capital Assets. 


16. Segmented Information 


The Town is a diversified municipal government that provides a wide range of services to its citizens. 
The services are provided by departments and their activities are reported in the consolidated statement 
of operations. 


Departments have been separately disclosed in the segmented information, along with the service they 
provide, are set out in the schedule below. 


For each reported segment, expenditures represent both amounts that are directly attributable to the 
segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis. Therefore, certain allocation 
methodologies are employed in the preparation of segmented financial information. 


The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements as disclosed in note 2. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


December 31 2013 


16. Segmented Information I continued 


Salar ies, Materials 
Wages & Debenture Materials & lnterfunc 


Employee Debt & Services tiona I External 
2013 Benefits Inte rest Services Non TCA Adjustments Transfers Amortization Total 


$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 


General Government 
Governance 69,285 11,001 80,286 
Corporate Management 
& Program Support 568,486 864,867 38,193 107,595 1,579,141 


Protection to Persons 
and Property 


Fire 673,386 10,945 145,551 104,807 124 ,512 1,059,201 
Police 2,645, 174 276,132 8,627 104,807 54,970 3,089,710 
Conservation Authority 38,932 38,932 
Protective Inspection 23,753 92,559 116,312 
Emergency Measures 95,329 114,285 (209,614) 


Tra nsportatlon 
Roadways 576,508 86,01 1 352,002 141,071 845,186 2,000,778 
Winter Control 67,438 53,696 121,134 
Parking 30 32,194 32,224 
Street Lighting 172 159,126 7,789 167,087 


Environmental 
Sanitary Sewer 288,016 9,371 238,643 23,204 598,269 1,157,503 
Waterworks 313,344 18,362 433,582 9,602 283,105 1,057,995 
Waste Services 62,675 278,898 341 ,573 


Health Services 
Public Health Services 88,037 88,037 
Hospital 30,000 30,000 
Ambulance 249,654 249,654 
Doctor Recruitment 104,799 104,799 


Social and Famlty 
General Assistance 247,818 247,818 
Assistance to 


Aged Persons 20,397 10,307 14,206 44,910 
Child Care 42,464 42,464 
Social Housing 250,367 250,367 


Recreation and 
Cultural Services 


Parks 175,840 75,823 12,862 264,525 
Recreation Facilities 


& Programs 407,733 52,767 469,595 206,052 169,590 1,305,737 
Libraries 125,402 28,521 22,678 176,601 


Planning and 
Development 


Planning & Zoning 91,098 10,108 101,206 
Commercial & Industrial 119,355 152,840 33,000 305,1 95 


2013 6,207,695 293,1 82 3,894,222 233,559 1,196,631 2,227,900 14,053,189 
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Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


December 31 , 2013 


16. Segmented Information I continued 


Salaries, Materials 
2012 Wages & Debenture Materials & lnterfunc 


Employee Debt & Services tlonal External 
Benefits Interest Services Non TCA Adjustments Transfers Amortization Total 


$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 


General Government 
Governance 65,955 11,300 77,255 
Corporate Management 


& Program Support 595,084 641,882 42,837 106,694 1,386,497 


Protection to Persons 
and Property 


Fire 648,446 9,237 130,991 95,117 11 5,824 999,615 
Police 2,623,615 272,511 79,567 95,117 41,616 3,11 2,426 
Conservation Authority 37,630 37,630 
Protective Inspection 21 ,064 101,387 122,451 
Emergency Measures 99,054 91,180 (190,234) 


Transportation 
Roadways 572,511 95,512 372,471 83,581 (12,736) 811,877 1,923,216 
Winter Control 47,388 44,846 92,234 
Parking 4,008 4,008 
Street Lighting 54 177,062 7,789 184,905 


Environmental 
Sanitary Sewer 283,206 10,908 237,796 13,486 11,690 587,297 1,144,383 
Waterworks 353,347 16,583 345,982 26,726 1,046 274,593 1,018,277 
Waste Services 59,508 287,645 24,298 371,451 


Health Services 
Public Health Services 86,958 86,958 
Hospital 30,000 30,000 
Ambulance 248,168 248,168 
Doctor Recruitment 58,789 58,789 


Social and Family 
General Assistance 
Assistance to 297,600 297,600 


Aged Persons 17,908 13,544 14,206 45,658 
Child Care 37,891 37,891 
Social Housing 215,133 215,133 


Recreation and 
Cultural Services 


Parks 
Recreation Facilities 159,942 104,461 264,403 
& Programs 


Libraries 393,881 57,109 420,611 14,537 172,868 157,083 1,216,089 
Cultural Services 118,664 26,168 23,41 7 168,249 


Planning and 
Development 


Planning & Zoning 93,911 24,800 118,711 
Commercia l & Industrial 179,357 89,472 76,455 44,600 389,884 


2012 6,215,933 306,311 3,443,362 361,487 1,184,392 2,140,396 13,651 ,881 
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December 31 2013 


17. Budget Figures 


Town of Gananoque 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 


The operating budget approved by Town Council, for 2013 is reflected on the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations. The budgets established for capital investment in tangible capital assets are on a project 
oriented basis, the costs of which may be carried out over one or more years and, therefore, may not 
be comparable with current year's actual expenditure amounts. As well, the Town does not budget 
activity within Reserves and reserve Funds, with the exception being those transactions, which affect 
either operations or capital investments. Budget figures have been reclassified for the purposes of these 
consolidated financial statements to comply with PSAB reporting requirements. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Schedule 1 • Continuity of Reserves and Reserve Funds 


For the year ended December 31 


Revenues 
Investment income 


Total Net Revenues 


Net Transfers From I (To) Other Funds 
Transfers from operations 
Transfers from (to) capital acquisitions 


Total Net Transfers 


Reserves and Reserve Fund Balances, 
Change in Year 


Reserves and Reserve Fund Balances, 
Beginn ing of Year 


Reserves and Reserve Fund Balances, 
End of Year 


(Note 17) 
Budget 


$ 


2,086,846 
(1 ,776,937) 


309,909 


309,909 


3,509,526 


3,819,435 


2013 


$ 


2,174,546 
482,106 


2,656,652 


2,656,652 


3,509,526 


6,166,178 


2012 


$ 


40 


40 


3,385,811 
(4,209,654) 


(823,843) 


(823,803) 


4,333,329 


3,509,526 


Composition of Reserves and Reserve Funds 


For the year ended December 31 2013 


$ 


647,809 
45,294 


Reserves set aside for specific purposes by Council: 
• for working capital 
• for contingencies 
• for future capital expenditure • infrastructure 2,021 ,362 


• recreation facilities 18,531 
• other 762,741 


• for election 16,600 
• for economic development 162,359 


Total Reserves 3,674,696 


Reserve Funds 
• for future capital expenditure • waterworks and sewer 2,473,049 


• parks 2,483 
• parking 11,450 


• for library purposes 4,500 


2,491 ,482 


Total Reserves and Reserve Funds 6,166,178 


The accompany notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2012 


$ 


647,809 
350,659 


1,259,503 
18,531 


219,769 
14,600 


125,279 


2,636,150 


854,986 
2,475 


11 ,415 
4,500 


873,376 


3,509,526 







Asset Class 


Land 


Buildings 


Equipment 


Vehicles 


Linear Assets 
Roads 
Bridges 
Sidewalks 
Traffic Lights 
Street Lights 
Sanitary Sewer 
Storm Sewer 
Water Lines 


Construction in 
Progress 


Roads Projects 
Water and 


Sewer Projects 
Marina 
Administration 


Asset Class 


Land 


Buildings 


Equipment 


Vehicles 


Linear Assets 
Roads 
Bridges 
Sidewalks 
Traffic Lights 
Street Lights 
Sanitary Sewer 
Storm Sewer 
Water Lines 


Construction in 
Progress 


Roads Projects 
Water and 


Sewer Projects 
Marina 
Administration 


Town of Gananoque 
Schedule 2 .. 2013 Tangible Capital Assets 


Cost Cost 
01/01113 Additions (Disposals) 31/12/13 


$ $ $ $ 


4,893,730 4,893,730 


23,979,454 161,366 24,140,820 


5,285,685 127,031 (93,349) 5,319,367 


1,813,849 150,476 (23 ,453) 1,940,872 


24,269,560 1,524,244 (32 ,894) 25,760,910 
2,646,896 37,315 2,684,211 
3,070,057 46,643 (3,600) 3, 113,100 


653,178 653,178 
872,926 872,926 


9,405,400 379,020 (15,685) 9,768,735 
4,339,427 20,894 (47,434) 4,312,887 


13,327,206 276,947 (17,571) 13,586,582 


746,645 168,005 914,650 


370,171 251 ,006 621 ,177 
53,280 53,280 


390,817 1,699,381 2,090,198 


96,065,001 4,895,608 (233,986) 100,726,623 


Accumulated Accumulated Net Book 
Amortization Amortization Value 


01/01/13 Amortization (Disposals) 31/12/13 31/12/13 


$ $ $ $ $ 


4,893,730 


11,652,710 515,026 12,167,736 11 ,973,084 


1,681,447 368,940 (93,349) 1,957,038 3,362,329 


1,325,462 98,894 (23,453) 1,400,903 539,969 


10,379,268 520,920 (32,894) 10,867,294 14,893,616 
976,233 87,310 1,063,543 1,620,668 


1,668,236 87,812 (3,600) 1,752,448 1,360,652 
413,112 34,625 447,737 205,441 
769,169 7,789 776,958 95,968 


4,601,575 183,992 (15,685) 4,769,882 4,998,853 
2,599,571 48,428 (47,434) 2,600,565 1,712,322 
6 ,531,394 274,164 (17,571) 6,787,987 6,798,595 


914,650 


621,177 
53,280 


2,090,198 


42,598,177 2 ,227,900 (233,986) 44,592,091 56,134,532 


The accompany notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Schedule 2 .,. 2012 Tangible Capital Assets 


Cost Cost 
Asset Class 01/01/12 Additions (Disposals) 31/12/12 


$ $ $ $ 


Land 4,893,730 4,893,730 


Buildings 23,836,979 142,475 23,979,454 


Equipment 4,408,799 1,086,070 (209,184) 5,285,685 


Vehicles 1,707,295 106,554 1,813,849 


Linear Assets 
Roads 23,642,612 655,295 (28,347) 24,269,560 
Bridges 2,646,896 2,646,896 
Sidewalks 3,062,453 10,080 (2,476) 3,070,057 
Traffic Lights 653,178 653,178 
Street Lights 872,926 872,926 
Sanitary Sewer 9,327,213 95,262 (17,075) 9,405,400 
Storm Sewer 4,318,533 20,894 4,339,427 
Water Lines 13,257,383 79,803 (9,980) 13,327,206 


Construction in 
Progress 


Roads Projects 
Water and 66,123 680,522 746,645 


Sewer Projects 113,108 257,063 370,171 
Recreation Projects 253,444 (253,444) 
Administration 390,817 390,817 


93,060,672 3,271,391 (267,062) 96,065,001 


Accumulated Accumulated Net Book 
Amortization Amortization Value 


Asset Class 01/01/12 Amortization (Disposals) 31/12/12 31/12/12 


$ $ $ $ $ 


Land 4,893,730 


Buildings 11,142,343 510,367 11 ,652,710 12,326,744 


Equipment 1,513,891 336,740 (169,184) 1,681,447 3,604,238 


Vehicles 1,241 ,909 83,553 1,325,462 488,387 


Linear Assets 
Roads 9,899,898 507,717 (28,347) 10,379,268 13,890,292 
Bridges 926,238 49,995 976,233 1,670,663 
Sidewalks 1,577,365 93,347 (2 ,476) 1,668,236 1,401,821 
Traffic Lights 368,792 44,320 413,112 240,066 
Street Lights 761,380 7,789 769,169 103,757 
Sanitary Sewer 4,434,755 183,895 (17,075) 4,601,575 4,803,825 
Storm Sewer 2,551 ,491 48,080 2,599,571 1,739,856 
Water Lines 6,266,781 274,593 (9,980) 6,531,394 6,795,812 


Construction in 
Progress 


Roads Projects 
Water and 746,645 


Sewer Projects 370,171 
Recreation Projects 
Administration 390,817 


40,684,843 2,140,396 (227,062) 42,598,177 53,466,824 


The accompany notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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C hartered Accounram ProfessiOnal Corporanon 


INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 


To the Board Members, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of the Town of Gananoque Public Library Board: 


We have audited the statement of- financial position of the Town of Gananoque Public Library Board as at 
December 31 , 201 3 and the statement of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year 
then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Town of Gananoque Public Library Board's management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 


Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards . Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. 


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 


Opinion 
In our opinion , these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Town 
of Gananoque Public Library Board as at December 31 , 2013 and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 


Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
Allan Chartered Accountants Professional Corporation 
Authorized to practice public accounting by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario 


Perth, Ontario, 
October 7, 2014. 
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December 31 


ASSETS 


Financial Assets 


Cash and short term investments 
Accounts receivable 


LIABILITIES 


Financial Liabilities 


Accounts payable 
Due to Town 


NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 


NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 


Tangible capital assets (note 4) 


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (note 3) 


Town of Gananoque 
Public Library Board 


Statement of Financial Position 


2013 


$ 


29,702 


29,702 


665 
11,126 


11 ,791 


17,911 


79,700 


97,611 


2012 


$ 


15,473 
2,954 


18,427 


3,977 


3,977 


14,450 


87,187 


101 ,637 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Public Library Board 


Statement of Operations 
(Note 5) 


For the year ended December 31 Budget 2013 2012 


$ $ $ 


REVENUES 


Municipal Grants 148,764 148,764 136,888 
Province of Ontario • operating 13,700 13,700 13,700 


• other 1,609 2,139 
User Charges • fees, service charges and fines 6,000 1,445 
Other Income 


Interest 108 
Donations 190 447 


TOTAL REVENUES 168,464 164,263 154,727 


EXPENDITURES 


Salaries and benefits 117,705 122,794 116,685 
Insurance 2,647 
Automation 2,200 2,763 1,958 
Supplies 2,550 3,201 625 
Utilities and maintenance 14,000 14,938 8,740 
Administration 3,200 1,915 4,253 
Amortization 22,678 23,417 


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 139,655 168,289 158,325 


ANNUAL (DEFICIT) SURPLUS 28,809 (4,026) (3,598) 


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 101,637 101 ,637 105,235 


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR 130,446 97,611 101 ,637 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
27 







For the year ended December 31 


OPERATING 


Annual deficit 
Amortization 


Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Items 
Accounts receivable 
Accounts payable 
Due to Town 


Working Capital from Operations 


CAPITAL 


Acquisition of tangible capital assets 


NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 


CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 


CASH, END OF YEAR 


Town of Gananoque 
Public Library Board 


Statement of Cash Flows 


2013 


$ 


(4,026) 
22,678 


2012 


$ 


(3,598) 
23,41 7 


18,652 19,819 


2,954 763 
(3,312) 1,683 
11 '126 


10,768 2,446 


29,420 22,265 


(15,191) (23,590) 


14,229 (1,325) 


15,473 16,798 


29,702 15,473 


Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 


For the year ended December 31 


ANNUAL DEFICIT 


Amortization of tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 


INCREASE (DECREASE) IN 
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 


NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 


NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, END OF YEAR 


2013 


$ 


(4,026) 


22,678 
(15,191) 


3,461 


14,450 


17,911 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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2012 


$ 


(3,598) 


23,417 
(23,590) 


(3,771) 


18,221 


14,450 







December 31, 2013 


1. Status of the Board 


Town of Gananoque 
Public Library Board 


Notes to the Financial Statements 


The Gananoque Public Library Board (the 'Board') was established by By-law in 1981 under the Public 
Libraries Act by the Town of Gananoque. The predecessor had history back to 1892. 


2. Significant Accounting Policies 


The financial statements of the Gananoque Public Library Board are the representations of management 
and have been prepared in all material respects in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting 
Standards for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board ('PSAB') of 
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. Significant aspects of the accounting policies by the 
Board are as follows: 


Reporting Entity 


The financial statements reflect financial assets, liabilities, operating revenues and expenditures, 
reserves, reserve funds and changes in investment in tangible capital assets of the Board. 


Basis of Accounting 


The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of 
accounting records revenue as it is earned and measurable. Expenditures are recognized as they are 
incurred and measurable based on receipt of goods and services and/or the creation of a legal obligation 
to pay. 


Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision 
of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year, and are not intended for sale in 
the ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets during the year, together with the 
excess of revenues over expenses, provides the Changes in Net Financial Assets for the year. 


Tangible Capital Assets 


Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which include all amounts that are directly attributable to 
acquisition, construction , development or betterment of the asset. The cost of the tangible capital assets 
are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 


Assets Estimated Useful Life 


Books 7 years 


Amortization is charged from the date of acquisition. Assets under construction are not amortized until 
the asset is available for productive use, at which time they are capitalized. 


Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt, 
and that fair value is also recorded as revenue . Similarly, transfers of assets to third parties are 
recorded as an expense equal to the net book value of other assets as of the date of transfer. 
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December 31 2013 


2. Significant Accounting Policies I continued 


Cash and Cash Equivalents 


Town of Gananoque 
Public Library Board 


Notes to the Financial Statements 


The Board considers cash and cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less. 


Government Transfers 


Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenues in the period in which 
events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have 
been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made. 


Deferred Revenues 


The Board defers recognition of user charges and fees which have been collected but for which the 
related services have yet to be performed. These amounts will be recognized as revenues in the fiscal 
year the services are performed. 


Financial Instruments 


All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the statement of financial position. The 
Board has classified each financial instrument into one of the following categories: held-for-trading 
financial assets and liabilities, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets and other financial 
liabilities. Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is based on their classification. 


Held-for-trading financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in 
those fair values recognized in net revenues. 


Loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets and other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 


The Board classifies cash and cash equivalents as held-for-trading financial assets, accounts receivable 
as loans and receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities as other financial liabilities. 


Measurement Uncertainty 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions on such areas as employee benefits, 
assessment appeals and environmental provisions. These estimates and assumptions are based on 
the Board' s best information and judgment and may differ significantly based on actual results. 
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December 31 2013 


3. Accumulated Surplus 


Town of Gananoque 
Public Library Board 


Notes to the Financial Statements 


Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus (deficit) and reserves as follows: 


2013 2012 


$ $ 


Surplus 
Invested in tangible capital assets 79,700 87,187 


Unrestricted Surplus 13,411 9,950 


Reserves 
Capital 4,500 4,500 


Accumulated Surplus 97,611 101,637 


4. Tangible Capital Assets 


Net Book Value of Assets 2013 2012 


$ $ 


Books 79,700 87,187 


For additional information, see Schedule 2 • Tangible Capital Assets. 


5. Budget Figures 


Gananoque Public Library Board reviews its operating and capital budgets each year. The approved 
operating budget for 2013 is included in the budget figures presented in the Statement of Operations. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Public Library Board 


Schedule 1 ~ Continuity of Reserves and Reserve Funds 


For the year ended December 31 


Net Transfers from (to) Other Funds 
Transfer from current fund 
Transfer from capital fund 


Total Net Transfers 


Reserves and Reserve Fund Balance, 
Change in Year 


Reserves and Reserve Fund Balance, 
Beginning of Year 


Reserves and Reserve Fund Balance, 
End of Year 


(Note 5) 
Budget 


$ 


4,500 


4,500 


2013 2012 


$ $ 


4,500 4,500 


4,500 4,500 


Composition of Reserves 


For the year ended December 31 2013 


Reserves 
Capital 


$ 


4,500 


The accompany notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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2012 


$ 


4,500 







December 31 , 2013 


Cost Additions Cost 
Assets 01 /01/13 (Disposa ls) 31/12/13 


$ $ $ 


Books 248,787 15,191 263,978 


December 31, 2012 


Cost Additions Cost 
Assets 01 /01/12 (Disposals) 31/12/12 


$ $ $ 


Books 225,197 23,590 248,787 


Town of Gananoque 
Public Library Board 


Schedule 2 .. Tangible Capital Assets 


Accumulated Accumulated Net Book 
Amortization Amortization Amortization Value 


01/01/13 2013 31/12/13 31/12/13 


$ $ $ $ 


161,600 22,678 184,278 79,700 


Accumulated Accumulated Net Book 
Amortization Amortization Amortization Value 


01/01/12 2012 31/12/12 31 /12/1 2 


$ $ $ $ 


138,183 23,417 161,600 87,187 


The accompany notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Chartered Ac.:ounrant Professional Corporarton 


INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 


To the Board Members, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of the Town of 
Gananoque Business Improvement Area Committee: 


We have audited the statement of financial position of the Town of Gananoque Business Improvement Area 
Committee as at December 31 , 2013 and the statement of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash 
flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Town of Gananoque Business Improvement Area Committee's management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting 
Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 


Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. 


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 


Opinion 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Town 
of Gananoque Business Improvement Area Committee as at December 31, 2013 and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 


Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
Allan Chartered Accountants Professional Corporation 
Authorized to practice public accounting by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario 


Perth, Ontario, 
October 7, 2014. 


34 


22 Wilson Street Wm , Perch, Onrano K7H 2i\19 (613) 267-6580 \'oice (613) 267-7563 Facsimile allanC<l . .:om 







December 31 


ASSETS 


Financial Assets 


Cash 
Accounts receivable 


LIABILITIES 


Financial Liabilities 


Accounts payable 
Due to Town 


NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (note 3) 


Town of Gananoque 
Business Improvement Area Committee 


Statement of Financial Position 


2013 


$ 


24,515 
6,854 


2012 


$ 


27,825 
3,586 


31 ,369 31 ,41 1 


997 4,782 
23,575 22,000 


24,572 26,782 


6,797 4,629 


6,797 4,629 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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For the year ended December 31 


REVENUES 


Municipal contribution 
Interest 
Government grants 
Fees and service charges 


TOTAL REVENUES 


EX PEN DITU RES 


Administration 
Advertising and promotion 
Beautification 
Salaries and benefits 
Special events 


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 


ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 


Town of Gananoque 
Business Improvement Area Committee 


Statement of Operations 
(Note 4) 
Budget 


$ 


44,000 
60 


4,800 
14,514 


63,374 


8,327 
8,000 
2,000 


27,180 
11,700 


57,207 


6,167 


2013 


$ 


44,000 
6 


4,015 
15,661 


63,682 


8,758 
9,479 


894 
34,709 
7,674 


61 ,514 


2,168 


2012 


$ 


39,511 
45 


2,430 
4,464 


46,450 


10,393 
10,708 
6,240 


34,303 
20,185 


81 ,829 


(35,379) 


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 4,629 4,629 40,008 


ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR 10,796 6,797 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Business Improvement Area Committee 


Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 


For the year ended December 31 


ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 


INCREASE (DECREASE) IN 
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 


NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 


NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, END OF YEAR 


2013 


$ 


2,168 


2,168 


4,629 


6,797 


2012 


$ 


(35,379) 


(35,379) 


40,008 


4,629 


Statement of Cash Flows 


For the year ended December 31 


OPERATING 


Annual surplus (deficit) 


Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Items 
Accounts receivable 
Accounts payable 
Due to Town 


Working Capital from Operations 


NET DECREASE IN CASH 


CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 


CASH, END OF YEAR 


2013 


$ 


2,168 


(3,268) 
(3,785) 
1,575 


(5,478) 


(3,310) 


(3,310) 


27,825 


24,515 


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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2012 


$ 


(35,379) 


852 
(12, 140) 
22,000 


10,712 


(24,667) 


(24,667) 


52,492 


27,825 







December 31 , 2013 


1. Status of the Committee 


Town of Gananoque 
Business Improvement Area Committee 


Notes to the Financial Statements 


Pursuant to the Municipal Act, the Gananoque Business Improvement Area Committee (the 'Committee') 
was established by By-law No. 78-33 on October 17, 1978 by the Town of Gananoque. 


2. Significant Accounting Policies 


The financial statements of the Gananoque Business Improvement Area Committee are the 
representations of management and have been prepared in all material respects in accordance with 
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards for local governments as recommended by the Public 
Sector Accounting Board ('PSAB') of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. Significant 
aspects of accounting policies by the Committee are as follows: 


Reporting Entity 


The financial statements reflect financial assets, liabilities, operating revenues and expenditures, 
reserves, reserve funds and changes in investment in tangible capital assets of the Committee. 


Basis of Accounting 


The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of 
accounting records revenue as it is earned and measurable. Expenditures are recognized as they are 
incurred and measurable based on receipt of goods and services and/or the creation of a legal obligation 
to pay. 


Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision 
of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year, and are not intended for sale in 
the ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets during the year, together with the 
excess of revenues over expenses, provides the Change in Net Financial Assets for the year. 


Tangible Capital Assets 


Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which include all amounts that are directly attributable to 
acquisition , construction , development or betterment of the asset. The cost, less residual value, of the 
tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 


Assets Estimated Useful Life 


Equipment 3 to 30 years 


Amortization is charged from the date of acquisition. Assets under construction are not amortized until 
the asset is available for productive use, at which time they are capitalized . 


Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt, 
and that fair value is also recorded as revenue. Similarly, transfers of assets to third parties are 
recorded as an expense equal to the net book value of other assets as of the date of transfer. 
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December 31 2013 


Town of Gananoque 
Business Improvement Area Committee 


Notes to the Financial Statements 


2. Significant Accounting Policies I continued 


Cash and Cash Equivalents 


The Committee considers cash and cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less. 


Government Transfers 


Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenues in the period in which 
events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have 
been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made. 


Deferred Revenues 


The Committee defers recognition of user charges and fees which have been collected but for which the 
related services have yet to be performed. These amounts will be recognized as revenues in the fiscal 
year the services are performed. 


Financial Instruments 


All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the statement of financial position. The 
Committee has classified each financial instrument into one of the following categories: held-for-trading 
financial assets and liabilities, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets and other financial 
liabilities. Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is based on their classification. 


Held-for-trading financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in 
those fair values recognized in net revenues. 


Loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets and other financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 


The Committee classifies cash and cash equivalents as held-for-trading financial assets, accounts 
receivable as loans and receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities as other financial 
liabilities. 


Measurement Uncertainty 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions on such areas as employee benefits, 
assessment appeals and environmental provisions. These estimates and assumptions are based on 
the Board's best information and judgment and may differ significantly based on actual results. 
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December 31 2013 


3. Accumulated Surplus 


Town of Gananoque 
Business Improvement Area Committee 


Notes to the Financial Statements 


Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus (deficit) and reserves as follows: 


2013 2012 


$ $ 


Unrestricted Surplus 6,797 4,629 


Accumulated Surplus 6,797 4,629 


4. Budget Figures 


Gananoque Business Improvement Area Committee reviews its operating and capital budgets each 
year. The approved operating budget for 2013 is included in the budget figures presented in the 
Statement of Operations. 
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Town of Gananoque 
Waterworks and Sewer Operations 


Schedule of Financial Activities 
(Note 17) 


For the year ended December 31 Budget 2013 2012 


$ $ $ 


REVENUES 


User charges • water and sewer revenue 2,498,641 2,243,232 2,315,550 
• penalty 25,000 29,364 26,176 
• miscellaneous fees and service charges 44,950 12,955 22,448 


Government grants • capital 585,086 367,875 
• operating 25,000 


TOTAL REVENUES 2,568,591 2,870,637 2,757,049 


EXPENDITURES 


Overhead 655,420 357,887 375,511 
• salaries and benefits 148,144 134,825 142,558 
• materials and supplies 14,172 13,666 10,646 
• vehicle and equipment operation 


Water treatment plant & storage tank 96,806 91,360 
• salaries and benefits 263,435 218,590 154,651 
• materials and supplies 41 ,000 40,263 39,764 
• property tax 


Water distribution 57,180 72,715 
• salaries and benefits 96,200 64,038 45,936 
• materials and supplies 


Water meters and meter reading 22,979 21 ,983 
• salaries and benefits 34,900 9,398 21,162 
• materials and supplies 


Sewage pumping stations and lagoon 46,978 51 ,594 
• salaries and benefits 198,900 122,569 128,1 71 
• materials and supplies 3,000 8,454 7,984 
• property tax 


Sewage collection 18,209 22,746 
• salaries and benefits 85,600 61,743 46,290 
• materials and supplies 


Interest on long term debt 27,694 27,733 27,491 
Minor capital 276,187 32,806 40,211 
Amortization 881,374 861 ,890 


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,844,652 2,215,498 2,162,663 


NETREVENUESFORTHEYEAR 723,939 655,139 594,386 


CASH REQUIREMENTS 


Net Revenues (Expenditures) 723,939 655,139 594,386 


Amortization 881,374 861 ,890 
Tangible capital assets (5, 151 ,851) (958,440) (575,436) 
Principal paid on long term debt (58,234) {58,234) 


(4,486,146) 519,839 880,840 
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For the year ended December 31 


REVENUES 


Provincial grants 
Miscel laneous fees and service charges 


TOTAL REVENUES 


EXPENDITURES 


Police Force 
Salaries and benefits 
Materials and supplies 
Vehicle maintenance 
Equipment repair and replacement 


Dispatch and Communications 
Salaries and benefits 


Administration 
Salaries and benefits 
Materials and supplies 


Police Services Board 
Honorarium 
Materials and supplies 


Youth in Policing and Police Auxiliary 
Salaries and benefits 
Materials and supplies 


Occupancy 
Materials and supplies 


Amortization 


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 


NET EXPENDITURES FOR THE YEAR 


CASH REQUIREMENTS 


Net Expenditures 


Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Amortization 
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Town of Gananoque 
Police Commission 


Schedule of Financial Activities 
(Note 17) 


Budget 


$ 


114,996 
230,200 


345,196 


1,975,720 
135,673 
38,375 
32,469 


420,687 


284,097 
93,859 


6,1 17 
10,000 


15,491 
1,500 


55,839 


3,069,827 


(2,724,631) 


(2,724,631) 


(36,847) 


(2,761,478) 


2013 


$ 


84,777 
228,655 


313,432 


1,968,852 
120,872 


31 ,246 
26,429 


403,546 


254,255 
97,893 


5,005 
7,917 


13,515 
403 


57,142 
54,970 


3,042,045 


(2, 728,613) 


(2, 728,613) 


(30,019) 
54,970 


(2,703,662) 


201 2 


$ 


113,965 
230,131 


344,096 


1,923,394 
132,569 
33,961 
22,473 


383,792 


279,823 
79,929 


5,625 
3,184 


30,981 
396 


45,590 
41 ,616 


2,983,333 


(2,639,237) 


(2,639,237) 


(56,877) 
41 ,616 


(2,654,498) 
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September, 2014 


SEPTEMBER FIRE SERVICE REPORT TO COUNCIL 


SEPTEMBER 2014 


TOTAL RUNS 13 
FIRE 1 


MEDICAL AID 3 
MOTOR VEHICLE COLLISIONS 1 


OTHER 8 
MUTUAL AID GIVEN 0 


MUTUAL AID RECEIVED 1 
ESTIMATED DOLLAR LOSS $0 
ESTIMATED DOLLAR SAVE $0 


TOTAL HOURS 187 
INSPECTIONS 0 


YEAR TO DATE 2014 


TOTAL RUNS 139 
FIRE 17 


MEDICAL AID 27 
MOTOR VEHICLE COLLISIONS 1 


OTHER 91 
MUTUAL AID GIVEN 6 


MUTUAL AID RECEIVED 2 
ESTIMATED DOLLAR LOSS $350,000 
ESTIMATED DOLLAR SAVE $1,860,000 


TOTAL HOURS 1968 
INSPECTIONS 21 


2013 


12 
2 
1 
1 
8 
0 
0 


$40,000 
$185,000 


122 
0 


2013 


135 
7 
35 
2 


81 
10 
1 


$251 ,000 
$289,000 


1583 
15 


340 Herbert Street 
Gananoque, Ontario 
K7G 1R1 
Phone: 613·382-3334 
Fax: 613-382-4221 
www.ganflro.com 
www.gananogue.ca 







Gananoque Fire Serv ice 


Aid Responses by Incident 


Alarm Date Between {2014/09/01 } And {2014 /09/30} 


Department Notified 


14 - 0000138 2014/09/30 18:26 :34 
61 Vehicle Extrication 


665 Charles ST N 


Aid Type 


00721 Leeds 1000 
Islands Fire 


Department 


2014/09/30 31 Mutual Aid 


Response Time:00:06 : 39 


It Personnel 


#Apparatus 


Fire 


0 


0 


EMS Resc Other 


0 


0 


0 


0 


0 


0 


Subtotal Responses: 1 Average Aid Response Time for I nci de nt: 00 :0 6 :39 


Response time calculated from time notified to arrival time. 


2014/10/03 00 : 00 Page 1 
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Council Report 2014 – 27 – Community Development 
 
Council Date: 
 
Subject: 
 


Tuesday, November 4, 2014 
 
Tender – 2014 Capital Budget 
- Arthur Child Heritage Museum 
 


 IN CAMERA 
 
 OPEN COUNCIL 


Author: Brenda Guy, Manager of Community Development 
 


 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   


That Bylaw 2014-109 be approved by Council to authorize the Mayor and Clerk to enter into an 
agreement with Andrecon Construction for $98,197.66 inclusive of HST for the Arthur Child Heritage 
Museum. 
 
And that Council approve the reallocation of capital funds from the Town Hall to complete the Arthur 
Child Heritage Museum project. 
 
And further that the remaining capital funds be maintained for unforeseen items during renovations. 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The 2014 Capital Budget allotted funds for the Arthur Child Heritage Museum. 
 
In previous years, the Town has been undertaking renovations to all of the buildings in the Village 
and 2014 was scheduled to be for the Museum.  A tender was issued In September with the 
attached Scope of Works identified.  Mandatory Site Visit was scheduled for September 26, 2014.  
Closing was October 10, 2014. 
 
Tender was advertised on the Town’s website along with advertisement in the EMC and Gananoque 
Reporter and Biddingo (online portal). 
 
 
INFORMATION AND DISCUSSION 
 
One portion of this report is with regard to the capital funds within the Arthur Child Heritage Museum.  
The 2014 budget was $75,000.00.  Council may recall that there was unexpected roofing repair on 
the flat roof of the museum earlier this year (Council Report 2014-08-Community Development – 
April 1, 2014). 
 
Staff would like to proceed with the entire project of the Arthur Child Heritage Museum and not 
undertake partial in 2014 and then further consideration in the 2015 budget.   
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Staff have reviewed with the Treasurer the current capital budget in an effort to complete this project.  
Works were to be undertaken at the Town Hall for renovations in 2014.  These were not undertaken 
and is not intended at this point in 2014.  Staff would like to seek Council permission to reallocate the 
funds from Town Hall to the Museum Capital for 2014.  This would permit the project to move forward 
and the focus for renovations at Town Hall to be reviewed in 2015 budget deliberations. 
 
Four submissions were received.  The amounts below reflect what was identified at the tender 
opening. 


  Andrecon 
Construction 


DC 
Donaldson 


Focus 
Interiors 


Ultimate 
Construction 


Subtotal $101,390.95 $98,500.00 $9,589.25 $248,100.00 


HST 13,180.82 12,805.00 $1,246.60 $32,253.00 


Total $114,571.77 $111,305.00 $10,835.85 $263,353.00 


 
Upon review of the submission it was identified that not all of the bids included the interior works.  
Although the interior works are necessary to repair the ceiling and walls from the water damage 
earlier in the spring of 2014 it was not undertaken as an addendum but verbally noted at the 
mandatory meeting.  In an effort to undertake a fair process the interior works are not included in this 
analysis as shown above. 
 


 Andrecon 
Construction 


DC 
Donaldson 


Focus 
Interiors 


Ultimate 
Construction 


Subtotal $101,390.95 $98,500.00 $9,589.25 $248,100.00 


Less Interior 14,490.37 - 9,589.25 14,500.00 


Sub total $86,900.58 $98,500.00 0 $233,600.00 


HST 11,297.08 12,805.00 0 $30,368.00 


Total $98,197.66 $111,305.00 $0 $263,968.00 


 
Two of the quotes are very comparable.  In some areas one contractor is higher and vice versa in 
others.  All in all the two quotes are good and meet the requirements of the tender.   
 
Previous works have been undertaken by local contractor Andrecon Construction who is the low bid.   
All the previous projects were conducted smoothly and the contractor was professional with good 
workmanship. 
 
Staff recommend to Council that the project be awarded to the low bid, Andrecon Construction in the 
amount of $98,197.66 and that any available funds remain for unforeseen construction items.   
 
With regards to the interior works staff would like to ensure that the capital funds are in place to 
complete all the exterior works first.  The contract for interior can be awarded separately provided the 
Town obtain three written quotations under $10,000.  If this cannot be achieved it will be a budgetary 
item in 2015. 
 
 
FINANCIAL:   Reallocation of Capital Funds 
 
CONSULTATIONS:  Building Official 
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     ________________________________________________________________________ 
 Brenda Guy, Manager of Community Development   


   
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 Bill McKennan, Treasurer 
 Certifies that unless otherwise provided for in this report the funds are contained within the approved Budgets and that the 


financial transactions are in compliance with Council’s own policies and guidelines and the Municipal Act and regulations. 


 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 Robert Small, CAO 
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Town of Gananoque  
- ACHM – Building Repair Tender  Tender Number:   PROP-2014-04 
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SCHEDULE A – SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 


The Town of Gananoque, a population of 5,200, is home to the Arthur Child Heritage 
Museum.  The Museum requires exterior renovations. 
 
All projects require adherence to the Ontario Building Code. 


 
 


Remove and discard existing upper deck boards and replace with pressure treated 


lumber. 


Deck is approximately 850 square feet. 


Repair or replace all railings, spindles, posts and post caps on both deck levels that are 


rotten.  Ensure all new lumber on posts, post caps, spindles, railings are painted to 


match existing. 


Repair or replace decorative trim at front and back of building. 


Remove any window trim and/or rotten window frames where required. 


Change grading in places where it is within 6 inches of siding.  


Repair or replace fascia and eavestroughs where necessary.  


Secure building to prevent water infiltration during the construction. 


Reinstall with vinyl windows where or if they have to be replaced   


Repair or replace doors if necessary with steel coloured doors  


Install new siding (of similar colour) with proper J trim and flashing throughout 


Insure proper caulking where required to protect from moisture infiltration.  Install as per 


manufacturer’s specifications. 


Replace downspout on 2nd floor deck to go under deck boards 


 


See attached picture samples 
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SCHEDULE B – FORM OF TENDER/BREAKDOWN OF COSTS (if applicable) 
 


ALL BUILDING MEASUREMENTS ARE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BIDDER AND WILL 


NOT BE PROVIDED 


 


The tender submission shall cover all aspects of the Scope of Services including materials, 


equipment, travel time, operators and assistants, purchase of permits and inspection 


requirements, removal and disposal of materials, installation and labour.  All material to be 


disposed of off-site.  Upon completion of project leave property clean and free of all debris left by 


the renovation. 


 


The Town of Gananoque reserves the right to cancel this RFT at anytime for any reason, prior to 
an official contract/agreement being signed 
 
Arthur Childs Heritage Museum Only 


 


Remove and discard existing upper deck boards and any or all portions of 


the railing, posts and spindles on both levels that are rotten with pressure 


treated lumber. Approximately 850 square feet. Ensure new railing, posts  


and spindles are painted to match existing colour.            .......................... $ ___________________ 


Repair or replace decorative trim at front and back of building  .................. $ ___________________  


Remove window trim and rotten window frame where required            ...... $ ___________________ 


Change grading in places where it is within 6 inches of siding ................... $ ___________________ 


Repair or replace fascia and eavestroughs where necessary  ................... $ ___________________ 


Separate frame work for windows that require frame only  ......................... $ ___________________ 


Secure building to prevent water infiltration during the construction ........... $ ___________________ 


Reinstall with vinyl windows where or if they have to be replaced   ............ $ ___________________ 


Repair or replace doors if necessary with steel coloured doors  


garden/patio door per unit ........................................................................... $ ___________________ 


single door per unit ...................................................................................... $ ___________________ 


Install new vinyl siding with proper J trim and flashing throughout, 


assure proper caulking where required to protect from moisture  


infiltration.  Install as per manufacturer’s specifications. ............................. $ ___________________ 


Replace downspout on 2
nd


 floor deck to go under deck boards 


Repair all deteriorated trim around the deck system  .................................. $ ___________________ 


Brick Repair and General Repointing  ......................................................... $ ___________________ 


 


All pipes, wires, and hardware required to be removed and reinstated during the repairs shall be 


included in the unit prices of the section where removal was required  


The General Contractor is to provide samples of siding – to be similar of Building C and D - within 


the Heritage Village, to be approved by Town  


All repairs to bring building back to original condition.  
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ESTIMATED COST FOR REPAIRS/REPLACEMENT ............................... $ ___________________ 


 


HST .............................................................................................................. $ ___________________ 


 
TOTAL ESTIMATED COST ........................................................................ $ ___________________ 


 
 
Are there any sub-contractors being used on this project? 
 
If yes, Please identify   ________________________________________________ 
 
    ________________________________________________ 


 


    ________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
Respondent Name/Company: ____________________________________________ 
 
Address:   ____________________________________________ 
 
    ____________________________________________ 
 
    ____________________________________________ 
 
Phone No:   ____________________________________________ 
 
Fax No:    ____________________________________________ 
 
Signature:   ____________________________________________ 
 
To be signed and submitted with the proposal as an acknowledgement of the Scope of Services 
identified. 
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Council Report 2014 – 28 – Community Development 
 
Council Date: 
 
Subject: 
 


Tuesday, November 4, 2014 
 
BIA Request 
- Correspondence dated Oct.22, 2014 
 


 IN CAMERA 
 
 OPEN COUNCIL 


Author: Brenda Guy, Manager of Community Development 
 


 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   


That this report be received for information only. 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Gananoque BIA formally requests the Town to amend the Traffic and Parking Bylaw to permit 
free parking (with covered meters) for the period of December 1 to February 29.  This has been an 
annual request.  Council will be considering a bylaw later this evening in this regard. 
 
 
INFORMATION AND DISCUSSION 
 
Staff have no objection to the passing of the bylaw. 
 
Staff do wish to note and make reference to the request from the BIA regarding the three hour time 
limit.  The correspondence reads that “We would like to emphasis that the free parking will still be in 
accordance of the 3 hour parking limit at each meter. Vehicles parked at meters for in excess of the 
posted 3 hour limit should be ticketed as it takes away from the circulation of visitors.”   
 
The Bylaw Enforcement Contract which was entered into earlier in 2014 increased the parking 
enforcement in the downtown to try and better reflect the annual request for meter covers during the 
winter months.  What was previously 15 hours/week for January to April and October to December is 
now 15 hours/week for January to February and December.  This better complements the annual 
BIA request. 
 
Staff would like to note, however, that the BIA has specifically identified in their correspondence that 
parking enforcement be monitored every three hours and anything in excess of this should be 
ticketed.   
 
Bylaw will address what they can within the duration of the contract.  If there are times and particular 
vehicles noted or of concern, these should be noted to Bylaw to try and address these items 
individually.  The manpower and contract costs are not available to monitor every three hours as 
suggested in the correspondence.  The continuous monitoring of the parking of a vehicle every three 
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hours would require the marking of vehicles and noting of times to determine whether a ticket is 
warranted and the current contract does not allow for this. 
 
Bylaw intentionally does not go at specific times of the day as people would become accustomed to 
those times.  We will be circulating in Town regularly to enforce winter parking all over Town and will 
continue to do so as in previous years.  We will and are cognitive of the request of the BIA. 
 
Staff request that this report be received for information only. 
 
 
FINANCIAL:   n/a 
 
CONSULTATIONS:  Bylaw Enforcement  
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     ________________________________________________________________________ 
 Brenda Guy, Manager of Community Development   


   
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 Bill McKennan, Treasurer 
 Certifies that unless otherwise provided for in this report the funds are contained within the approved Budgets and that the 


financial transactions are in compliance with Council’s own policies and guidelines and the Municipal Act and regulations. 


 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 Robert Small, CAO 
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Council Report 2014-21-RECM 
 
Council Date: November 4, 2014            IN CAMERA 


Subject:  Marina Dredging 


Author:  Sue Smith               OPEN COUNCIL 


 
RECOMMENDATION:   
 
That Council receive Report 2014-21-RECM for information purposes; and further that council 
recognize the tender submitted from Kehoe Marine Construction; and further that the CAO will be 
using the Marina Reserves for this project.     
 


BACKGROUND: 
 
In June of 2014 Council authorized the C.A.O. to secure the services of Riggs Engineering to obtain 
the appropriate approvals and prepare the necessary tender documents to complete the dredging 
project in the Municipal Harbour. 
 


INFORMATION/DISCUSSION 
 
It has been more than 15 years since any dredging has been done in the harbour.  To accommodate 
the current and future boating demands and to provide for the safe movement of vessels within the 
harbour dredging is necessary. 
 
The approval process is lengthy.  Riggs Engineering began the process immediately following Council 
approval in June and we received the final approval on October 10, 2014.     
 
Due to the limited time lines for project completion Riggs Engineering was requested to send tender 
documents by invitation to any local companies that could complete the project as outlined in their 
bid documents. 
 
The following companies were offered the opportunity to provide a bid for this project. 
 
Kehoe Marine Construction  Bid received 
St. Lawrence Marine   No package received 
1000 Island Marine Construction Letter of regret received 
 
Kehoe Marine Construction bid a total cost of $239,300.00 plus H.S.T. to complete the dredging of 
the Municipal Marina Harbour as requested in the tender documents prepared by Riggs Engineering. 
 
If the dredging does not proceed in 2014 the width approve by the Ministry will not be the same in 
2015.  Special consideration was received from the Ministry to dredge at a width of 20 meters.  The 
normal approval limit is 6 meters.  Should we need to reapply in 2015 we may not receive that same 
consideration and/or we may be expected to provide significantly more compensation for fish 
habitat which could result in a much higher price tag to complete the project.  
 


 







Report To Council                   


Date: November 4, 2014 


Report 2014-21-RECM – Marina Dredging         
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As the Town Council is in a lame duck position, By-law 2014-092 passed September 12, 2014, 
authorizes financial signing to the Chief Administrative Officer for expenditures outside the current 
budget, exceeding $50,000.00. 


FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:   
 
There are currently sufficient funds available in the Marina Reserves to cover the total cost of this 
project. 


 
CONSULTATIONS:  
Riggs Engineering,  
Robert Small, C.A.O.  
Bill McKennan, Treasurer 


 


ATTACHMENTS:   
 
Letter of Advice – Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry 
Letter of Advice - Fisheries and Oceans Canada 
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__                                                                          _______________ 


Sue Smith, Manager of Parks, Recreation and Marina 


   


_________________________________________________ 


Bill McKennan, Treasurer 
Certifies that unless otherwise provided for in this report the funds are contained within the approved Budgets and that the financial 


transactions are in compliance with Council’s own policies and guidelines and the Municipal Act and regulations. 


_________________________________________________ 


 Robert W. Small , CAO 
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Fisheries and Oceans 
Canada 


Pêches et Océans 
Canada 


 


 


 
Central & Arctic Region Région centrale et de l’Arctique 


Fisheries Protection Program Programme de protection des pêches 


867 Lakeshore Road, 867 chemin Lakeshore 


Burlington, ON Burlington, ON 


L7R 4A6 L7R 4A6 


 


 


October 10
th


, 2014 


   


Our file Notre référence 


      14-HCAA-01316 


 


Sue Smith 


Manager of Parks/Recreation and Marina 


Town of Gananoque 


30 King Street East 


P.O. Box 100 


Gananoque, ON  K7G 2T6 


 


 


Dear Ms. Smith: 


 


Subject: Implementation of mitigation measures to avoid and mitigate impacts to 


fish and fish habitat and listed aquatic species at risk – Gananoque 


Marina Dredge  


 


The Fisheries Protection Program (the Program) of Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) 


received your proposal on September 25
th


, 2014.    


 


Your proposal has been reviewed to determine whether it is likely to result in serious 


harm to fish which is prohibited under subsection 35(1) of the Fisheries Act.  


 


Your proposal has also been reviewed to determine whether it will adversely impact 


listed aquatic species at risk and contravene sections 32, 33 or 58 of the Species at Risk 


Act (SARA). 


 


The following aquatic species which is currently listed under the SARA is believed to use 


the area: 


 


 Pugnose Shiner listed as Endangered. 


 


Our review considered the following:  


 


 Information provided in the Gananoque Marina – Proposed Dredging Gananoque, 


Ontario Technical Brief, dated August 13
th


, 2014. 


 Telephone conversations with Stu Seabrook on October 2
nd


, 3
rd


 and 6
th


 2014. 
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We understand that you propose to:  


 


 Mechanically dredge an area of approximately 320 m by 20 m (6400 m
2
) along 


the outer navigational route of the marina.   


 


To avoid affecting the above-identified aquatic species at risk, the mitigation measures 


listed below, in addition to those set out in your project plans, are to be followed: 


 


 Isolate the entire work area (surface to substrate) with a turbidity curtain.  


 Exclude fish from the work area. 


 Dredged area should be minimized and not to exceed 20 m in width. 


 


To avoid the potential for serious harm to fish that is prohibited under the Fisheries Act, 


the mitigation measures set out in your project plans are to be followed. 


 


Provided that you implement the required mitigation measures for your project, and 


follow the guidance available on the DFO website at http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-


ppe/measures/index-eng.html, the Program is of the view that your proposal should not 


result in serious harm to fish or contravene sections 32, 33 or 58 of the Species at Risk 


Act. No formal approval is required from the Program under the Fisheries Act or the 


Species at Risk Act in order to proceed with your proposal.   


  


It remains your responsibility to ensure you avoid causing serious harm to fish in 


compliance with the Fisheries Act, and that you meet the requirements under the Species 


at Risk Act as it may apply to your project. If your plans have changed or if the 


description of your proposal is incomplete, or changes in the future, you should consult 


our website (http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/index-eng.html) or consult with a 


qualified environmental consultant to determine if further review is required by the 


Program.  


 


Please be advised that it is also your Duty to Notify DFO if you have caused, or are about 


to cause, serious harm to fish that are part of or support a commercial, recreational or 


Aboriginal fishery. Such notifications should be directed to http://www.dfo-


mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/violation-infraction/index-eng.html.  


 


A copy of this letter should be kept on site while the work is in progress. It remains your 


responsibility to meet all other federal, territorial, provincial and municipal requirements 


that apply to your project.  


 


If you have any questions, please contact Heather Surette at our Burlington office at 905-


315-5226, by fax at 905-336-6285, or by email at Heather.Surette@dfo-mpo.gc.ca.  


Please refer to the file number referenced above when corresponding with the Program. 


 


 


 


 



http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/measures/index-eng.html

http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/measures/index-eng.html

http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/index-eng.html

http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/violation-infraction/index-eng.html

http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/pnw-ppe/violation-infraction/index-eng.html

mailto:Heather.Surette@dfo-mpo.gc.ca
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Yours sincerely, 


 


 
 


 


Jennifer Thomas 


A/Regional Manager, Regulatory Reviews  


 


Copy: Stu Seabrook, Riggs Engineering Ltd., London, ON 


Jane Devlin, Ministry of Natural Resources, Kemptville, ON 


 Tom Beaubiah, Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority, Glenburnie, ON 







MNRF File #: KV-LOA-101-14 


Ministry of Natural 
Resources and Forestry 
 
Kemptville District 
 
10 Campus Drive 
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October 9, 2014 
Sue Smith 
Manager of Parks/Recreation and Marina 
Town of Gananoque 
30 King Street East 
P.O. Box 100 
Gananoque, Ontario    
K7G 2T6 
 
Dear Ms. Smith, 
 
RE: Gananoque Municipal Marina Proposed Dredging and the Endangered 
Species Act, 2007 
 
The Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry (MNRF) received your proposal 
‘Gananoque Marina – Proposed Dredging Gananoque, Ontario’ (herein “marina”) on 
July 31, 2014 and has reviewed the information to assess the potential impacts of the 
proposal on Endangered and Threatened species at risk and their habitat. 
 
From the information provided, it is MNRF’s understanding that the proposed project 
falls within the following parameters: 
 


a) the water lot proposed to be dredged at the Gananoque Municipal Marina, and 
the property along Bay Street, is owned by the Municipality 


b) Location and dimensions of the proposed work will be carried out as shown on 
the attached Figure 1. 


c) The required dredge area is approximately 5700 m2, the depth 2.0 m below 
datum, and the estimated dredge quantity is 5,000 m3. 


 
There is potential for the following Species at Risk (SAR) to be present at the site: 
Blanding’s Turtle, Snapping Turtle, Pugnose Shiner, Lake Sturgeon, American Eel and 
Grass Pickerel. Based on a review of the information you provided, MNRF has 
determined that the activities associated with the project, as currently proposed, will 
likely not contravene section 9 (species protection) or section 10 (habitat protection) of 
the Endangered Species Act, 2007 (ESA) for the above SAR and their habitat provided 
the following conditions are implemented: 
 
1. The contractor and equipment operator will be provided with a copy of this letter 


prior to proceeding with any work. 
 







2. The active dredging area will be contained within a turbidity curtain. 
 


3. The barge will remain within the turbidity curtain for the duration of the dredge work, 
and until after the dredged material has been removed and time has passed to 
allow for suspended sediment to settle.  
 


4. The material will be offloaded from the barge to shore or directly to truck for 
transport to the disposal site. 
  


5. Sealed dump boxes will be required for the transport of the dredge material unless it 
is fully drained during the staging process. 


 
6. Immediately upon completion of an activity at a specific site/location, all garbage, 


materials and substances of any kind will be disposed of as required by existing 
legislation. No construction wastes shall be disposed of within the water course. 


 
7. It is the applicant’s responsibility to obtain approvals from Fisheries and Oceans 


Canada, Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority (CRCA) and the local 
Municipality. 


 
8. It is the applicant’s responsibility to contact Transport Canada, Navigable  


Waters Protection Branch to ensure their navigational concerns are addressed. 
 
9. The permittee shall not allow any deleterious material (as defined within the federal 


Fisheries Act) to enter or re-enter the waterbody as a result of the proposed works. 
 
10. There shall be no in-water work between March 15 and July 15 of any year, to 


address concerns related to fisheries spawning and nursery areas. 
 
11. In-water works timing restrictions apply from October 15 – March 15 to address 


concerns related to hibernation periods for species at risk turtles, other reptiles and 
amphibians. Installation of a turbidity curtain to carefully exclude reptiles, 
amphibians and fish before October 15, will mitigate the risk of encountering 
hibernating wildlife species within the work site during their overwintering period.  


 


12. Before October 15, and immediately prior to installing the turbidity curtain, sediment 
screen and/or other appropriate sediment control measures around the entire work 
area and prior to any in-water activities, a thorough sweep of the site including the 
aquatic substrate shall be conducted in the area of the proposed works in order to 
ensure no SAR are present. If no SAR are present, the turbidity curtain shall be 
installed to displace aquatic organisms (turtles, frogs, fish, etc.) to the vicinity 
outside of the area of disturbance; if any SAR are encountered at the site, the work 
shall immediately stop and an MNRF Biologist should be contacted for advice (613-
258-8418).  


 







13. There shall be no encroachment onto the bed of the river beyond the extent that is 
shown in Figure 1 below.  


 
14. Appropriate sediment and erosion control measures shall be in place prior to and 


during any works to prevent sediment from entering the watercourse and re-
suspended sediment from spreading to adjacent areas, and these measures should 
remain in place until all disturbed areas on the work site have been stabilized. 


 
15. All sediment and erosion control measures shall be inspected daily to ensure that 


they are functioning properly and are maintained and/or upgraded as required. 
 
16. If the sediment/erosion/debris control measures are not functioning properly, no 


further work shall occur until the sediment and/or erosion problem is addressed. 
 
17. Any disruption above the high water mark shall be contained and/or stabilized to 


ensure silt, sand, clay, organic material or any deleterious substances do not enter 
the water body. 


 
18. Except for the arm and bucket of a backhoe, construction machinery shall not be 


below the high water mark. 
 
19. All materials and equipment used for the purpose of site preparation and project 


completion shall be utilized and stored in a manner that prevents any deleterious 
substances from entering the water. Vehicular refuelling and maintenance shall be 
conducted at least 25 feet from the water. 


 
20. Any part of the equipment entering the water shall be free of fluid leaks and 


externally cleaned/degreased to prevent deleterious substances from entering the 
water. 


 
21. The Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry retains the right to request that 


proposed or ongoing operations be altered or stopped immediately, should they be 
considered detrimental in any way to the fisheries resource. 


 


 


If these conditions are implemented, the activity would not likely contravene section 9 or 
section 10 of the Endangered Species Act, 2007 (ESA). 
 
If any other protected species and/or habitats are observed on your property, please 
contact the MNRF Kemptville District office as soon as possible. 
 
Should any of the project parameters change, or if it is not possible to comply with the 
above conditions, please notify the District office immediately to obtain advice on 
whether your project may require authorization under the ESA. Please be advised that 
applying for a permit does not guarantee approval and processing can take several 
months. 







It is important to be aware that changes may occur in both species and habitat 
protection. The ESA applies to species listed on the Species at Risk in Ontario List 
(www.mnr.gov.on.ca/en/Business/Species/2ColumnSubPage/246809.html). Because 
the list is updated from time to time, it is recommended that you visit this web page 
regularly and/or check with the Kemptville District about species status changes as well 
as information on protected habitats that may occur in your area. 
 
Please be advised that it is also your responsibility to be aware of and comply with all 
other relevant provincial or federal legislation, municipal by-laws, other MNRF approvals 
or required approvals from other agencies. 
 
If you have any concerns or questions please contact Jane Devlin, Management 
Biologist at 613-258-8418. 
 
Sincerely, 
 


 
Jane Devlin 
Management Biologist  
Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, Kemptville District 
 
 
CC:  Heather Surette, Fisheries and Oceans Canada 


Tom Beaubiah, Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 
Stu Seabrook, Riggs Engineering Ltd. 


 
Attached: Figure 1, Silt Curtain Layout Plan 



http://www.mnr.gov.on.ca/en/Business/Species/2ColumnSubPage/246809.html
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Council Report 2014-05-HR 
 
Council Date:  November 4, 2014            IN CAMERA 


Subject:  Human Resources Policies & Procedures  


Author:  Krista Vandewal, Human Resources         OPEN COUNCIL 


 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 


That Council accepts this Human Resources Policies & Procedures report 2014-05-HR for 


information purposes and that;  


 


Council approve through by-law the Human Resources Policies & Procedures as presented. 


BACKGROUND: 
 


The Town does not have formal Human Resources policies and procedures.  These policies 
unless otherwise specified in the policy itself would be applicable to all Town employees with 
the exception of the Police Department employees.  Ensuring that there are Human 
Resources Policies & Procedures in place allows for a consistent approach when dealing 
with HR issues.  It allows for managers and employees to have a standard reference for HR 
policies and procedures.  When applying policies and procedures to unionized employees, 
collective agreements must be referenced for deviations or differences when applying a 
policy. 


INFORMATION/DISCUSSION: 
 
The policies and procedures have been reviewed and vetted by staff and Council and 
amendments have been made based on this review and the policies presented for approval 
reflect those amendments. 
 


FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  None. 
 
CONSULTATIONS:  CAO, Management Team and Council. 
 


ATTACHMENTS: Human Resources Policies & Procedures Manual 







Report To Council              June 17, 2014 
Employment Legislation Updates         
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__                                                                          _______________ 


Krista Vandewal. Human Resources 


   


_________________________________________________ 


Bill McKennan, Treasurer 
Certifies that unless otherwise provided for in this report the funds are contained within the approved Budgets and that 


the financial transactions are in compliance with Council’s own policies and guidelines and the Municipal Act and 


regulations. 


_________________________________________________ 


 Robert W. Small , CAO 
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Human Resources Policies & Procedures Manual 
 


Index 
 
Section 100 
 


Policy Policy # 
General HR-100-01 


 
Section 200 
 


Policy Policy # 
Employee Confidentiality Statement HR-200-01 
Employee Confidentiality Statement – Appendix A HR-200-01 
Employee Code of Conduct HR-200-02 
Employee Code of Conduct Declaration – Appendix A HR-200-02 
Recruitment HR-200-03 
Employee Concerns HR-200-04 
Employee Information HR-200-05 
Employee Job Descriptions HR-200-06 
Personnel Records HR-200-07 
Orientation HR-200-08 
Appropriate Use, Care and Security of Electronic Resources HR-200-09 
Appropriate Use, Care and Security of Electronic Resources – 
Appendix A 


HR-200-09 


Appropriate Use, Care and Security of Electronic Resources – 
Appendix B 


HR-200-09 


Dress Code HR-200-10 
Criminal Record Background Check (CPIC) HR-200-11 
Criminal Record Background Check (CPIC) – Appendix A HR-200-11 
Employee Driver’s License HR-200-12 


 
Section 300 
 


Policy Policy # 
Discipline HR-300-01 
Termination HR-300-02 
Retirement HR-300-03 
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Section 400 
 


Policy Policy # 
General Leave of Absence HR-400-01 
Military Reservist Leave HR-400-02 
Inclement Weather HR-400-03 


 
Section 500 
 


Policy Policy # 
Employee Service Recognition Program HR-500-01 
Employee Assistance Program HR-500-02 
Performance Management Program HR-500-03 
Training and Development HR-500-04 


 
Section 600 
 


Policy Policy # 
Occupational Health & Safety HR-600-01 
Workplace Violence Prevention HR-600-02 
Workplace Harassment/Bullying Prevention HR-600-03 
Domestic Violence Prevention HR-600-04 
Workplace Discrimination Prevention HR-600-05 
Investigation Procedure HR-600-06 
Investigation Procedure – Appendix A Confidentiality Statement HR-600-06 
Management of Substance Abuse HR-600-07 
Workplace Accommodation HR-600-08 


 
Section 700 - Non-Union Conditions of Employment 
 


Policy Policy # 
Non-Union Terms & Conditions of Employment - General HR-700-01 
Categories of Non-Union Employees HR-700-02 
Vacation HR-700-03 
Statutory/Paid Holidays HR-700-04 
Bereavement Leave HR-700-05 
Pregnancy/Parental Leave HR-700-06 
Jury/Witness Leave HR-700-07 
Short Term Disability (Sick Leave) HR-700-08 
Long Term Disability HR-700-09 
Employee Benefits HR-700-10 
Pension Plan HR-700-11 
Non-Union Hours of Work HR-700-12 
Non-Union Overtime HR-700-13 
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Human Resources – General  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-100-01 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
Policy Statement  
 
The Town of Gananoque will efficiently and measurably deliver excellent services, 
recognized as an employer of choice with dedicated and capable staff, adding value in 
all areas of service it delivers, while simultaneously working to strengthen the capacity 
of the municipality. 
 
Within this context, the C.A.O. or his/her designate shall make provision for the direction 
and control of a sufficient number of appropriately prepared staff in accordance with the 
Town’s mission, vision, philosophy and goals.  Supporting Human Resources and 
Operational policies and procedures will ensure staff are knowledgeable of the Town’s 
activities and their roles within the organization.   
 
Objective 
 
To provide the best possible service with consideration to efficiency and effectiveness 
applies to all aspects of the employee relationship including recruitment, selection, 
training, promotion, lay-off, recall and termination. 
 
All personnel decisions will be consistent with both the meaning and intent of current 
legislation, and negotiated terms of employment. 
 
The following policy statements have been developed to maximize the effectiveness of 
human resources decision-making consistent with the foregoing policy. 
 
Procedure 
 
To ensure the highest possible quality of human resources decision-making, relevant 
information will be solicited from qualified sources prior to decisions being made by a 
supervisor. 
 
In the course of arriving at the most objective decision possible, a supervisor’s human 
resources decisions must be based on clearly defined, relevant criteria and potential 
conflict of interest must be identified in advance and eliminated. 
 
Employees directly affected by human resources decisions should have an opportunity 
to have input into those decisions wherever possible. 
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Human Resources – General  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-100-01 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
All persons are entitled to equal employment opportunities and the Town does not 
discriminate against its employees or applicants as defined by the Ontario Human 
Rights Code and the Accessibility for Ontarian’s with Disabilities Act (AODA). 
 
Scope 
  
The Human Resources Policies and Procedures contained herein apply to all Town of 
Gananoque employees unless otherwise stated in the policy with the exception of the 
Town of Gananoque Police who are covered by their own policies and procedures. 
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 Human Resources – Employee Confidentiality Statement  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-01 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
Policy  
 
All Town of Gananoque employees must sign the attached Pledge of Confidentiality.  All 
new employees must sign the attached Pledge of Confidentiality as a condition of 
employment to ensure the security and confidentiality of records and personal 
information under the control of the Town of Gananoque. 
 
Confidential information includes but is not limited to information in the possession of 
the Town that the Town is either prohibited from disclosing, is required to refuse to 
disclose or exercises its discretion to refuse under the Municipal Freedom of Information 
and Protection of Privacy Act, Personal Health Information Protection Act or other 
legislation, and information concerning matters that are considered in an in-camera 
meeting under section 239 of the Municipal Act, 2001. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure the security and confidentiality of records and personal information under the 
control of the Town. 
 
Procedure 
 
All employees must adhere to maintain the confidentiality of information that they learn 
in the course of their employment. 
 
All offers of employment are conditional upon the execution of the attached Pledge of 
Confidentiality. 
  
The Pledge of Confidentiality is signed, dated, witnessed, and placed in the individual’s 
personnel file. 
 
A refusal to sign the Pledge of Confidentiality, attached as Appendix A, voids and 
nullifies the offer of employment. 
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Human Resources – Employee Confidentiality Statement – 
Appendix A  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-01 Appendix A 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
PLEDGE OF CONFIDENTIALITY 


 
I, the undersigned, acknowledge and understand the following:   
 
That the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act provides 
standards for and requires administrative, technical and physical safeguards to ensure 
the security and confidentiality of records and personal information under control of the 
Town. 
 
That Ontario Regulation 823 requires that measures be taken to prevent unauthorized 
access to an institution’s records. 
 
I further acknowledge and understand that in the course of my work for the Town of 
Gananoque, I may have access to confidential, personal or health information pertaining 
to the Town, its clients, residents, the Town’s employees, auxiliary and volunteers, and 
members of the Town’s extended community.  This information may be in written, verbal 
or other form. 
 
I hereby agree to hold such information confidential and, except as may be required by 
law or as may be necessary in the performance of my duties, agree not to provide, 
access, use, disclose, release or make available such confidential, personal or health 
information to any person at any time without proper consent or authorization. 
 
In the event that I am in doubt as to whether certain information is confidential or not, I 
agree to seek direction from my supervisor before disclosing or releasing any such 
information. 
 
I further agree to take appropriate security measures to prevent unauthorized access to 
confidential, personal or health information. 
 
 
All external third party requests for confidential, personal or health information must be 
directed to the Freedom of Information Coordinator. 
 
Any misuse or unauthorized disclosure or release of confidential, personal or health 
information must immediately be reported to the Chief Administrative Officer. 
 
Any misuse or unauthorized disclosure or release of confidential, personal or health 
information shall be considered a breach of confidentiality. 
 
 
I understand and acknowledge that any misuse or unauthorized disclosure or release of 
confidential, personal or health information shall be considered a breach of 
confidentiality and grounds for discipline up to and including dismissal. 
 
I also understand and acknowledge that this Pledge shall survive the termination of my 
employment with the Town. 
 
 
Witness 
 
 


 Signature 


Date  Name (Print) 
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Human Resources –Employee Code of Conduct  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-02 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque acknowledges each member of our community, our staff and 
clients,  volunteers, and other members of our extended community is unique and must 
be treated with respect, dignity and compassion.  Each employee must carry out his/her 
duties and responsibilities in a manner that recognizes a fundamental commitment to 
the betterment of the community and the wellbeing of its residents and the public he/she 
serves. 
 
While it is not possible to cover every potential conflict of interest situation which might 
arise, this policy outlines the Town's expectations regarding real, potential and 
perceived conflicts of interest and the best interests of the Town. Employees with 
questions or who are unclear whether a real or potential conflict of interest exists are 
expected to discuss the situation with their Supervisor, Department Head or CAO. 
 
Objective 
 
To establish and communicate professional standards and guidelines that will assist 
employees of the Town of Gananoque in the discharge of their duties and establish the 
expectations in their dealings with residents, visitors, corporations and other business 
interests who have interaction with Town employees. 
 
Scope 
 
All Town employees are expected to meet a standard of conduct that exemplifies 
professional integrity, justice, respect, honesty and courtesy in the course of their work 
to ensure public confidence and trust is maintained. As such, all those covered by this 
policy are expected to serve the public well and respect the rights of others while 
discharging their duties on behalf of the Town. 
 
This policy is intended to foster a positive work environment and culture and is intended 
to supplement any other requirements imposed by applicable legislation, standards of 
professional practice or any other requirements imposed by relevant Town entities or 
departments. 
Note: For the entirety of this Policy, “Employee” refers to all employees, in all 
departments and locations. 
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Human Resources –Employee Code of Conduct  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-02 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
Interpretation: 
  
This Code is meant to support, but not replace, the use of good judgment regarding 
personal and professional conduct. The absence of a specific policy or regulation does 
not relieve any employee from the responsibility to exercise the highest standards in 
those situations. 
 
Definitions:  
Gift of Nominal Value: A gift or benefit not over the material threshold of twenty-five 
dollars ($25) such as mugs, pens or other small items with company logos, whether or 
not it was solicited or offered by an individual or business 
 
Roles and Responsibilities: 
Each employee shares the obligation of ensuring compliance with this Code and are 
required to address any situations of existing or potential non-compliance with the Code 
of which they suspect or become aware. For further information on the escalation 
procedures see “Disclosure” and “Non-Compliance”. 
 
Procedure:  
 
General Employee Responsibilities & Obligations:  
Town employees interact with each other, clients, residents, community agencies, 
contractors, suppliers and the public on a daily basis. Employees must be professional, 
polite, courteous and respectful in each of these interactions. Town employees acting 
on behalf of the Town are the ambassadors of the Town; thus, each one must be 
conscious of the Town’s public duty and his/her part in the discharge of that duty and is 
therefore expected to conduct himself/herself with the highest degree of ethical 
behaviour and integrity. 
 
All employees are expected to comply with all Town policies, procedures, rules, 
regulations and directives.  
 
Every employee makes an important contribution to the organization.  Employees are 
expected to work as team members and to listen to and value the input of other 
community members. 
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Human Resources –Employee Code of Conduct  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-02 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
Use of Town Property:  
Town property should solely be used for the discharge of official duties which are 
supported by Council unless elsewhere exempted by approved Policy, or with the 
approval of the Department Head and CAO. Examples of Town property include but are 
not limited to equipment, supplies or services for activities. 
 
Town assets are to remain on Town property at all times unless it is necessary to take 
the items off site to perform the employee’s job. When Town property is under 
employee care, the employee is accountable for keeping the items protected and 
secure at all times. 
 
The Town’s electronic networks are corporate assets and the employees must be aware 
that communications over the Town’s electronic networks are not to be considered 
private communications. Please refer to the Town’s “Appropriate Use, Care, and 
Security of Electronic Resources” Policy (Policy HR-200-09). 
 
Employees shall return all Town owned property upon termination of his/her 
employment. This would include but is not limited to items such as: employee 
identification tags, cellphone/smart phone, computer hardware and computer software 
and Town issued clothing, etc. 
 
Confidentiality:  
The privacy of each member of our community must be respected.  Please refer to the 
Town’s “Employee Confidentiality Statement” Policy (Policy HR-200-01). 
 
Workplace Health & Safety:  
It is the responsibility of all involved to create a safe work environment. All safety rules, 
policies and procedures must be followed. Employees are expected to immediately 
report any hazardous or unsafe equipment or situations to their Supervisor/Department 
Head who, in turn, is expected to act upon the report. 
  
Drug & Alcohol Abuse:  
To preserve the health, safety and well-being of employees and members of the public, 
the Town has zero tolerance for the use of, possession of, and those being under the 
influence of alcohol, narcotics, or non-medical drugs when reporting to work or while on 
duty, or on any premises or in any vehicle of the Corporation. 
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Human Resources –Employee Code of Conduct  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-02 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
Conflict of Interest:  
A conflict of interest is understood to occur if an individual’s personal affairs, business, 
or relationships overlap with their professional functions. To avoid any real or perceived 
conflict of interest, pecuniary interest or personal gain for the employee, their family or 
associates, an employee is not permitted to carry out any assigned duties for which a 
conflict of interest, or perceived conflict of interest, is present without prior disclosure to 
their Supervisor/Department Head. Employees are required to report all conflicts of 
interest which may come to their attention to their Supervisor/Department Head. Please 
refer to the “Disclosures” section on for reporting procedures. 
 
External Commitments:  
Employees are dedicated to ensuring the Town’s success in meeting its goals in the 
community. To ensure continued commitment to service levels, employees are 
expected to avoid other employment, business activity or other undertaking while on 
duty or if it interferes with the performance of his/her duties for the Town. Additionally, 
other employment or business activities should be avoided if it generates a conflict of 
interest, is in conflict with a by-law, policy, plan, or the interest of the Town, or if the 
individual derives some form of benefit by virtue solely of his/her employment with the 
Town. 
 
Other employment means working for another employer, being self-employed, or 
working for charitable or volunteer organizations which results in receiving or being 
eligible to receive profit, payment of compensation or other benefit from that employer 
or charity. 
 
Financial Benefit/Gifts:  
In order to preserve the integrity of the Town, gifts and benefits are not to be accepted 
over a material threshold of $25, whether or not it was solicited or offered by an 
individual or business. Employees must make decisions based on an impartial and 
objective assessment of each situation, free from the influence of gifts, favours, 
hospitality or entertainment. (Please refer to exceptions below) 
 
Employees must demonstrate transparency with regards to their relations with 
businesses and/or organizations who do business with the Town. No employee shall act 
as a paid agent before the Town or Council. 
 
Employees shall recognize the need for their decision-making and actions to be viewed 
and perceived as impartial and transparent by refraining from having any pecuniary 
association with any business or organization that has interactions with the Town in the 
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Human Resources –Employee Code of Conduct  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-02 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


conduct of their duties and responsibilities. This may include but not be restricted to 
borrowing or receiving money or gifts, directly or indirectly. Employees who believe they 
are placed in such a situation are expected to disclose the situation to their 
Supervisor/Department Head. 
 
In the case of attendance at a social or recreational event the employee is expected to 
utilize time off entitlements unless pre-approval has been granted by his/her 
Department Head or the CAO. 
 
Exceptions to Receipt of Financial Benefit/Gifts:  
Employees may accept gifts with a maximum value of $25, provided the gifts do not 
include money, cash, gift certificates, alcohol, services or other negotiable items.   
Employees who accept a gift which meets this criterion must report this to their 
Supervisor/Department Head.  However employees should not place themselves in a 
position where their loyalty or responsibility to the Town is viewed as being in jeopardy 
as a result of accepting gifts.  Employees who believe they are placed in such a 
situation are expected to disclose the situation to their Supervisor/Department Head.  
 
This shall not prohibit employees from receiving promotional gifts or benefits of nominal 
value (for example coffee mugs or pens with a company’s logo). It is also recognized 
that in the ordinary course of business it may be appropriate for a business or 
organization to pay for an employee’s lunch. Receipt of such a gift or benefit in the 
course of business will not be considered a breach of these rules assuming that such 
receipt is infrequent, (as defined by less than three times per year by the same 
business) and nominal in nature (defined by less than $100 in value). All nominal gifts 
shall exclude alcohol. 
 
Employees will not benefit from the use of information acquired or used, and that is not 
generally available to the public, during the course of official duties. 
 
Public Engagements:  
No employee shall charge a fee for taking part, during paid working hours, in a public 
speaking engagement such as a public radio/television broadcast, web site broadcast or 
conference to which he or she was invited as a direct result of his or her position as an 
employee. Accepting a nominal gift for a speaking engagement during paid working 
hours is not a violation of this policy. It is not a violation of the policy for employees to 
charge or accept a fee for speaking engagements during time off work which is unpaid 
unless such employees are representing the Town. 
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Human Resources –Employee Code of Conduct  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-02 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


All requests that employees are invited to speak at a public engagement as a result of 
the discharge of duties as a Town employee must be pre-approved by his/her 
Department Head. 
 
Political Neutrality:  
Employees are entitled to exercise their right to support or be involved in the political 
campaign of a municipal, provincial or federal candidate or party, provided they do so 
on personal time and do not hold themselves out as representatives of the Town. 
However, employees must be politically neutral in their official employment duties in 
order to sustain public trust in local government. Employees should obtain approval of 
senior management prior to speaking publicly on a matter where they may be perceived 
to be representing municipal policy. 
 
Employees are permitted to participate in any campaign or political activity provided 
they do so outside of normal working hours or during an authorized leave of absence 
without pay for this purpose. Such activity must be as a citizen and not as a 
representative of the Town, whether real or perceived. 
 
Employees shall treat all members of Council with professionalism and courtesy but 
must not favour, nor be seen to favour, the interests of one Councillor or other elected 
official over the interests of Council as a whole. Employees shall observe the approved 
processes the Town has implemented for reporting confidential information and other 
matters to Council.  
 
Social Media:  
The use of social media to promote, discuss or converse about Town business or 
events will be utilized by approved staff members only. 
 
The use of social media by employees for personal use or non-approved use at work is 
not authorized. 
 
It is the expectation of the Town that all employees will ensure that appropriate, 
supportive and positive comments be included on social media when referring to the 
Town. 
 
Unlawful Activity/ Fraud/ Breach of Trust:  
Employees shall not engage in behaviour that is fraudulent or that constitutes a breach 
of trust with the Town.  A fraudulent activity includes, but is not limited to: 
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• Using deceit to gain a personal advantage, pecuniary interest or benefit for 
oneself and/or others; 


• Illegally obtaining money, including the solicitation and/or acceptance of bribes or 
favours; 


• Intentionally providing false or incomplete or withholding information from Council 
and/or Town officials; 


• Intentionally circumventing Town policies or procedures to gain a personal 
advantage for oneself and/or others; 


• Planning or participating in a theft of Town property, or the use of said property to 
aid or conduct a theft of any kind; 


• Inappropriate personal use of or intentional damage of Town property; 
• Undertaking any other illegal activity. 
• Employees, when speaking publicly, whether on Town time or their own time 


should speak in a manner that supports the policies, procedures and general 
environment of the Town of Gananoque. 


 
Disclosure:  
Whenever an employee considers that he or she could be involved in a conflict of 
interest, whether real or perceived, or in any matter associated with this policy, the 
employee shall immediately disclose the situation to his/her Department Head or the 
CAO in writing. 
 
Any employee, Council member, or a member of the public has the right to identify any 
alleged non-compliance. Should an employee witness one of these actions taking place 
(or believe that it is occurring), he/she is obliged to report the issue to their Department 
Head. In cases where the Department Head is the person conducting the inappropriate 
behaviour, the employee will report the issue to the next level of supervision up to and 
including to the CAO. In the case of a matter involving the CAO, the matter shall be 
reported to the Mayor or member of Council. 
 
Employees will be corporately protected from any form of reprisal for reporting improper 
behaviour. Nor shall an employee experience any discriminatory or other unfavourable 
treatment; be overlooked for promotions or future employment considerations; or have 
their existing position terminated providing that the allegations are not ultimately found 
to be intentionally malicious or frivolous in nature. 
 
Non-Compliance:  
Upon receipt of an alleged contravention, the CAO in consultation with the employee’s 
Department Head will, determine the form of the investigation to be conducted. 
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Additionally, the CAO will consult with the Department Head and Human Resources, 
should the contravention be verified, to determine the appropriate action, taking into 
account the circumstances. 
 
Any transgression of a legal nature will be reported to the appropriate police authority. 
 
Failure to comply with this or any other Town policy may result in discipline up to and 
including termination as per the HR-300-01 Discipline Policy. 
 
Declaration: All employees are required to review and acknowledge their understanding 
of this policy by signing the declaration form (Appendix A). 
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DECLARATION 


 
I, the undersigned, acknowledge and understand the following:   
 
That I have received a copy of the Employee Code of Conduct Policy HR-200-02 and 
that I have read and understand the contents of this policy. 
 
That the Employee Code of Conduct Policy HR-200-02 outlines the expectations of my 
conduct as an employee of the Town of Gananoque and that I will abide by this policy. 
 
That I have been given the opportunity to ask questions and seek any clarification 
regarding the Employee Code of Conduct Policy HR-200-02. 
 
That any breach or contravention of the Employee Code of Conduct Policy HR-200-02 
will be considered as grounds for discipline up to and including dismissal. 
 
 
 
Witness 
 
 


 Employee Signature 


Date  Employee Name (Print) 
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WHEREAS the Municipal Act S.O. 2001, Chapter 25 requires each municipality to have 
policies in place with respect to recruitment, selection and hiring to meet the needs of 
the Corporation; and 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque deems it 
advisable to adopt policies with respect to the hiring of employees;    
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque enacts 
as follows: 
 
Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque adopts the following procedures for hiring to facilitate 
consistent and fair hiring practices. These procedures may only be bypassed where the 
operational or staffing needs of the Town so require and where the Chief Administrative 
Officer (CAO) grants approval. The Town reserves the right to appoint, on a temporary 
or permanent basis, employees to managerial or supervisory positions. 
 
The Town is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate in the hiring 
process based on the protected grounds, as defined in the Human Rights Code, subject 
to requirements, qualifications or factors that are reasonable and bona fide in the 
circumstances. The Town of Gananoque complies with all applicable Provincial 
Legislation in relation to employment and employment opportunities. Examples are: 
Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA), Integrated Accessibility 
Standards Regulation (IASR), Ontario Human Rights Code and the Employment 
Standards Act. 
 
Scope 
 
This policy applies to all hiring within the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque with 
the exception of the Police Services Board which has specified procedures for 
recruitment, selection and hiring under the Police Services Act and the Gananoque 
Professional Firefighters Association which has a specified recruitment process.  This 
Policy shall be applied to union or bargaining unit employees in accordance with the 
applicable Collective Agreement. In the event of a discrepancy, the collective 
agreement shall take precedence over this policy. 
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Objective 
 
The Town’s objective is always to hire the best qualified applicant. The selection 
process will be based on a number of factors, including qualifications, education, 
experience, skill, training, suitability and ability to perform the work. 
 
Procedure 
 
Prior to a position being posted, the following steps shall be undertaken: 
 


1. A review of actual staffing, position requirements and need for the position; 
2. A review of existing job description; if a new position, preparation of job 


description; 
3. A review or determination of salary range and point level; 
4. Receive approval of Council if a new position or to fill a statutory position. 
 


Internal Search 
 
It is the Town’s policy to make the best efforts to promote qualified internal candidates 
from within the organization when a vacancy or new position exists. 
 
No employee shall be promoted without his/her consent. 
 
Employees who are awarded and accept a promotion may be required to serve a six (6) 
month probationary period. 
 
All internal postings will include a statement about the availability of accommodation for 
applicants with disabilities during the recruitment process. 
 


• The position will be posted for ten (10) calendar days and on bulletin boards in all 
facilities where staff are positioned 


• Each posting will contain a deadline date and time for submission and shall state 
the title, department and a copy of the job description which outlines the duties, 
qualifications and experience necessary for the position. 


• Employees are required to submit a cover letter and resume to the posted 
position outlining how they meet the qualifications of the position.  Only 
employees who apply and meet the qualifications of the position will be 
considered for an interview. 


 2/7  







 
 
   
Human Resources – Recruitment   


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-200-03 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


• No applications will be accepted after the deadline or through a manner not 
prescribed on the job posting. 


 
External Search 
 
The Town promotes hiring from within for all positions; however we maintain the right to 
concurrently advertise job competitions internally and externally to optimize every 
opportunity to acquire the best candidate(s).   
 
If qualified internal applicants apply during a concurrent posting, the Town employee will 
be interviewed to determine suitability prior to any external interviews being conducted. 
 
Human Resources and the Department Head will determine the composition of a 
suitable advertisement, the market to be pursued and the carrier.  Every effort should be 
made to advertise in a newspaper having general circulation within the Town.  Wider 
circulation may be suitable depending on the position.  For positions requiring specific 
municipal experience, the area of search shall be wide enough to attract suitable 
candidates, i.e. Association websites or municipal specific websites.   
 
All advertisements will include the Town’s logo and the statements "An Equal 
Opportunity Employer”, “Only Those Applicants Selected for an Interview will be 
Contacted” and “Information collected will be used in accordance with the Municipal 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act for the purpose of candidate 
selection.”   All external postings will include a statement about the availability of 
accommodation for applicants with disabilities during the recruitment process. 
 
All advertisements will carry a job reference number and applicants will be required to 
submit a cover letter and resume.  
 
All Town of Gananoque external competitions will be posted on the Town’s website 
(www.gananoque.ca).  
 
External advertisements will be posted for at least ten (10) calendar days, or as 
otherwise determined.  Each posting will contain a deadline date and time for 
submission.  No applications will be accepted after the deadline or through a manner 
not prescribed on the job posting. 
 
Human Resources staff will screen all applicants and develop a short list of qualified 
candidates for review by the Department Head. Only applicants meeting the position's 
qualifications will be placed on the short list for further consideration.  
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The Town reserves the right to waive qualifications as it deems appropriate. (Examples 
may include but are not limited to under-fill, number of applicants and labour market 
conditions). 
 
Interview Format 
 
Non-union positions: Will be conducted by an interview panel which includes: Human 
Resources and management representative(s). 
 
The CAO interview will be conducted by Council and a third party consultant if 
appropriate. 
 
Unionized positions: Will be determined if an interview panel is required or if the position 
will be filled through the seniority process. At least one member of the panel will be a 
manager or member of the department where the vacancy occurs.  
 
The CAO reserves the right to substitute panel members where appropriate. 
 
Panel members whose participation in an interview could result in a conflict of interest 
must disclose the details of the conflict of interest to the CAO prior to commencing in 
the interview process. Upon review of the disclosure a new member can be selected 
and a substitute panel member can be chosen. All conflicts and substitute panel 
members will be discussed with the CAO for approval. 
 
A conflict of interest may include, but is not limited to situations where a panel member’s 
personal and/or business activities and interest may be perceived to be in conflict with 
those of the Town. 
 
From the short list of applicants, the Department Head will identify those candidates to 
be interviewed. Human Resources will schedule interviews with the selected candidates 
in consultation with the Department Head. 
 
An applicant who requests an accommodation relevant to their needs to participate fully 
in the selection process will be reviewed by Human Resources. 
 
Human Resources shall consult with the applicant and provide or arrange for the 
provisions of a suitable accommodation in a manner that takes into account the 
applicant’s accessibility needs due to disability. 
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All candidates interviewed will be required to provide, at the time of their interview, a list 
of three (3) references. Reference checks must include:  


1. One reference from the most current employer; 
2. One from the most recent past employer; 
3. A coworker who worked directly with the applicant is permissible; 
4. Personal references will not be accepted. 


 
A reference check will not be conducted without first obtaining the written authorization 
of the applicant. 
 
Following the interview and selection of a preferred candidate, Human Resources staff 
or the Department Head, or designate, will contact the references of the preferred 
candidate and report the results to the Department Head before an offer of employment 
is made. 
 
Hiring 
 
The final decision to hire shall be made by the Interview Committee and the appropriate 
Department Head based on the results of the interview, necessary testing and reference 
checks. 
 
Council approves the hiring of the CAO. 
 
Offers of Employment 
 
Human Resources, or designate, will make an offer of employment verbally followed up 
in writing to the successful candidate.  All offers of employment will be conditional upon: 
 


a) Provision of a valid Criminal Record Check which is acceptable and satisfactory 
to the Town as per Town policy HR-200-11; 


b) Provision of a Driver’s Abstract at the candidate’s expense as required for 
position’s outlined in Town policy, which is acceptable and satisfactory to the 
Town; 


c) Successful completion of any pre-employment assessments at the designated 
provider of such services if required; 


d) Provision of proof of any certification, registration, license, or training that may be 
required; 


e) Any other considerations that may be appropriate; 
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Medical testing may be required where it is deemed to be a Bona Fide Occupational 
requirement as outlined in the job description. 
 
Where applicable, the Corporation’s insurer has the right to request a medical history or 
a physical in order to ensure coverage.  Such expenses shall be covered by the 
employee. 
 
When making an offer of employment the employer will notify the successful applicant 
of its policies for accommodating employees with disabilities. 
 
Once the offer of employment has been accepted, and all conditions of employment 
have been met, the new employee will be referred to their supervisor for orientation. 
 
Post Evaluation 
 
Human Resources or designate will notify unsuccessful applicants interviewed in 
writing. 
 
Human Resources or designate shall conduct post evaluation reviews with candidates if 
requested. 
 
Hiring of Relatives 
 
Members of the same family are permitted to work for the Corporation provided they 
possess the necessary qualifications for the position, and there is no direct supervisory 
relationship between the employees. 
 
Should employees marry or become members of the same household after becoming 
employed by the Corporation, they may continue their employment as long as there is 
no direct reporting relationship between the two employees. 
 
No member of Council, local board member or staff member, who is related to a 
potential applicant for a position within the Corporation, shall be involved in the relevant 
position interview process. 
 
An external applicant or current employee will be considered for hiring or promotion in a 
department in which a relative of that person is a supervisor, or in circumstances where 
a relative of that person may be supervised by the applicant only after review by the 
CAO or Council when dealing positions that report to the CAO. The circumstances and 
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other relevant information will be fully investigated and provisions may be put into place 
as necessary. 
 
For the purpose of this policy, a ‘relative’ is defined as a spouse, same-sex partner, 
child, step-child, parent, step-parent or sibling of an employee.  
 
Unsolicited Resumes 
 
Applicants must apply for a posted position.  Unsolicited resumes will not be accepted 
unless an exception has been made, in writing, by the CAO.  Unsolicited resumes 
received by the Town will not be kept on file. 
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Policy  
 
It is recognized that in any organization, it is difficult to avoid occasional complaints and 
misunderstandings.  The Town of Gananoque wants these complaints and 
misunderstandings reported and resolved promptly. 
 
Employees of the Town shall have an avenue to express their concerns regarding their 
work assignments and work environment that are not subject to grievance. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure employees can express concerns that are not subject to grievance. 
 
To ensure follow-up to employee concerns as required. 
 
Procedure 
 
If an employee has a concern that is not subject to a grievance he/she shall report it 
following the chain of command: 
 


a) Report it to the Supervisor  
b) Report it to the Department Head/CAO 
c) Report it to the Mayor or member of Council when dealing with the CAO 


 
If a concern is related to another staff member, employees should always attempt to 
discuss concerns with the other party where applicable, in an appropriate manner, 
before filing a formal concern. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque adheres to the Municipal Freedom of Information and 
Protection of Privacy Act (hereinafter the Act) in the collection, use, disclosure, and 
disposal of personal employee information. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure that procedural guidelines are in place with respect to the collection, use and 
disclosure of employee information and to protect and control the privacy and use of 
such. 
 
Procedure 
 
Personal employee information includes any recorded information about an identifiable 
employee, including information: 
 


• Relating to the employee’s race, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion, age, 
sex, sexual orientation, marital or family status, political beliefs, or associations 


• Relating to the employee’s education or medical, psychiatric, psychological, 
criminal, or employment history 


• Relating to financial transactions in which the employee has been involved 
• Any identifying numbers assigned to the employee 
• The employee’s personal address, telephone number, fingerprints, or blood type 


of the employee 
• The employee's personal opinions or views, except if they relate to another 


employee 
• The views or opinions of another individual about the employee, e.g. personal 


recommendations, evaluations, or character references 
 
The Act limits the rights of institutions to collect and retain personal information about 
individuals.  The Town shall comply with the Act as it relates to the collection and 
retention of personal information. 
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Access 
 
An employee may access his/her personnel record by making an appointment with 
Human Resources.  The employee will be supervised by assigned staff while he/she 
reviews his/her record.  There will be a sign-off sheet within the file to document the 
dates of access. 
 
An employee can access all personal information in his personnel record with the 
following exceptions: 
 


• Information collected in a reference check if the disclosure reveals the identity of 
the information source, and the source expected that his/her identity would be 
held in confidence  


• Information that would disclose personal information about another individual  
 
Employees shall have access to other employees' personal information only on a need-
to-know basis, and only as is necessary to the performance of their duties. 
 
An employee can request a correction of his/her personal information if there is an error 
or omission or, alternatively, he/she may require that a statement of disagreement be 
attached. 
 
Disclosure 
 
The Town will only disclose personal employee information to external individuals 
and/or organizations under the following circumstances: 
  


• If the employee has consented to its disclosure; 
• For the purpose for which it was obtained or compiled or for a consistent 


purpose; 
• As may be required by law; 
• In compelling circumstances affecting the health and safety of an individual if, 


upon disclosure, notification is mailed to the last known address of the employee 
to whom the information relates;  


• In compassionate circumstances, in order to facilitate contact with next-of-kin or 
a friend of an individual who is injured, ill, or deceased; or 


• As may otherwise be permitted by the Act. 
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Reference Requests 
 
If an organization contacts any employee of the Town for reference information 
regarding a current employee or former employee of the Town, the request must be 
forwarded to the Manager of the employee or former employee.  At the determination of 
the Manager, the appropriate supervisory or management staff member will disclose 
information only if the employee has given permission in writing to do so. 
 
Answers provided during references should be based on performance which has been 
documented and can be substantiated. 
 
If a reference check is sought for an employee who has been terminated, or where 
employment ended on unsatisfactory conditions this request should be forwarded to 
Human Resources.  
 
Confirmation of Employment/Salary 
 
Consistent with the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, the Town will 
not disclose salary or employment information to a third party. 
 
Where an employee requires confirmation of their employment with the 
Town they are to request such from Human Resources.  Requests for verification of 
salary and employment must be made by the employee in writing to Human Resources.  
 
Human Resources will prepare written confirmation of salary and employment 
addressed to the employee for his/her release to the third party.  
 
Verbal confirmations can be provided by Human Resources or a designate provided the 
employee has provided written authorization. 
 
Safekeeping 
 
Reasonable measures shall be implemented to prevent unauthorized access to 
personal employee information and to protect personal employee information from 
inadvertent destruction and/or damage. 
 
Inquiries 
 
Inquiries relating to this Policy should be referred to the CAO who will determine the 
nature of the request and respond appropriately. 
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Policy  
 
It is the policy of the Town of Gananoque to establish job descriptions for each 
employee category. 
 
Objective 
 
To establish minimum guidelines for qualifications and the job expectations for each 
staff category. 
 
Procedure 
 
Job descriptions shall be developed by Human Resources in conjunction with the senior 
management team.  Job descriptions are reviewed as needed by the management team 
or on an annual basis. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque shall maintain personnel records that contain documentation 
regarding all aspects of employees’ employment and records required by law. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure the effective compilation, organization and confidentiality of personnel 
records. 
 
Procedure 
 
The Town recognizes its responsibility for safeguarding personnel records, which shall 
be kept in locked files.  
 
It is the responsibility of each employee to promptly notify the Town, in writing, of any 
changes to information pertinent to his/her personnel file, including changes to the 
employee’s home address, telephone number, marital status, or emergency contacts. 
 
Registered, certified, licensed or similarly qualified employees are required to submit 
proof of registration, certification, license or other similar qualification to their supervisor 
for filing in the employee’s personnel record.  Failure by the employee to produce such 
documentation upon request will be considered just cause for termination of 
employment.   
 
Employees shall be responsible to submit to their supervisor, annual renewals, if 
applicable, of such documentation.  Failure to produce such documentation will be 
considered just cause for termination of employment.  
 
The employee’s personnel file will contain: 
 


a) Job description, interview information, letter of offer, employee photograph; 
b) Criminal reference check; 
c) Education/qualification documents required; 
d) Payroll, health benefit and pension information; 
e) Sign-off sheets – keys, identification cards, electronic equipment, etc.; 
f) Letters of counseling and discipline; 
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g) Performance appraisals; 
h) Leave of absence requests and responses; 
i) Other information as identified for this file; 


 
Separate files will be kept to contain such records as attendance, WSIB, grievance, etc. 
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Policy  
 
Orientation programs assist staff in understanding the mission and philosophy of the 
organization and, as a result, encourage commitment to the organization.  They also 
play an integral part in new employees understanding their role in the organization.  As 
an ongoing process, orientation begins during recruitment and selection and continues 
as needed throughout the individual’s employment.  The Town of Gananoque supports 
this process with an orientation program for new staff members. 
 
Objective 
 
• To make workers and co-workers see hiring and orientation as a positive 


experience. 
 


• To excite new hires about their new job and excite the team about the new hire 
 


• Give new hires the information they need to eliminate barriers to good performance. 
 


• Eliminate resignation and retention issues. 
 


• Identify expectations of the new hire so managers and the team can manage them. 
 


• Get other workers involved in the orientation and retention of a new hire. 
 


• Give the Town of Gananoque an advantage over other employers by “celebrating” 
our new hires. 


 
Procedure 
 
The new hire shall be provided an orientation package upon acceptance of the job offer.  
The orientation package will include all employment related paperwork, such as payroll 
& benefits information, policies and procedures, and any other pertinent information 
applicable to their position. 
 
Each new hire will be scheduled for orientation prior to commencing employment.  As 
soon as practicable after the employee starts, the new employee will be required to 
complete any legislated mandatory training. 
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The employee’s supervisor will review the General Orientation Checklist with the new 
hire.  On completion of the list, the employee will sign to indicate that all areas have 
been reviewed. 
 
Supervisor’s will ensure that all new employees will be made aware of the Town health 
& safety policies and procedures, as well as departmental and position specific health & 
safety practices. 
 
The completed checklist and pledge of confidentiality, code of conduct sign off and 
policies and procedures sign off will be filed in the employee’s personnel file. 
 
The department supervisor will ensure that a departmental specific orientation is 
provided to the new hire within two weeks of his/her start date. 
 
As part of the probationary period performance review, a follow up questionnaire will be 
provided to the employee regarding the orientation experience and what he/she has 
learned throughout the probationary period. 
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Policy  
 
The Town’s electronic resources have been acquired, and are allocated/provided/made 
accessible to individuals and groups, for specific purposes necessary to carry out the 
business of the Town.  All users must ensure that the Town’s electronic resources are 
used in an appropriate, ethical, and lawful manner.  The Town expects all users to 
conduct themselves according to the highest standards of professional ethics and 
behaviour appropriate for a government agency.   
 
The Employee Code of Conduct HR-200-02 policy will apply to all staff, students, 
volunteers and all other users.  Electronic resources shall be understood to include 
servers, desktop computers, laptop computers, tough books, tablets, telephones, 
cellular phones, personal digital assistant devices (PDAs), smart phones, software, 
corporate data, all electronic storage devices, etc. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure the appropriate use and security of electronic resources. 
 
Procedure 
 
Users will agree to use all electronic resources solely for appropriate purposes as a 
condition of access.  
 
The inappropriate use of any electronic resources will not be tolerated.  Some examples 
of inappropriate use are found in Appendix A.  This is not to be taken as an exhaustive 
list.  Users found to have breached this Policy are subject to the full range of disciplinary 
procedures up to and including dismissal.  
 
All users will be informed about this Policy during orientation, ensuring that all users 
receive instruction on what constitutes appropriate and inappropriate use of the 
electronic resources, and on what to do if notified or become aware of any inappropriate 
usage.  The acknowledgement form, found in Appendix B, will normally be presented for 
signature before granting access to the equipment.  
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Users’ assigned specific electronic resources shall take every effort to ensure the 
security of the hardware, software and all file information.   
 
System Monitoring 
 
Users expressly waive any right of privacy in anything they create, store, send or 
receive on the Town of Gananoque’s computer systems.  The Town of Gananoque can 
monitor emails without notice.   
 
Communication of Trade Secrets 
 
Unless expressly authorized to do so, Users are prohibited from sending, transmitting or 
otherwise distributing proprietary information, data, trade secrets or other confidential 
information belonging to the Town of Gananoque.  Unauthorized dissemination of such 
material may result in disciplinary action as well as substantial civil and criminal 
penalties under Provincial and Federal Economic Espionage laws. 
 
Email Disclaimer 
 
All Users will include the following disclaimer on all emails: 
 
Disclaimer: This e-mail and any attachments may contain personal information or 
information that is otherwise confidential and is intended for the exclusive use of the 
intended recipient. The contents hereof are protected under the rights and privileges of 
the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy legislation. If you are 
not the intended recipient, any use, disclosure or copying of any part of it is prohibited.  
The Town of Gananoque accepts no liability for damage caused by any virus 
transmitted in this message. If this e-mail is received in error, please immediately reply 
advising of the error, and delete or destroy any copies of it. The transmission of e-mails 
between an employee or agent of the Town of Gananoque and a third party does not 
constitute a binding contract without the express written consent of an authorized 
representative of The Corporation of the Town of Gananoque. 
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INAPPROPRIATE USE OF ELECTRONIC RESOURCES 


 
All users of the Town’s electronic resources are responsible for ensuring the integrity of 
the resources being used and that the uses to which these resources are put are for the 
advancement of Town business.  
  
During non-work periods, users may make limited and reasonable personal use of the 
Town’s electronic resources.  Reasonable is defined at the sole discretion of the 
Employer and is not negotiable.  Should a user incur any financial cost to the Town as a 
result of personal use of electronic resources, including but not limited to telephones, 
computers, etc., the user shall promptly acknowledge such costs and reimburse the 
Town immediately. 
 
All other uses of the Town’s electronic resources are deemed inappropriate.  Specific 
examples include but are not limited to: 
 
(a) Using electronic resources for purposes other than those for which they were 


allocated. 
 
(b) Engaging in illegal activities. 
 
(c) Failing to maintain the confidentiality of passwords. 
 
(d) Downloading or transferring software of any type onto any electronic resources 


unless specific authority has been provided in writing by the user’s Department Head 
or designate. 


 
(e) Saving or transferring files of any type onto or from any electronic resources unless 


such action is clearly required in the performance of duties defined by the position 
description or terms of reference, written or inferred. 


 
(f) Using a computer account without authorization or providing computing resources to 


individuals or groups without the specific authorization of the relevant Department 
Head or designate. 


 
(g) Unauthorized sharing, inspecting, altering, deleting, obtaining copies of, publishing, 


or otherwise tampering with files, programs or passwords that the individual is both 
authorized and not authorized to access.  
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(h) Using electronic resources, particularly electronic mail, web servers and bulletin 


boards, to send fraudulent, harassing or obscene messages. 
 
(i) Developing or using programs that harass other users or that damage the software 


or hardware components of the electronic resources and/or placing any destructive 
or nuisance programs, such as viruses, in the electronic resources. 


 
(j) Attempting to circumvent security systems on any electronic resource. 
 
(k) Compromising or attempting to compromise the integrity of the electronic resources 


by accessing or attempting access or alteration of system control programs or files. 
 
(l) Using unlicensed or unauthorized copies of computer software or unauthorized file 


storage devices. 
 
(m)Breaching the terms and conditions of a software licensing agreement to which the 


Town is a party. 
 
(n) Theft or misappropriation of electronic resources, such as equipment, data, and 


programs.  The loss of work time during the inappropriate use of the Town’s 
electronic resources may also be deemed to be theft. 


 
(o) Engaging in any action which unfairly denies or restricts the use of electronic 


resources to authorized users.  
 
Any of the following activities are deemed to be inappropriate uses: 
 
(a) Unlawfully accessing, destroying or altering electronic records not approved for 


access by the user. 
 
(b) Defaming other persons (e.g., spreading false allegations or rumours about others). 
 
(c) Disclosing electronic records containing personal information, business trade 


secrets, or classified government information to unauthorized persons. 
 
(d) Unlawfully exporting encryption software (e.g., putting it on the Internet without an 


export permit). 
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(e) Misusing passwords, encryption keys, or computer service accounts (e.g., obtaining 
money, goods, or services through false representation made on a computer 
system; using another person’s password or encryption keys; gaining access to 
computer services where the person has no right of access; any acts of fraudulent 
behaviour). 


 
(f) Electronic gambling. 
 
(g) Making, possessing, or distributing computer programs that are designed to assist in 


obtaining unlawful access to computer systems (hacking and trafficking). 
 
(h) Harassing other persons electronically (e.g., making threats to a person’s safety or 


property). 
 
(i) Wilfully promoting hatred against any identifiable group or individual by 


communicating such statements outside of private conversations. 
 
(j) Infringing intellectual property rights. 
 
(k) Collecting, transmitting, storing or exchanging information in violation or any 


applicable law or regulation. 
 
(l) Damaging, interfering or disrupting others’ lawful use of data and computers/cell 


phones (e.g. – spreading viruses with intent to cause harm, encrypting, altering, or 
destroying data with intent to make it inaccessible to others with a lawful need to 
access it) 


 
(m)Fraudulent or negligent misrepresentation. 
 
(n) Possessing or distributing pornography; disseminating obscene materials. 


 
(o) Intercepting private communications and unlawfully obtaining access to personal 


information. 
 
If any user becomes aware of another person using the Town’s electronic resources 
inappropriately, that user is obliged to disclose such knowledge to his/her Department 
Head or designate or the CAO without delay.  Any user failing to report such 
inappropriate use will be deemed to have personally used the Town’s electronic 
resources inappropriately.   
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Electronic Resources Acknowledgement Form 
(Return this page only to Human Resources.  This page will be retained in your 


personnel file.) 
 
By signing below, I, _________________________________, agree to the following 
terms: 
 
I have received, read, and understood the Appropriate Use, Care and Security of 
Electronic Resources Policy, including Appendix A; 
 
I understand that all electronic resources made available or accessible to me by the 
Town of Gananoque must be used appropriately by me at all times.  
 
I understand that all electronic resources made available or accessible to me are owned 
by the Town of Gananoque and may be monitored without prior notice. 
 
I understand and agree that the electronic resources provided to me by or to which I 
have access from the Town of Gananoque may contain confidential information related 
to the Town, and that this is and remains the property of the Town at all times; 
 
I understand that all passwords assigned or chosen by me must be kept confidential 
from all others.  I further understand that it is my responsibility to immediately report to 
my Department Head or designate if I believe any of my passwords or the passwords of 
any others have been compromised; 
 
I agree that, if I leave the Town of Gananoque for any reason, I shall immediately return 
to the Town all electronic resources that have been assigned to me or are in my 
possession including any file storage media; 
 
I understand that should any electronic resources assigned to me or in my possession 
become lost or stolen, I must provide a copy of the police report to the Town, as 
appropriate.  Otherwise, I may be held responsible for the full cost of replacement; and, 
 
I understand that failure to follow the Appropriate Use, Care and Security or Electronic 
Resources Policy at any time may result in disciplinary action up to and including 
dismissal. 
 
 
 
Signed on: ________________________________ 
               (Date) 
 
 
Print Name:      Signature: 
 
____________________________  ________________________________ 
 
 
Print Name (Witness):    Signature: 
 
____________________________  ________________________________ 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to establishing a professional/business casual 
dress code which allows our employees to work comfortably in the workplace yet still 
project a professional image for Council, customers, potential employees and 
community visitors.  
 
The key point to sustaining professional/business casual work attire is to use common 
sense, good judgment and applying a dress practice that is conducive to our business 
environment. 
 
To assure compliance with the requirements of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 
Section 28(1)(b) of that Act states, “the employee will use or wear the equipment or 
clothing that the employer requires to be worn.” Further, the ’so-called general clause’ 
Section 25(2)(h) of the Act requires the employer to “ take every precaution reasonable 
under the circumstances for the protection of the worker.” 
 
The Town is committed to providing and maintaining a safe healthy workplace 
environment by requiring employees to wear specific uniforms and/or safety apparel 
appropriate to duties assigned to their position.  
 
Objective 
 
To provide direction to employees as to a dress code that projects a neat, professional 
and safety conscious manner appropriate to duties assigned to their position. 
 
Procedure 
 
Where the terms of a collective agreement differ from this policy, the collective 
agreement will apply. 
 
Employees representing the Town at Council or a committee meeting should dress in 
business attire. 
 
Fridays are designated as ‘Casual Day’ and jeans are permitted.  In the spirit of 
flexibility, keep in mind that business reasons (public meeting, outside meeting) may 
dictate that formal business attire or business-appropriate attire be worn on Casual Day. 
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The Town will take an employee’s religion, ethnicity, or disability into consideration as it 
pertains to personal dress and/or grooming.   
 
Clothing bearing offensive language or logos that are, or could be seen by others, as 
profane, racist, sexist or discriminatory in nature are not permitted. 
 
If an item of clothing is deemed to be inappropriate by the employee’s supervisor, 
Department Heads or the CAO, the employee may be sent home to change clothes or 
will be asked not to wear the inappropriate item to work again. 
 
Scent Free Awareness 
 
Support in limiting or eliminating use of scented personal care products whenever 
possible at your work site and meetings. Choose unscented alternatives that are 
available when possible. By making these choices, you will contribute to promoting 
health and wellness for all staff. 
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Criminal Record/Conviction Declaration 
 


Name: __________________________________________  
(Please Print in UPPER CASE) 


 
 
I DECLARE that since the last Criminal Record Background Check (CPIC) produced for 
myself: 
 
PART A (Check applicable box) 
 
 I have no convictions under the Criminal Code of Canada up to and including the 


date of this declaration for which a pardon has not been issued or granted under 
the Criminal Records Act (Canada); or 
 


 I have the following convictions for offences under the Criminal Code of Canada 
for which a pardon has not been issued or granted under the Criminal Records 
Act (Canada). (List convictions in Part B below under “List of Convictions”) 


 
PART B (If applicable, please complete) 
 


List of Convictions:  (If more than two (2) convictions, please number and list 
the following information [a), b) and c)] on the reverse 
side.   Additional page(s) can be added if required). 


 
1. a) Conviction:    


___________________________________________________ 


 
b) Date Registered:   


___________________________________________________ 


 
c) Court Location:   


___________________________________________________ 
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2. a) Conviction:            


___________________________________________________ 


 
b) Date Registered:   


___________________________________________________ 


 
c) Court Location:   


___________________________________________________ 


 
PART C (Check all boxes) 


 
 I shall immediately notify my Employer, the Corporation of the Town of 


Gananoque, upon any conviction(s) being registered against me under the 
Criminal Code of Canada, in accordance with policy; and 
 


 I understand that my failure to fully disclose information in accordance with the 
above declaration may result in my employment being terminated by the 
Corporation of the Town of Gananoque. 


 
Signature:  ___________________________________________ 
 
Declared before me at Gananoque, ON, this ______ day of ______________, 20___. 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________  


Signature – Commissioner of Oaths                             Seal of the Corporation of The    
Town of Gananoque 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to providing effective municipal services and 
ensuring legislative requirements are met when hiring staff and placing volunteers who 
will be serving the public. 
 
Vulnerable Sector 
 
Each identified position meets the criterion that requires a vulnerable sector Criminal 
Background Check. Therefore each employee in the identified positions and/or 
volunteer who meets the criteria will be required to obtain a Criminal Record 
Background Check and a Vulnerable Sector Check (CPIC) as per legislative 
requirements.  This applies to: 
 


(i) Town of Gananoque employees 18 years of age and older in the following 
positions: 


 
Parks, Recreation and Marina Manager 
Marina and Recreation Coordinator 
Recreation Summer Students & 
Seasonal Staff 
Fire Chief 
Firefighter 
Chief Building Official  


 
(ii) All volunteers and placement students who are 18 years of age and older, where 


it is deemed necessary due to the nature of their assigned duties. 
 
All other positions not listed above will be required to provide a standard criminal record 
background check (CPIC) in accordance with the timeframes listed in this policy. 
 
Objective 
 
The Town’s objective in requiring a criminal record check as a condition of employment 
acknowledges the high volume of confidential, personal and sensitive information dealt 
with by the Town and the nature of the many vulnerable populations served. By 
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ensuring all employees and volunteers have an acceptable and satisfactory criminal 
record check and in some positions that they are declared suitable for vulnerable sector 
employment, the employer can be confident that it is addressing this aspect of 
employee/volunteer suitability consistently and thereby protecting the interests of the 
Town. 
 
Procedure 
 
Any costs associated with obtaining the pre-employment/pre-volunteer criminal record 
background check (CPIC) are covered by the Town of Gananoque, when the CPIC is 
processed through the Gananoque Police Department. 
 
CPICs are required only after an offer of employment has been made to an applicant. 
Upon the provision of a valid CPIC which is acceptable and satisfactory to the Town, the 
prospective employee/volunteer will be deemed to have met one of the conditions of 
employment/volunteering. 
 
At the time of a conditional offer of employment, the Town will accept a CPIC that is 
declared suitable for vulnerable sector employment that has been conducted within the 
last six (6) months from the date of offer as long as the prospective employee/volunteer 
is prepared to sign the Criminal Record/Conviction Declaration Form (Appendix A). 
 
The presence of a criminal record shall not necessarily be a barrier to employment or 
volunteer status, but in arriving at a final decision regarding the candidate’s suitability for 
employment or volunteer status, the Town shall take into account the following factors: 
 


(i) the nature and number of conviction(s); 
(ii) the length of time since the conviction(s); 
(iii) rehabilitative efforts made by the candidate; 
(iv) duties and responsibilities associated with the position and the 


relevance of the criminal conviction; and, 
(v) the potential risk to vulnerable persons as a result of employing the 


candidate. 
 
Appendix: A – Criminal Record/Conviction Declaration 
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Policy  
 
This Policy applies to all employees and students who are required to operate a vehicle 
that is owned, leased, or rented by the Town of Gananoque either as a regular or 
occasional part of their job responsibilities. 
 
Objective 
 
The Province of Ontario, under the authority of the Highway Traffic Act, requires each 
person to hold a valid driver’s license to operate a vehicle. The Town of Gananoque as 
a responsible employer using both private and corporately owned vehicles requires staff 
to provide verification of a valid driver’s license. 
 
Therefore, all employees who drive Town of Gananoque vehicles (whether owned, 
rented or leased, or, employees who are required to use their personal vehicle for Town 
of Gananoque purposes), shall at all times be in possession of a valid driver’s license 
with the appropriate class. Upon conditional offer of employment, a certified copy of a 
valid driver’s license shall be provided to the employer for the purpose of validating the 
driver’s license. 
 
Public Works Supervisor and Labourers are required to hold a valid class “D” driver’s 
license with a “Z” air brake endorsement. 
 
Firefighters are required to hold a valid class “D” driver’s license with a “Z” air brake 
endorsement. 
 
All other staff and students that operate vehicles are required to hold a valid class “G” 
driver’s license. 
 


Definition 
Ignition Interlock: 
A device or system connected to the car's ignition that checks for the presence of 
alcohol in the driver. The driver must blow into the machine to start the car and continue 
to periodically blow into the device to keep the car in motion. If the device senses 
alcohol, the car will not start or will turn itself off. 
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Procedure 
 
1.0 Pre-hire Driver’s License Checks and Offer of Employment 


 
1.1 The requirement to hold a valid driver’s license shall be indicated in a 


position’s job posting. 
 
1.2 Human Resources will request a copy of the driver’s license upon conditional 


offer of hire and will hold a copy of the employee’s driver’s license in the 
employee file. 
 


1.3 If a potential employee who is required to operate a Town vehicle and/or 
equipment has a suspended license for any reason, the offer of employment 
shall be rescinded.  
 


1.4 The potential employee will be required to submit a current Driver’s Abstract 
from the Ministry of Transportation which includes the following information: 
• Confirmation of the class of license and restrictions; 
• Demerit Points. 


 
2.0 License Suspensions, Downgrade or Cancellation 
 


2.1 Any probationary employee who is required to hold a valid Ontario driver’s 
license or equivalent as a condition of employment and has such license 
cancelled, suspended or downgraded due to a legal conviction shall have 
his/her employment terminated immediately. 


 
3.0 License Suspension 
 


Where an employee is required, as a condition of employment, to have a valid 
driver’s license to drive a vehicle, or his/her own vehicle on Town business, and 
where such employee is served with a license suspension and/or driving 
prohibition for medical or legal reasons, the following shall apply: 


 
4.1 Temporary or Permanent Loss of License for Medical Reasons (without legal 


conviction) 
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• Where an employee’s license is suspended/revoked on a medical 
ground, the employee must notify the employer immediately upon 
notification. The employer may endeavour to place the employee in 
suitable alternative employment. Such consideration will take into 
account the availability of work, the length of service with the employer, 
the employee’s past record, the health status of the employee, the 
qualifications of the employee and the employee’s ability to do the job. 


 
4.2 License Suspension Arising from a Legal Conviction 
 
Where there is a change in the status of an employee’s license due to legal 
conviction, the following shall apply to those who require a driver’s license for their 
classification: 
 


• For the period of the license suspension, the employee shall be 
suspended from work without pay and benefits unless the employer is 
able to provide alternative employment for the period of the license 
suspension.  Please refer to the relevant collective agreements for 
unionized employees. The employer shall not be expected to create a 
position to provide suitable alternative work. Where alternative work is 
provided, the employee will be paid at the applicable rate of pay for the 
work being performed. The reassignment of the employee is at the 
discretion of the employer and will take into account the following: 


 
o The length of the suspension and the nature of the driving offence; 
o The availability of suitable alternative work that does not incur 


unreasonable expense to the employer;  
o The qualifications of the employee and his/her ability to perform 


alternate work; 
o The employee’s past record and length of service.  


 
• The employee shall be allowed at such time that his/her license is 


restored with no “Ignition Interlock” restrictions to return to the 
classification held prior to losing their license, should it exist or shall be 
returned to a vacant position at the same or lower level and applicable 
rate, provided the employee is qualified. 


• In those cases in which the employer is unable to provide suitable 
alternative work without unreasonable expense, the employee shall be 
granted a leave of absence without pay and benefits for the duration of 
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loss of his/her license to a maximum of two years. It is understood that 
this shall apply for one instance only for any employee. 


 
4.3 Any subsequent suspension based on a legal conviction will result in 


discharge. 
 


4.0 Change in Status 
 


4.1 All employees are required to immediately notify the employer in writing of 
any change in the status of the driver’s license required for his/her job. Failure 
to immediately notify the employer of a license suspension, temporary 
removal, or change in status may result in immediate discharge of his/her 
employment. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque supports fair and constructive disciplinary practices as well as 
the concept of progressive discipline, which is designed to correct behaviour rather than 
punish it.  It is important to ensure that employees perform their duties in compliance 
with Town of Gananoque rules, directives, regulations, instructions, policies and 
procedures, as well as the general law, since the objectives of the Town cannot be 
achieved without this acceptance and conformity. 
 
Objective 
 
To achieve the objectives of the Town through acceptance of and conformity with the 
rules, directives, regulations, instructions, policies and procedures established by the 
Town, as well as general law. 
 
To ensure staff are aware of the disciplinary process and its purpose. 
 
Procedure 
 
This policy shall be applied in accordance with the Collective Agreement(s) if applicable. 
 
Supervisors are responsible for guiding employees in their behaviour at work. 
 
The manner in which guidance is given is all-important.  Employees should receive 
clear, unambiguous instructions on the code of behaviour and standards of performance 
expected of them. 
  
Supervisors are held accountable for the completeness and accuracy of documentation 
that may be relied upon for discipline.  Proper documentation is essential to the process 
of administering fair and reasonable discipline. 
 
Discipline should be imposed based on a fair assessment of all of the circumstances of 
each specific case. 
 
In some cases, it may be necessary to put an employee on a leave of absence with pay 
(non-disciplinary) during an investigation.  Such periods should not be prolonged. 
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Before discipline is imposed at any step of the process, it is essential to give the 
employee a reasonable opportunity to explain his/her actions. 
  
Follow-up is also important.  In many instances, it is not enough to discipline an 
employee and “let the case rest.”  A systematic and controlled review of job 
performance may be required.  
 
The progressive disciplinary process involves increasing the severity of the discipline 
incrementally against persistent misconduct with the intention of inducing employees to 
reform their conduct.  Under progressive discipline the seriousness and frequency of the 
employee’s misconduct, the employee’s service, the employee’s disciplinary record as 
well as any mitigating or aggravating factors are taken into consideration in determining 
the appropriate discipline to be taken. 
 
Progressive discipline generally involves up to four steps: 
 


1) Verbal Reprimand 
2) Letter of Warning 
3) Suspension Without Pay 
4) Dismissal/Termination 


 
The Town reserves the right to begin the process at any step and to skip or repeat steps 
depending on the facts and the circumstances of each case. 
 
Whenever required by a collective agreement, a bargaining unit employee shall be 
given the opportunity for Union representation. 
 
All verbal reprimands, letters of warning and suspension will come from the 
Supervisor/Manager in consultation with the Department Head or his/her designate and  
Human Resources.  Letters of discharge/termination will come from the Department 
Head in collaboration with the Supervisor/Manager and Human Resources.  Any 
questions regarding disciplinary procedures are directed to the Department Head. In the 
absence of the Department Head the matter is referred to the CAO. 
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Verbal Reprimand 


A Supervisor/Manager may give a verbal reprimand to an employee for minor 
infractions. 
 
This reprimand is given in private so that the employee and Supervisor/Manager may 
both benefit from a free interchange of opinion. 
 
The Supervisor/Manager is responsible for ensuring a written notation of the verbal 
reprimand is provided to Human Resources by email or personal delivery.  It will be kept 
in the employee’s file maintained in the Human Resources office.  This notation does 
not constitute a letter of warning.  It provides documentation of the first step of 
progressive discipline.   
  


Letter of Warning 


If it is deemed necessary to issue a letter of warning following discussion by the 
Supervisor/Manager, Department Head or his/her designate, the following shall apply: 
 
The letter should include a description of the infraction(s): a warning that repetition of 
the infraction(s) may result in further disciplinary action up to and including dismissal; a 
reminder that the Employee Assistance Program is available (where applicable), and, in 
the case of incompetence or work performance related infractions, a time period during 
which work is to be brought up to a required standard. 
 
This letter is signed by the Supervisor/Manager or Department Head or his/her 
designate and delivered to the employee with copies provided to the Human Resources 
and Union representatives, where applicable.  It will be kept in the employee’s file 
maintained in the Human Resources office.   
 
Suspension Without Pay 
 
If the infraction(s) is deemed serious by the Supervisor/Manager and Department Head 
or in the event of repeat infractions, it may be decided to suspend the employee. 
 
A letter of suspension is sent to the employee indicating the period of time for which the 
employee is suspended without pay.  The letter should also include:  a description of the 
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infraction(s); a warning that repetition of the infraction(s) may result in further 
disciplinary action up to and including dismissal; a reminder that the Employee 
Assistance Program is available (where applicable), and in the case of incompetence or 
work performance related infractions, a time period during which the employee must 
bring his/her work up to a required standard. 
 
The letter is signed by the Department Head and sent to the employee with copies sent 
to the Supervisor/Manager, Human Resources and applicable Union representatives. 
 
Dismissal 
 
A letter of dismissal is issued promptly to the employee by the Department Head.   
 
This letter should include a description of the infraction(s), a description of disciplinary 
action taken to date (if applicable), as well as the effective date of the termination of 
employment. 
 
This letter is signed by the Department Head and sent to the employee with copies sent 
to the Supervisor/Manager, Department Head, Human Resources and Union 
representatives if applicable. 
 
An employee who commits any misconduct and/or any violation of Town rules, 
directives, regulations, instructions, policies or procedures, or who contravenes the 
general law, including any of the following infractions shall be subject to disciplinary 
action up to and including discharge.  Examples of such misconduct can include but are 
not limited to:  
 


• Late in reporting for assignment 
• Waste of material 
• Pranks or horseplay 
• Negligence in performance of assigned work 
• Failure to notify employer when absent 
• Incorrect attendance reporting 
• Use of profane language in presence of clients 
• Lying 
• Abuse of leave 
• Disregard of safety practices 
• Neglect of tools or equipment 
• Failure to report work accident 
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• Incompetence 
• Sleeping or attempting to sleep on duty (Except for Firefighter’s who are 


permitted to sleep on their night shift) 
• Away from assignment without permission 
• Refusing to obey an order or perform assigned work 
• Encouraging others to commit infraction(s)  
• Breach of confidentiality 
• Failure to comply with established policy 
• Insubordination 
• Interfering with work of others 
• Damaging Town property  
• Falsifying a Town record 
• Obstructing a Town investigation 
• Obtaining materials or services on a fraudulent order 
• Away from work without permission 
• Negligence resulting in injury 
• Dishonesty 
• Assault 
• Fighting 
• Drunkenness or disorderly conduct 
• Reporting for duty while under the influence of alcohol or drugs 
• Stealing 
• Harassment 
• Accessing pornographic material or accessing sites identified as inappropriate 


use of Town software 
• Verbal or physical abuse of residents or clients 
• Workplace violence 


 
This list is not intended to be an exhaustive or complete list.  Discipline and/or dismissal 
may be imposed for infractions or offences not included herein. 
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Policy  
 
Both the Town of Gananoque and its employees have the right to discontinue the 
employment relationship. The Town of Gananoque will ensure that terminations, either 
voluntary or involuntary, are initiated with notice, where appropriate, and properly 
documented for payroll processing. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure a consistent approach to terminations within the Town. 
 
To ensure documentation is complete. 
 
Procedure 
 
The following shall apply to Voluntary Terminations or Resignations: 
  


• An employee who resigns his/her position is requested to state the resignation in 
writing.  If the employee refuses to state the resignation in writing, the resignation 
may not be accepted. 


• The resignation must be signed. 
• Employees are expected to give a minimum of two (2) weeks notice of 


resignation with the exception of managers, who are expected to give a minimum 
of thirty (30) days notice (unless otherwise previously negotiated). 


• All resignations will be acknowledged/confirmed by the Department Head by mail 
within three (3) working days of the date of submission of the employee’s 
resignation.  


 
The following shall apply to Involuntary Terminations  
(Please refer to applicable collective agreement as well for unionized employees) 
 
An employee’s employment with the Town may be terminated: 
 


• Without notice or pay-in-lieu of notice where cause exists for such termination; or 
 


• At any time, without cause, in which case the employee’s entitlement on 
termination will be as set out in his/her written contract of employment.  In the 
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event the employee does not have a written contract of employment, he/she will 
be entitled to notice or pay in lieu of notice and severance pay (if applicable) in 
accordance with the Employment Standards Act, 2000.  Employees will not be 
entitled to any further notice or severance either under the common law or 
otherwise; or 


 
• For any reason during the probationary period, or at the end of the period, 


without notice or pay-in-lieu of notice, except in accordance with the Employment 
Standards Act, 2000, if applicable. 
 


Return of Property 
 
In any termination situation all Town of Gananoque property shall be returned by the 
employee to the Employer.  Property must be returned to the Employer on or before the 
last working day; unless mutually agreed with the Department Head or defined in a 
collective agreement. 
 
Exit Interviews 
  
An exit interview may be conducted when an employee leaves the employ of the Town. 
  
The exit interview will normally be conducted by the employee's supervisor to determine 
the employee’s reason(s) for leaving so that, where appropriate, action can be taken to 
correct any problems that come to light, and to gather information about the employee’s 
overall impressions of the job or the Town. 
 
Documentation 
 
In order that all terminations are correctly administered the following process and 
documentation is required. 


1. The Department Head must forward to Human Resources the termination 
package which includes: 
a) Signed resignation letter (voluntary) or 
b) Termination Letter (involuntary) 
c) Department Head letter confirming the termination (voluntary) 
d) Signoffs for return of property 
e) Complete the Employee Departure Check List 


 
Once all the aforementioned information is received by Human Resources they will 
inform payroll for processing. 
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Policy  
 
Employees are asked to provide notice when retiring from the Town so that replacement 
procedures may commence, appropriate paperwork can be processed, and service can 
be recognized. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure a consistent approach to retirement within the Town. 
 
To ensure documentation is complete. 
 
Procedure 
 
Consult the appropriate Union Contract for any deviations to the following procedures. 
 
Employees who are retiring are encouraged to provide three months written notice prior 
to their last day of work of their intention to retire in order to ensure continuity of income. 
 
The written notice must be submitted by an employee to his/her Department Head in 
advance of the employee requesting the Employer to process his/her retirement 
paperwork. 
 
Exit Interviews 
  
An exit interview may be conducted when an employee leaves the employ of the Town. 
  
The exit interview will normally be conducted by the employee's supervisor to determine 
the employee’s reason(s) for leaving so that, where appropriate, action can be taken to 
correct any problems that come to light, and to gather information about the employee’s 
overall impressions of the job or the Town. 
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Policy  
 
An employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay for legitimate personal 
reasons upon consultation with their Department Head and after obtaining the approval 
of the CAO. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure the well-being of staff. 
 
Procedure 
 
Union or Bargaining Unit Employees 
As it relates to union or bargaining unit employees, this policy is subject to, and shall be 
applied in accordance with the applicable Collective Agreement. 
 
Non Union Employees 
All leaves of absence without pay must be requested in writing to the Department Head.  
All requests for such leave of absence shall be in writing as far in advance as 
practicable. 
 
The Department Head will consider the request in light of operational requirements and 
provide their recommendation for approval or denial to the CAO.  A written response will 
be sent to the employee by the CAO with a copy to Human Resources for the 
employee’s personnel file. 
 
The employee will not lose service or seniority for the purpose of vacation, sick leave or 
short term disability benefits, wage progression, or any other entitlement affected by 
service. 
 
An unpaid leave of absence affects an employee’s OMERS pension and employees 
should investigate the impact of the unpaid leave to their pension with OMERS before 
requesting the leave. 
 
The employer will continue to provide the benefits under the Town’s approved plan, the 
premium of which will be recovered when the employee returns to work, by payroll 
deduction. 
 


 1/1  







 
 
   
Human Resources – Military Reservist Leave  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-400-02 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
Policy  
 
An Employee will be granted a leave of absence without pay or benefits if they are a 
military reservist who is called up for active service. 
 
“Reservist" is defined in the Employment Standards Act to mean a member of the 
reserve force of the Canadian Forces referred to in s. 15(3) of the National Defence Act 
(Canada) 
 
Objective 
 
To demonstrate the Town of Gananoque’s support for our troops by allowing employees 
who are members of Canada’s Reserve Force unpaid leave to perform their military 
duty. 
 
Procedure 
 
Reservists who have worked for the Town of Gananoque for at least six (6) consecutive 
months are entitled to an unpaid, indefinite leave of absence, where the Employee will 
not be performing the duties of his or her position because of a domestic or international 
deployment. The duration of the leave will depend on the operation to which the 
reservist is deployed, and may include participation in both pre- and/or post-deployment 
activities. 
 
When an Employee who is a military reservist is called to duty, they must make all 
requests for leave in writing.  Employees shall make a reasonable effort to provide 
notice in accordance with the following provisions: 


i) Training and Non-Emergency Domestic Operation:  Employees requesting this 
category of leave must notify they supervisor in writing at least fifteen (15) days 
prior to commencement of the exercise. 


ii) Emergency Domestic Operation:  In the event of emergency domestic operations 
when employees cannot provide written notice of leave within the stated 
deadline, employee must notify their Department Head as soon as possible after 
being called up. 


iii) International Operation:  Employees considering applying for an international 
operation are advised to discuss their intentions with their Department Head prior 
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to applications.  In cases where short notice is given by the military, written notice 
must be provided as soon as feasible. 


The Town of Gananoque reserves the right to seek verification from the employee’s 
Commanding Officer that confirms the request for leave. 


Employees must provide notice to the Employer before returning to their job.  Upon the 
reservist's return from leave, the Employer is required to reinstate the reservist to the 
same position if it still exists or to a comparable position if it does not.  The Town of 
Gananoque may defer such reinstatement for one pay period or up to two (2) weeks, 
whichever is longer, after the return date subject to the Employment Standards Act, 
2000.  In the event that the Town of Gananoque defers reinstatement in accordance 
with this paragraph, benefits contributions shall commence on the return date. 
 
This leave of absence will bear no cost to the Employer as the Employee will be paid 
and provided benefits from the military. 
 
If the absence exceeds thirty (30) calendar days, the Employee shall not accumulate 
service or seniority for the purpose of vacation, sick leave or short term disability 
benefits, wage progression, or any other entitlement affected by service.   
 
Upon reinstatement, the employee will be paid the greater of the wage rate he or she 
earned most recently as an employee of the Town or, the rate the employee would be 
earning had he or she worked throughout the leave as an employee of the Town. 
 
The military reservist leave period will result in a pension plan break in service with 
OMERS.  The employee has the option of purchasing the service with OMERS and 
must sign a Leave Period Election Form 165 indicating whether they wish to purchase 
service or not.  As per OMERS regulations, if the employee elects to purchase the 
service with OMERS, the employee is responsible for paying his/her portion of the 
contributions and the Town will pay the Town’s portion. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to its mission to provide the best quality of 
service to everyone who utilizes those services.  It is the intent of the Town to adhere to 
full operations insofar as it is possible. 
 
The Town recognizes that inclement weather may temporarily prevent the availability 
and operations of Town services. As these situations can, at times, create difficult and 
dangerous travel and work conditions, this may subsequently interfere with the normal 
business operation of the Town. 
 
Employees are expected to make arrangements during periods of inclement weather 
which will enable them to arrive as soon as possible. 
 
Scope 
 
The Town’s Emergency Plan and any union’s collective agreement take precedence 
over this Policy. 
 
Exceptions to the application of this policy apply Fire Services due to a high number of 
essential positions. 
 
Objective 
 
To provide Employees and management staff with guidelines regarding inclement 
weather as well as establish guidelines for treating Employees consistently and fairly 
when regular attendance at work is complicated by severe weather conditions. 
 
Procedure 
 
All employees shall make every reasonable effort, consistent with personal safety, to 
report to work unless instructed otherwise.  
 
In the event of inclement weather, all employees will make a good faith effort to report to 
work on time. This includes, but is not limited to, allowing sufficient travel time and using 
alternate routes or alternate methods of transportation 
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The CAO or designate is authorized to make a decision in regards to absences 
regarding severe weather.  Absences may be approved for such circumstances of 
inclement weather which can include severe weather such as severe ice, whiteout 
conditions, excessive snowfall, hurricane, tornado, flooding or any unforeseen acts of 
nature.   
 
The CAO or designate has the authority to close Town Hall following the guidelines of 
this procedure. 
 
If an Employee determines that it is unsafe to proceed to work, then the Employee must 
notify his/her Department Head or designate immediately.   
 
It is important to note that approval for leave due to inclement weather cannot be 
assumed.  Factors influencing a Department Head or designate decision regarding the 
requested time off for this time include, but are not limited to:  


a) the seriousness of the Employee's need to be absent 
b) travel distance to and from work 
c) availability of other transportation options 
d) departmental work priorities and operational needs 


 
It is anticipated that the need for any Employee to be absent from work due to inclement 
weather will be rare. 
 
Subject to the discretion of the Department Head or designate the adjustment for time 
granted may take one of the following forms: 


• Vacation time to cover the absence 
• Lieu time to cover the absence 
• Leave of Absence without Pay to cover the absence 


 
An Employee may not use sick leave pay in substitution for time missed due inclement 
weather. 
 
Regular reviews of requests for leave due to inclement weather will be conducted by 
management staff. 
 
This policy will be reviewed and amended as required. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to recognizing employees for their dedication 
and years of service in order to build employee satisfaction and morale; to celebrate 
milestones; and to promote teambuilding. 
 
Objective 
 
An effective Employee Recognition Program has the potential to build employee 
commitment, reinforce loyalty and communicate corporate values. 
 
Procedure 
 
All permanent full-time employees of the Town of Gananoque will be recognized at 
these milestone years of continuous service: 
 


5-9 
Years 


10-14 
Years 


15-19 
Years 


20-24 
Years 


25 + 
Years 


$60 $120 $180 $240 $300 
 
Employees have their service milestone recognized and are presented with a service 
pin at the last Council meeting in November. 
 
Funding of the Program 
 
Each Department will budget annually per employee to cover the cost of the Employee 
Recognition Program. Any surpluses will be reserved for the next year’s program. 
 
Retirement Recognition 
 
Employees retiring from the Town of Gananoque who have reached the age of 55 and 
have at least 10 years of service with the Town will be presented with a gift.  The value 
of the retirement gift will be in accordance with the following chart: 
 


10-19 Years 20 + Years 
$250 $500 


The presentation of the gift will be made by the employee’s Department Head, CAO and 
the Mayor. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque recognizes that many human problems can be successfully 
treated or resolved provided referrals are made to appropriate persons and the 
appropriate assistance resources.  This is true whether the problem involves personal 
or workplace matters, including personal, financial or substance abuse issues.  It is also 
recognized, however, that the successful resolution of such problems requires a high 
degree of the employee’s personal motivation and willing cooperation in dealing 
effectively with these matters. 
 
It has also been recognized that preventative approaches, such as health promotion 
and stress management can be useful in minimizing future disabling personal or health 
problems. 
 
Objective 
 
This policy has been developed to formalize the joint support of the Town of Gananoque 
and its employee groups to the ongoing provision of the Employee Assistance Program 
(EAP).  The EAP is designed to be preventative, voluntary and confidential in its 
delivery of services. 
 
Procedure 
 
Nature of the Program 


 
The EAP of the Town of Gananoque shall: 


 
• be primarily preventative and rehabilitative 
• be completely voluntary with respect to the employee’s participation 
• be employee-initiated by the individual requesting assistance 
• provide individual employees with the following services:   


 a confidential assessment;  
 a coordinated referral to an appropriate community resource; and 
 supportive after-care, when appropriate 


• be strictly confidential with respect to all matters of record keeping and reporting 
• arrange for the delivery of information programs focused on prevention and 


dealing with lifestyle-related health or personal problems 
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The EAP shall not be part of the disciplinary process.  Participation in the EAP shall not 
result in recrimination against any employee who chooses to access its services. 
     
Type of Referral 
 
Participation in the EAP is voluntary.  The program may be accessed through either a 
self-referral or through encouragement from a co-worker, supervisor or union 
representative. 
 
This program is separate from and not related to the disciplinary process.  Persons 
participating in the program will be expected to meet existing job performance standards 
and established work rules. 
 
If, in a situation where a supervisor has discussed work performance difficulties with an 
employee, the supervisor may record that an employee has been informed of the EAP.  
However, the employee’s decision to utilize the EAP will remain confidential. 
 
Neither acceptance nor refusal of a referral to participate in the EAP will itself be 
grounds for disciplinary action.  However, if work performance continues to deteriorate, 
or fails to return to an acceptable level within a reasonable time, then disciplinary 
procedures as per the Collective Agreement or Town policy will be followed. 
 
Confidentiality Assurances 
 
Anyone who contacts the EAP provider is protected by agency policy and professional 
ethics, which means that a strict code of confidentiality is maintained.  Employers do not 
receive information about employees who use the service, except where the employee 
has signed a release of information to the EAP provider.  Statistics sent to the 
employers have no identifying authorization, except as required by law, as in a case of 
child abuse or upon clear, concrete evidence of planned or committed acts of violence. 
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Policy  
 
Developing employees who are effective, dynamic, productive, and successful in their 
jobs enables the Town of Gananoque to deliver quality services to the public. The Town 
is committed to a Performance Management Program that incorporates a goal-oriented 
approach and clear, ongoing, two-way communication between supervisors and 
employees.  Employees will receive support and recognition in their efforts to develop 
and to improve performance. 
 
Objective 
The Performance Management Program is intended to be a tool used by staff members 
at all levels to facilitate self-management and appropriate empowerment, by having a 
clear understanding with their supervisor about performance expectations.  
Performance Management is a comprehensive program for: 


a) establishing performance expectations 
b) designing interventions including training programs to improve performance 
c) monitoring the success of those programs 
 


Procedure 
 
Human Resources will keep a master list of all Town employees and their date of hire.  
The annual formal performance appraisal should be completed by no later than the 
anniversary of the employee’s hire date, subject to some exceptions where the 
employee was absent from work for an extended period of time during the performance 
review period. 
 
Four weeks before the appraisal is due to be completed, Human Resources will:  


a) provide the employee with a copy of the previous  year’s appraisal (if applicable) 
and a blank performance appraisal form; 


b) advise the employee when the self-appraisal portion of the performance 
appraisal is due (7 days from date of issue) and to whom the appraisal should be 
returned; and 


c) notify the employee’s supervisor of the date the appraisal is due to be completed, 
to whom the self-appraisal is being returned and the date the appraisal form was 
sent to the employee. 
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The departmental supervisor will then complete their assessment of the employee.  If an 
employee has been under the direction of more than one departmental supervisor 
during the performance review period, he/she may be evaluated by both the previous 
and current supervisor.  However, the current supervisor has the primary responsibility 
for completing the appraisal form. 
 
In the event an employee regularly reports to more than one supervisor, the supervisor 
assigned to conduct the performance review must consult with the other supervisor(s) 
prior to the interview and ensure that the comments are comprehensive. 
 
The departmental supervisor will then meet with the employee to discuss the appraisal.  
Both successes and failures are to be reviewed at the meeting.  It is constructive to 
review why objectives set at the last appraisal meeting were successfully achieved.  It is 
equally constructive to discuss and/or to review what prevented the successful 
achievement of other objectives.  This review helps to set and achieve new objectives. 
 
Employees will be encouraged to discuss job expectations, developmental plans, 
concerns and areas in which they feel additional training would be helpful. 
The supervisor and employee will also discuss the employee’s self-appraisal during the 
discussion. 
 
Should the supervisor feel follow-up sessions are required prior to the next scheduled 
appraisal, the initial date for such follow-up should be set at the meeting. 
 
If the appraisal discussion is not satisfactory, problems and/or disagreements should 
first be discussed between the employee and the supervisor.  If problems still exist after 
this process, the employee and/or supervisor may contact the Department Head and/or 
Human Resources for assistance. 
 
Once the supervisor and employee have completed the annual performance appraisal 
discussion, the supervisor will sign, and the employee will be asked to sign, the 
appraisal form.  If an employee disagrees with the appraisal, he/she can provide a 
written explanation of any disagreement to be attached to the form.   
The package will be kept in the employee’s personnel file. 
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Probationary Employees 
 
Every probationary employee will participate in a formal performance appraisal with 
his/her supervisor prior to the extension of the probationary period or attaining non-
probationary status.   
 
If the appraisal discussion is not satisfactory, problems or disagreements should be 
discussed between the employee and the supervisor.  If problems still exist after this 
process, the employee or supervisor may contact Human Resources for confidential 
assistance. 
 
Once the supervisor and employee have completed the probationary performance 
appraisal discussion, the supervisor will sign the appraisal form (Appendix A) and 
employee will be asked to sign the form.  If an employee disagrees with the form, 
he/she can provide a written explanation of any disagreement that will be attached to 
the form.   
 
Should the supervisor feel that the employee’s probationary period needs to be 
extended or that the employee should not be granted non-probationary status, a 
recommendation should be made to the CAO and Human Resources. 
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Policy  
 
The Town assists employees in upgrading their knowledge and skills, to enable them to 
better perform the functions of their current jobs, and to develop themselves for future 
employment opportunities. 
 
Objective 
 
To assist Town employees in the upgrading of skills, knowledge and qualifications in 
order to increase job performance and potential for assuming increased responsibilities. 
 
Procedure 
 
Corporate Training Programs 
 
Courses sponsored by Human Resources and other Town departments are normally 
offered at no cost to employees. All employees, whether full-time or part-time, may be 
eligible to attend training programs with the approval of their supervisor. 
 
All employees are required to attend mandatory training which is provided as the result 
of legislation. 
 
External Training Programs 
 
External staff training opportunities, in the form of seminars, workshops and 
conferences, are normally available to Town employees through departmental training 
budgets. Employees must apply through their supervisor for approval to attend external 
training programs.  Managers will review the budget to ensure that there are enough 
funds to support the cost of the external training requested.   Not all requests can be 
approved due to budget and time away from the job required to attend these external 
training opportunities. 
 
During annual performance reviews training opportunities should be discussed so that 
they can be included in the budget if they are supported by the manager. 
 
If a request for training is initiated by an employee, upon successful completion of the 
approved training and submission of receipts and proof of completion, the employee will 
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be reimbursed.  If a request for training initiated by the employee is approved and the 
cost of the training exceeds $5000, the employee must reimburse half of the amount 
paid by the Town if they leave the employ of the Town within two (2) years following 
completion of the training. 
 
External staff training is normally available to employees who have completed their 
probationary period; however, final approval remains at the discretion of the Department 
Head.  
 
Please refer to Policy FS-06-2011 Conference, Convention, Travel and Operational 
Expense Policy for further information regarding conference and conventions. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque in the performance of its services is responsible for promoting 
health and safety for the protection of its workers and the public alike.  Unsafe practices 
will not be tolerated.  Every worker, contract worker and sub-contractor, including every 
person accessing Town property for services, must protect his or her own health and 
safety by complying with the law and with the safe work practices and procedures 
established and required by the Town. 
 
Supervisors will be held accountable for the health and safety of workers under their 
supervision. 
 
The town provides a safe and healthy workplace by supporting a formal program of 
education and training; preventing accidents, workplace harassment and violence, 
including domestic violence in the workplace; and reducing injuries and occupational 
illness through accident investigations, follow-up action and the recommendations of the 
Health and Safety Committees. 
 
For more detail, please refer to the Town’s Health & Safety Policies & Procedures. 
 
Objective 
 
The purpose of this policy is to ensure that all Town workplaces and facilities are in 
compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations and that every 
reasonable precaution is taken to provide for a healthy and safe work environment. The 
implementation of this policy, through the establishment of occupational health and 
safety programs based on shared responsibility of management and employees will 
promote health and prevent workplace illness and injuries, harassment and workplace 
violence. 
 
Procedure 
 
The Employer shall recognize two (2) safety representatives from those persons 
presently based at the Town Hall as applicable according to the Occupational Health & 
Safety Act. 
 
The Employer recognizes the Health & Safety committee with membership 
representatives from each department. 
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The Town promotes a safe work environment and provides information, instruction, and 
supervision on occupational health and safety as required.  
 
Responsibilities: 
 


• All supervisors and employees must be dedicated to the continuing objective of 
reducing risk of injury.  


 
The duties of Department Heads and Supervisors include the following:  
 


• ensure that employees use and/or wear the equipment, protective devices, or 
clothing that the Town requires;  


• provide safety equipment necessary for the employee’s job duties; 
• ensure that machinery and equipment are safe and that employees work in 


compliance with established safe work practices and procedures;  
• ensure that employees receive adequate training in their specific work tasks to 


protect their health and safety;  
• advise employees of the existence of any potential or actual danger to their 


health or safety, of which the Supervisor is aware;  
• take every precaution, reasonable in the circumstances, for the protection of an 


employee; and  
• be familiar with the provisions of the Occupational Health and Safety Act.  


 
The duties of Employees include the following:  
 


• employees must use and/or wear the equipment, protective devices, or clothing 
that the Town requires and follow health and safety policies and procedures;  


• work in compliance with the law and with safe work practices and procedures 
established by the Town;  


• report to his/her Supervisor the absence of, or defect in, any equipment or 
protective devices or the existence of any hazard of which he/she has 
knowledge; and  


• operate equipment and machines safely and conduct himself/herself in a safe 
manner.  


 
Safety information is provided to employees through established lines of Departmental 
organization.  
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In all Departments, the Supervisors will transmit safety information to their employees 
either through group meetings or by discussion with individual employees.  
 
Safety suggestions made by employees to their Supervisors are referred to the 
Department Head. All suggestions will be considered.  
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to the prevention of Workplace Violence.  The 
intent of this policy is to ensure the provision of a healthy, safe and violence free 
workplace and to ensure that all workplace parties are familiar with the definitions of 
workplace violence and their roles in its prevention and in corrective action.  The Town 
commits to comply with the following relevant legislation governing workplace violence 
in Ontario: 
 


• The Occupational Health and Safety Act, as amended; specifically Section 32 
(known as Bill 168 An Act to amend the Occupational Health and Safety Act with 
respect to violence and harassment in the workplace and other matters); 


• The Criminal Code of Canada; 
• The Ontario Human Rights Code; 
• The Workers’ Compensation Reform Act; 
• The Compensation for Victims of Crime Act; and 
• The Regulated Health Professions Act 


 
The Town also recognizes that home and work issues cannot always be separated and 
domestic violence can impact greatly on the working life of someone who is being 
abused. Therefore, the Town is committed to assisting staff experiencing domestic 
violence wherever possible and to create a safe and supportive environment.  
 
The Town of Gananoque does not tolerate violence in the workplace perpetrated by or 
against staff, volunteers and clients or other third parties.  
 
Objective 
 
This policy establishes that the Town of Gananoque’s Employees, volunteers, and 
clients will be treated with respect, fairness and sensitivity in accordance with the 
operating principles, as a means of fostering a healthy and safe work environment. 
 
Procedure 
 
The Town of Gananoque supports zero tolerance for all types of workplace violence 
within the workplace or at work related activities. The Town is committed to control and 
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minimize the risk of workplace violence and to support employees who may be exposed 
to workplace violence. 
 
Definitions 
 
Under the Occupational Health and Safety Act, as amended: 


 
Workplace Violence means, 
 
(a) The exercise of physical force by a person against a worker, in a workplace, 


that causes or could cause physical injury to the worker,  
(b) An attempt to exercise physical force against a worker, in a workplace, that 


could cause physical injury to the worker,  
(c) A statement or behaviour that it is reasonable for a worker to interpret as a 


threat to exercise physical force against the worker, in a workplace, that 
could cause physical injury to the worker.  


 
Additionally, Workplace Violence is: 
 
“An act or a continuum of behaviours that jeopardizes one’s physical and 
psychological well-being.  It is a threat or perceived threat to one’s life and/or 
risk to one’s safety, health or integrity.  It is an act of verbal, psychological, 
sexual and/or physical abuse.  
 
It can be an attack on one’s person or personal beliefs or an attack on 
someone’s property.  The intent is to control or dominate, to injure or destroy, 
or to deprive a person of dignity.” (Source: Frema Engel)  
 
It is important to note that workplace violence can occur outside of work settings.  
It can occur during work-related functions at off-site locations such as 
conferences or social events.  It can also happen in an Employee’s home, yet be 
work related:  for example, threatening telephone calls from co-workers, clients 
or managers.  Workplace violence can be committed by anyone:  employees, 
supervisors, managers, residents, students, contract workers, visitors, families of 
residents, or friends of employees, or unauthorized intruders.  
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Examples of Workplace Violence:  


• Assault is any intent to inflict injury on another, coupled with an apparent ability to 
do so; any intentional display of force that causes the victim to fear immediate 
bodily harm. 


• Near miss is an act of striking out, but missing the target. 


• Physical attacks are aggression resulting in a physical assault/abuse with or 
without the use of a weapon.  Examples include hitting, shoving, pushing, 
punching, biting, spitting, groping, pinching, or kicking the victim, unwelcome 
displays of affection or inciting a dog to attack. 


• Poisoned work environment is a hostile and abusive work environment resulting 
from harassment by comment or conduct that ridicules or demeans an individual 
or specific group of employees:  for example, racial slurs or derogatory comments 
about sexual orientation. 


• Psychological abuse is an act that provokes fear or diminishes an individual’s 
dignity or self worth or that intentionally inflicts psychological trauma on another. 


• Sexual assault is the use of threat or violence to force one individual to touch, 
kiss, fondle, or have sexual intercourse with another. 


• Sexual abuse is any unwelcome verbal or physical advance or sexually explicit 
statement, such as jokes, displays of pornographic material, pinching, brushing 
against, touching, patting, or leering that makes a person feel humiliated, 
intimidated, or uncomfortable, thus interfering with work performance. 


• Threat (verbal or written) is a communicated intent to inflict physical or other 
harm on any person or to property by some unlawful act. A direct threat is a clear 
and explicit communication distinctly indicating that the potential offender intends 
to do harm, for example, “I am going to make you pay for what you did to me.”  A 
conditional threat involves a condition, for example, ‘If you don’t leave me alone 
you will regret it.”  Veiled threats usually involve body language or behaviours that 
leave little doubt in the mind of the victim that the perpetrator intends to harm. 


• Verbal abuse is the use of vexatious comments that are known, or that ought to 
be known, to be unwelcome, embarrassing, offensive, threatening, or degrading 
to another person (including swearing, insults, or condescending language). 


 
Discrimination is the differential treatment based on a personal characteristic which 
has an adverse impact on an individual or group. Examples of personal characteristics 
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include race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, 
sexual orientation, age, marital status, family status or handicap. 
Discrimination robs people of their dignity and their ability to fulfill their capabilities. It is 
important to note that any person or group can discriminate and any person or group 
can be the target of discrimination. Discrimination can take on several forms: 


• Sexual Discrimination is discrimination on the basis of gender, sex, sexual 
orientation, etc. 


• Racial Discrimination is discrimination on the basis of race, ancestry, place of 
origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, etc. 


• Discrimination on the Basis of Disability is discrimination against a person on 
the basis of their physical, psychological or mental ability or impairment. 


Please refer to HR Policy – Workplace Discrimination Prevention – HR-600-05 
 
Workplace Harassment means engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct 
against a worker in a workplace that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be 
unwelcome.  Please refer to HR Policy – Workplace Harassment Prevention – HR-600-
03 
 
Domestic Violence (also known as Domestic Abuse or Spousal Abuse) is when a 
family member, partner or ex-partner attempts to physically or psychologically dominate 
another. Domestic violence often refers to violence between spouses, or spousal abuse 
but can also include cohabitants and non-married intimate partners.  Please refer to HR 
Policy – Domestic Violence – HR-600-04 
 
Roles and Responsibilities of Workplace Parties: 
 
Employer 
 


• Prepare policies with respect to workplace violence and workplace harassment, 
and to review the policies at least annually 


 
• Develop a Program to implement the workplace violence policy: 


 
The Town of Gananoque’s Workplace Violence Prevention Program is inclusive of 
Workplace Violence Prevention (HR-600-02), Domestic Violence Prevention (HR-600-
04), Workplace Harassment Prevention (HR-600-03) and Workplace Discrimination 
Prevention (HR-600-05).   
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The following elements are contained in the Program:   
 


• Communication/Instruction to Employees 
 Communication to Employees on policies and procedures including 


updates 
 Identification of “Code Word” to signify an incident of workplace violence 


as it is unfolding and how it is to be used 
• Training/Education 


 New hire orientation 
 Training on the intranet 
 CMEs, in-service reviews 
 Legislative training requirements 
 External training consultation – as required 


• Control Measures/Evaluation 
 Risk Assessment 
 Hazard Identification Assessment 
 Statistical data – i.e. reported incidents, discipline records, near miss 


reports 
 Annual review of policies and procedures 


• Reporting/Investigation 
 Roles and responsibilities in each policy – expectation to report all 


incidents 
 Investigation Procedure (HR- 600-06) 


 
• Summon immediate assistance when workplace violence occurs, and for workers to 


report incidents of workplace violence 
 


• Set out how incidents and complaints of workplace violence will be dealt with 
 


• Assess the risks of workplace violence and to report the results of the assessment to 
the Joint Health and Safety Committee 
 


• Reassess risks as often as is necessary to protect workers from workplace violence 
 


• Take every reasonable precaution to protect the worker from domestic violence that 
is likely to expose a worker to physical injury which may occur in the workplace  
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• Provide a worker with information and instruction on the contents of the workplace 
violence policy and program 


 
• Deal with a worker’s right to refuse work in various circumstances where health or 


safety is in danger, to include the right to refuse work if workplace violence is likely 
to endanger the worker 


 
• Provide information, including personal information, related to a risk of workplace 


violence from a person with a history of violent behaviour if:  
• The worker can be expected to encounter that person in the course of his or 


her work; and  
• The risk of workplace violence is likely to expose the worker to physical injury 


 
• Post the Workplace Violence Policy at a conspicuous place in the workplace. 
 
• Train and educate of all Employees  


 
• Integrate safe behaviour into day-to-day operations 


 
• Review all reports of violence and/or threats of violence in a prompt, objective and 


sensitive manner.  This includes a review of all investigations associated with 
violence-related incidents 
 


• Take appropriate corrective and disciplinary action 
 


• Provide appropriate response measures 
 


• Facilitate medical attention and appropriate support for all those either directly or 
indirectly involved 


 
Management (Managers/Supervisors) 
 
• Enforce policy and procedures and monitor worker compliance 


 
• Facilitate an unbiased investigation of all incidents of workplace violence using the 


organization’s accident investigation procedure  
 


• Contact the police department as required when a criminal act has taken place on 
Town property 
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• Facilitate medical attention as required 
 
• Ensure that debriefing is completed for those either directly or indirectly involved in 


the incident 
 


• Contact Human Resources to ensure that the Employee receives further counseling 
regarding the Employee’s legal rights 
 


• Track and analyze incidents 
 
Employee 
 
• Complies with policy and all related procedures 


 
• Calls for assistance when a workplace violence incident is unfolding using the 


Employer’s Code Word 
 


• Reports all incidents of violence and/or threats of violence to any Management 
member immediately 
 


• Seeks appropriate support from available resources as required when confronted 
with violence or threats of violence 


 
Reporting and Investigation 
 
• As with all health and safety issues, workers are responsible to report all acts 


defined in the Workplace Violence Prevention Policy to the appropriate manager 
 


• Workers are to report all violence-related incidents to Management. This report can 
be made confidentially, at the Employee’s request, with the exception of the 
necessary steps to ensure the safety of others and prevention of re-occurrence.  For 
example, a police report can be made at the discretion of Management. 
 


• Investigation procedures are detailed in HR-600-06 and will be followed to ensure 
appropriate measures are taken to safeguard Employees and curtail the violence.  


 
• All complaints of workplace violence or harassment will be forwarded to the CAO 


and Department Head. 
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• Any complainant and accused by will removed from the workplace during the 


investigation process at the discretion of the CAO and Department Head.  
 
Response Procedures 
 
• Management will document all reports of workplace violence and hazard reporting 


and measures taken to address them. 
 


• If the resolution of the incident is beyond the authority of the manager receiving the 
report, they must make the CAO and Department Head aware of the report.  An 
Investigation Team will be established as appropriate (for example: when the 
incident involves residents or employees under another manager’s area of 
responsibility). 
 


• Management will review all incident reports, monitor trends and will make 
recommendations for prevention and enhancements to the Workplace Violence 
Prevention program to the CAO. 
 


• The CAO will review reports of workplace violence and ensure appropriate actions 
have been taken. 
 


• The Investigation Team who investigates the reported incident of violence will 
ensure communication of potentially dangerous situations associated with a report to 
all staff potentially affected by the reported incident.  The same manager(s) are 
responsible to inform the Employee who made report of the outcome of the 
investigation to the extent necessary to optimize future safety from similar incidents. 


 
Supports for Employees Affected by Workplace Violence 
 
Management will respond promptly and will assess the situation and ensure that the 
following interventions are followed: 
 


• Facilitate medical attention 
• Offer debriefing 
• Provide referrals as required to community agencies, treating practitioners, 


and/or Employee Assistance Program 
• Complete Incident Reports and incident investigation 
• Report to police as required  
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• Conclude with team debriefing 
 
Risk Assessment 
 
Management (with worker involvement) assesses workplace violence hazards in all 
jobs, and in the workplace as a whole.  Risk assessments are reviewed annually and 
whenever new jobs are created, or job descriptions are substantially changed. 
 
Management initiates and maintains a violence prevention program, which includes 
annual training (or review) on general and job specific workplace hazards as well as job 
specific orientation for new employees and volunteers. 
 
All Employees are expected to be vigilant of violence risks.  Employees are required to 
report hazards to a Management member in a timely fashion. 
 
Management works together with employees to develop strategies and practices for 
ongoing reduction of risks of workplace violence.  These include but are not limited to 
education, information exchange, and reviews of practices and procedures. 
 
Confidentiality 
  
The Town of Gananoque will not disclose a complainant’s or respondent’s name, or any 
circumstances related to a complaint, to anyone, except as necessary to investigate the 
complaint or take disciplinary action related to the complaint, or as required by law.  
Managers involved in a complaint are reminded to keep all information confidential, 
except in the above circumstances. Any breach of confidentiality will be sanctioned 
upward and including dismissal. 
 
Retaliation 
 
Retaliation is considered a serious disciplinary breach.  Anyone who retaliates in any 
way against a person who has complained of harassment, given evidence in a 
harassment investigation, or been found guilty of harassment, will themselves be 
considered guilty of harassment and penalized accordingly.  The possible penalties are 
the same as those assessed against harassers. 
 
Education 
 
All new Employees will receive both general and department specific orientation to the 
Workplace Violence Prevention program.  In addition, Employees will receive an annual 
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review of both the general and department specific components of the Workplace 
Violence Prevention program. 
 
Review 
 
The effectiveness of the workplace violence prevention program is evaluated annually 
by management and reviewed by the joint health and safety committees. 
 
Accountability 
 
Workers and managers are accountable for following and enforcing policy and 
procedures related to workplace violence. These responsibilities fall under 
responsibilities to comply with health and safety policy in workers’ job descriptions. 
Managers’ responsibilities for investigation of a complaint of and response to workplace 
violence are also included in health and safety components of job descriptions. 
 
Failure to comply with the policy, program and procedures on behalf of any workplace 
party will result in progressive discipline. 
 
Records 
 
All records of reports and investigations of workplace violence are kept for a minimum 
period of five years following the report. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque and its labour representatives are committed to providing a 
safe and respectful work environment for staff, volunteers and clients. 
 
The Town of Gananoque does not tolerate harassment in the workplace perpetrated by 
or against staff, volunteers and clients or other third parties.  
 
The Ontario Human Rights Code, the Canada Labour Code and the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act, as amended, protect individuals from harassment and the 
Criminal Code protects individuals from physical and sexual assault.   
 
This policy applies not only during working time, but to any activities on or off of Town 
premises during or outside of work time which could reasonably be associated with the 
workplace. 
 
The Town of Gananoque will treat all complaints of harassment seriously, whether they 
are made informally or formally.  The Town will undertake to act on all complaints to 
ensure that they are resolved quickly, confidentially and fairly.   
 
Discrimination is a form of harassment but this policy will not deal with this issue. For 
further information refer to Workplace Discrimination Policy – HR-600-05 
 
Objective 
 
This policy applies to all staff, volunteers and clients, or other third parties to the Town 
of Gananoque.  The purpose of this policy is to establish procedures to minimize or 
prevent harassment in the workplace; to foster the safety and security of Town of 
Gananoque staff, volunteers and clients, or other third parties at our work sites; and to 
assure Employees reporting incidents that the alleged matter will be treated 
confidentially and may be reported without fear of retaliation or reprisal. 
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Definitions 
 
Harassment means engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against a 
worker in a workplace that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome 
and/or related to one of the protected grounds in the Human Rights Code. 
 
Examples of harassment include: 


• Unwelcome remarks, slurs, jokes, taunts, or suggestions  
• Unwelcome sexual remarks, leering (suggestive staring) or other offensive 


gestures invitations, or requests (including persistent, unwanted contact after the 
end of a relationship) 


• Displays of explicit, or other offensive or derogatory material 
• Written or verbal abuse or threats 
• Practical jokes that embarrass or insult someone 
• Unwelcome physical contact  
• Patronizing or condescending behaviour 
• Humiliating an employee in front of co-workers 
• Abuse of authority that undermines someone’s performance or threatens his/her 


career 
 
Harassment is not: 


• Consensual banter or relationships (Two or more employees bantering back and 
forth do not represent harassment if everyone involved is in agreement.  But if 
any employee feels uncomfortable with this behaviour and the behaviour 
continues even after that person has expressed their discomfort, or if the other 
involved should have known the person was uncomfortable, then it is 
harassment.  This type of harassment can create what is known as a “poisoned 
work environment”, where employees do not feel safe and feel consistently 
humiliated.) 


• Employees flirting with each other or becoming involved in a romantic or sexual 
relationship are not harassing each other, as long as the relationship is 
consensual (If one of the employees changes his/her mind, and the other person 
persists in trying to continue the relationship, this is harassment) 


• Legitimate management intervention 
• Fair, consistent and appropriate performance reviews, counseling and discipline  
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Bullying is a form of harassment and means a repeated pattern of intentional 
inappropriate behaviour, direct or indirect, whether verbal, physical or otherwise, 
performed by one or more persons against another person or group of people, which 
could reasonably be regarded as undermining the individual’s right to dignity at work. 
 
Bullying Tactics include but are not limited to: 


• Falsely accusing target of “errors” not made 
• Nonverbal intimidation 
• Discounting target’s thoughts and feelings in meetings 
• Silent treatment 
• Inconsistent emotional behaviour  
• Disregarding satisfactory or excellent work 
• Rumours or gossip  
• Singling out and isolating 
• Verbal aggression 
• Stealing credit for work done 
• Abusing the evaluation process 
• Being "insubordinate”  
• Misusing confidential information 
• Retaliation 
• Sabotage  
• Stalking or spying  


 
Workplace means any place where business or work-related activities are conducted. It 
includes, but is not limited to, the physical work premises (e.g., offices, facilities and 
ferry), work-related social functions (e.g. parties, golf games, etc.), work responsibilities 
outside Town of Gananoque’s offices, work-related travel and work-related conferences 
or training sessions, etc. 
 
Prevention 
 
The Town of Gananoque shall establish program to reduce the risk of harassment in the 
workplace which is found in the Workplace Violence Prevention Policy – HR-600-02. 
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Roles and Responsibilities: 
 
Employer: 
 


• Offer its full support to any Employee experiencing harassment in the workplace  
 
• Investigate all complaints of harassment promptly and thoroughly 
 
• Administer disciplinary action up to and including termination as appropriate to 


Employees who harass others 
 
• Minimize the risk of harassment where reasonably possible 


 
• Ensure Employees are trained to: 


i. recognize harassment 
ii. follow the procedures and policies developed to minimize risk 
iii. respond to incidents appropriately and 
iv. report and document such incidents 


 
Management (Manager/Supervisor): 
  


• Do everything reasonable to stop harassment, whether or not a complaint has 
been made, as soon as harassment in his/her work area is identified 


 
• Will be held responsible if he/she should have known the harassment was going 


on and allows the situation to continue 
 
• Will be held legally responsible if harassment is ignored and will face discipline 


by the Employer 
 


More specifically, Management is responsible for: 
 


a) Promoting a positive, harassment-free work environment and intervening 
when problems occur 


b) Dealing with inappropriate actions that come to his/her attention 
c) Tracking and reporting incidents of harassment to the Joint Health and Safety 


Committee and the Employer 
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d) Ensuring proper health care is offered to anyone involved in an incident and 
for securing the safety of Employees before investigating the incident or 
taking reports 


e) Cooperating with police, Town investigators or other authorities, as required 
during any investigation related to workplace harassment 


 
Employee: 
   


• Inform any Management member or Union Representative of any harassment 
he/she experiences or witnesses.  


 
• Report to Management any incidents of harassment, according to the procedures 


set out in this policy 
 
• Participate in any training or information sessions provided by the Town to 


reduce harassment 
 
• Cooperate with the police, Town investigators or other authorities as required 


during any investigation related to workplace harassment 
  
Rights   
 
Complainant: 
 


• To file a complaint and have it dealt with promptly, without fear of embarrassment 
or reprisal 


 
• To have a person of your choice accompany you during the process 
 
• To make sure that no record of the complaint is placed on your personnel file, as 


long as it was made in good faith 
 
• To be informed about the progress of your complaint 
 
• To be informed of completion of the investigation 
 
• To receive fair treatment 
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Respondent: 
 


• To be informed of the complaint 
 
• To be given the opportunity to respond allegations 
 
• To have a person of your choice accompany you during the process 
 
• To be informed about the progress of the complaint 
 
• To receive fair treatment 


 
Procedure 
 
General 
 
Employees are encouraged to attempt to resolve their concerns by direct 
communication with the person(s) engaging in the unwelcome conduct or harassing 
behaviour.  Where an Employee feels confident or comfortable in doing so, he/she 
should communicate his/her disapproval in clear terms to the person(s) whose conduct 
or comments are offensive. 
 
The Employee should keep a written record of the date, time, details of the conduct and 
witnesses, if any. 
 
Employees who are not confident or comfortable with direct communication and who 
believe they are subjects of harassment, or become aware of situations where such 
conduct may be occurring, must report these matters to a Management member, union 
representative or Human Resources. 
 
If informal attempts at resolving the issue are not appropriate, or prove to be ineffective, 
a formal complaint may be filed.  To file a formal complaint: 
 


a) Provide a letter of complaint that contains a brief account of the offensive 
incident (i.e. when it occurred, the persons involved, and names of 
witnesses, if any). The letter shall also include the remedy sought and be 
signed and dated by the person complaining; 
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b) File the complaint with Management or Human Resources; and 
c) Cooperate with those responsible for investigating the complaint. 


 
Reporting and Investigation 
 
This section provides an overview.  For further details on the investigation procedure, 
please see Investigation Procedure – HR-600-06. 
 
Each and every incident of harassment in the workplace shall be reported immediately 
to Management, a union representative or Human Resources. 
 
All complaints shall be handled in a confidential manner. Information concerning a 
complaint, or action taken as a result of the investigation, will not be released to anyone 
who is not involved with the investigation. 
 
An investigation team shall assess and investigate the incident immediately and, 
 


• Determine if mediation is appropriate and if so, mediate or arrange for mediation 
of the situation 


• Contact the authorities as soon as possible (police or Ministry of Labour, where 
appropriate), to report the incident 


• Conduct the appropriate investigation immediately; and keep detailed notes of 
facts, times, witnesses, and witness accounts 


• Write a report outlining the details, facts and witnesses of the incident and submit 
the report to the Joint Health and Safety Committee and any other parties 
required by law 


  
If the perpetrator is an Employee, Management shall apply appropriate disciplinary 
measures based on the facts of the incident and the perpetrator’s employment record.  
 
Report of the Investigation 
 
An investigative written report will be submitted to the CAO that shall include: 
 


• Decision 
• Possible separation of the complainant and alleged harasser 
• Remedies for the victim 
• Corrective action 
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Disciplinary Action 
 
Disciplinary action for violations of this policy will take into consideration the nature and 
impact of the violations, and may include a verbal or written reprimand, suspension 
(with or without pay) or termination (with or without notice) as appropriate based on the 
facts of the incident and the perpetrator’s employment record.  
 
In all cases, other than dismissal, the harasser will also be required to attend an 
intensive anti-harassment training session. 
 
If the investigation does not find evidence to support the complaint, there will be no 
documentation concerning the complaint placed in the file of the alleged harasser.  
When the investigation reveals harassment occurred, the incident and discipline 
imposed on the harasser, will be recorded in the harasser’s file. 
 
Investigation Follow-up 
 
A written report on the investigation results will be provided to the appropriate parties.  
 
Results will be analyzed by the parties, and recommendations as well as actions must 
be taken to reduce as many risks as can be reasonably removed such as adapting work 
arrangements and the work environment to employee training and education.  
 
Unsubstantiated Complaints 
 
If a person, in good faith, files a harassment complaint that is not supported by evidence 
gathered during an investigation, that complaint will be dismissed and no record of it will 
be put in the accused harasser’s file.  As long as the complaint was made in good faith 
there will be no penalty to the person who complained, and no record in her or his file. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
The Town of Gananoque will not disclose a complainant’s or respondent’s name, or any 
circumstances related to a complaint, to anyone, except as necessary to investigate the 
complaint or take disciplinary action related to the complaint, or as required by law.   
Management involved in a complaint is reminded to keep all information confidential, 
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except in the above circumstances.  Any breach of confidentiality will be sanctioned up 
to and including dismissal. 
 
Retaliation 
 
Retaliation is considered a serious disciplinary breach.  Anyone who retaliates in any 
way against a person who has complained of harassment, given evidence in a 
harassment investigation, or been found guilty of harassment, will themselves be 
considered guilty of harassment and penalized accordingly.  The possible penalties are 
the same as those assessed against harassers. 
 
Malicious Reporting 
 
In the event that the complaint was made in bad faith (with malicious intent to harm 
another person’s reputation that person will be disciplined and a record of the incident 
will be put in her or his file. 
 
Penalties for someone who complains in bad faith will be the same as for a case of 
harassment and will depend on the seriousness of the situation.   
 
Education 
 
All new Employees will receive a copy of this Policy and all other related policies during 
that Employee’s documentation and orientation process. 
 
This Policy shall be posted so that it is available to all Employees. 
 
All Employees will be educated and trained on the Workplace Harassment Policy. 48 
Workplace violence and harassment prevention 
The training program for Employees shall include: 
 


a) The means to recognize harassment; 
b) Procedures, work practices, administrative arrangements and engineering 


controls that have been developed to minimize or eliminate harassment; 
c) The appropriate responses of Employees to incidents of harassment, 


including how to obtain assistance; and 
d) Procedures for reporting incidents of harassment. 
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Management will also be trained to safely supervise all Employees. 
 
Review 
 
The Employer and its Unions will monitor this policy and make adjustments where 
necessary to ensure it remains effective.  It will be reviewed annually.  Any Employee 
concerns with the policy should be brought to the attention of Management.  Comments 
are always welcome.   
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to providing a safe, healthy, respectful and 
supportive working environment by treating its Employees with respect, fairness and 
sensitivity.  
 
The Town of Gananoque does not tolerate domestic violence in the workplace 
perpetrated by or against staff, volunteers, and clients or other third parties.  
 
The Town of Gananoque recognizes that home and work issues cannot always be 
separated and domestic violence can impact greatly on the working life of someone who 
is being abused.  Domestic violence can result in the deterioration of an Employee’s 
performance, increased absenteeism or poor timekeeping, threatening job prospects 
and job security.  People experiencing domestic violence are especially vulnerable once 
they attempt to leave abusive partners and may become vulnerable going to or coming 
from work or while they are at work as the abuser knows where they can be located.  
This can give rise to health and safety issues and an increased risk of workplace 
violence. 
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to assisting its Employees experiencing domestic 
violence wherever possible and to create a safe and supportive environment.  The 
Town of Gananoque recognizes that supporting its Employees experiencing domestic 
violence is also of benefit to the organization, helping it to ensure the health, safety and 
welfare of the workforce and reduce absence-related costs and increase productivity. 
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to the principle that domestic violence is 
unacceptable behaviour and that everyone has a right to live free from fear and abuse.  
Where domestic violence occurs or has the potential to occur in the workplace, the 
paramount consideration of the Town of Gananoque is to ensure the health and well-
being of its Employees. 
 
Objective 
In compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act, as amended, the purpose of 
this policy is to define domestic abuse, recognize how it impacts the workplace, and to 
establish roles and responsibilities if domestic violence is being experienced or 
perpetrated by a Town of Gananoque Employee. 
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Guiding Principles: 
 
The Town of Gananoque will: 
 


• Commit to early intervention by identifying ways of creating a supportive 
environment 


 
• Create confidential mechanisms for employees experiencing domestic violence 


to seek help and information 
 
• Offer ongoing support to employees experiencing domestic violence including 


time off for counseling, visits to a solicitor or support agencies, for re-housing or 
re-organizing childcare 


 
• Relocate or redeployment, if possible, where this would be appropriate and 


supportive of the employee 
 
• Train and educate staff on domestic violence involving some basic awareness 


training for all staff and more detailed training for managers and supervisors 
 
• Provide resources within the workplace, such as posters, to raise awareness 


about domestic violence help-lines and other support services 
 
• Provide mechanisms for monitoring and reviewing the policy’s effectiveness 


and for regularly updating information on help available and how to contact 
support services. 


 
The Town of Gananoque recognizes that it does not offer domestic violence counselors 
and therefore will not promise more than it is able to provide in the way of support 
particularly if it may be putting it or others into a dangerous situation.  
 
Definitions 
 
Domestic Violence (also known as Domestic Abuse or Spousal Abuse) occurs when 
a family member, partner or ex-partner attempts to physically or psychologically 
dominate another.   Domestic violence often refers to violence between spouses, or 
spousal abuse but can also include cohabitants and non-married intimate partners.  
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Domestic violence occurs in all cultures; people of all races, ethnicities, religions, sexes 
and classes can be perpetrators of domestic violence.  
 
Domestic violence is perpetrated by both men and women. 
 
Physical Violence is the intentional use of physical force with the potential for causing 
injury, harm, disability, or death, for example, hitting, shoving, biting, restraint, kicking, 
or use of a weapon. 
 
Sexual Violence and Incest are divided into three categories: 


• Use of physical force to compel a person to engage in a sexual act against his 
or her will, whether or not the act is completed;  


• Attempted or completed a sex act involving a person who is unable to 
understand the nature or condition of the act, unable to decline participation, or 
unable to communicate unwillingness to engage in the sexual act, e.g., 
because of underage immaturity, illness, disability, or the influence of alcohol or 
other drugs, or because of intimidation or pressure;  


• Abusive sexual contact.  
 
Emotional Abuse (also called Psychological Abuse) can include humiliating the victim, 
controlling what the victim can and cannot do, withholding information from the victim, 
deliberately doing something to make the victim feel diminished or embarrassed, 
isolating the victim from friends and family, and denying the victim access to money or 
other basic resources. 
 
Economic Abuse is when the abuser has complete control over the victim's money and 
other economic resources.  Usually, this involves putting the victim on a strict 
"allowance," withholding money at will and forcing the victim to beg for the money until 
the abuser gives them some money.  This also includes (but is not limited to) preventing 
the victim from finishing education or obtaining employment, or intentionally 
squandering or misusing communal resources. 
 
Stalking is often included among the types of Intimate Partner Violence. Stalking 
generally refers to repeated behaviour that causes victims to feel a high level of fear.  
 
Creating a Safe Work Environment 
 
The Town of Gananoque is aware that there may be additional issues facing employees 
and additional barriers to seeking help because of their ethnic background, religion, 
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age, sexual orientation or disability which might make them feel more vulnerable when 
talking about their situation. 
 
In order to encourage disclosure and/or discussion of domestic abuse, the Town of 
Gananoque will be committed to: 
 


• Creating an environment where employees feel safe and able to talk about 
issues that are affecting them 


 
• Providing information about the policy to staff e.g. on notice boards, in 


washrooms, and in staff areas. 
 
• Prioritizing safety through exploring with individuals experiencing domestic 


violence with the steps they can take to increase their personal safety 
 
• Taking time to talk to the employee and ensuring that any discussions take 


place in private 
 
• Providing a sensitive, non-judgemental response that includes providing details 


of the support systems that are available 
 
• Respecting the confidentiality of the individual concerned, with the exception of 


when there are concerns about the safety of children, or unlawful activity has 
been disclosed 


 
Identifying Domestic Violence in the Workplace 
 
Signs of violence should not be ignored, but Employees should not be pressured into 
disclosing any personal information that they do not feel comfortable sharing. 
 
Possible signs of domestic violence include, but are not limited to: 
 


• Late or high absenteeism rate without explanation 
• Uncharacteristic depression, anxiety, distraction or problems with concentration 
• Changes in the quality of work performance for no apparent reason 
• The receipt of repeated upsetting calls/faxes/e-mails, or the individual being a 


victim of vandalism or threats 
• Obsession with time 
• Needing regular time off for appointments 
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• Repeated injuries, or unexplained bruising or explanations that do not fit the 
injuries displayed 


• Increased hours being worked for no apparent reason 
 


Roles and Responsibilities 
 
Employer 
 
The Town of Gananoque is to ensure the health and well-being of employees and to 
ensure that, where appropriate, perpetrators of domestic violence are challenged and 
held accountable.  
 
Management (Manager/Supervisor) 
 


• Assess the risk of domestic violence among Town of Gananoque Employees 
and minimizing that risk where reasonably possible 
 


• Investigate and document all known or suspected incidents of domestic 
violence in accordance with the Town of Gananoque Policy – Investigation 
Procedure – HR-600-06 
 


• Facilitate medical attention or other suitable supports for the individuals 
experiencing domestic violence and securing his/her safety 
 


• Ensure that all Employees are appropriately trained to increase awareness of 
domestic violence, its signs, and response procedures  
 


• Review all reports of domestic violence and/or threats of domestic violence in a 
prompt, objective and sensitive manner including review of all investigations 
associated with domestic violence-related incidents 
 


• Take immediate measures to respond appropriately to all reported incidents of 
domestic violence against employees and to notify the appropriate authorities 
of such reports 
 


• Support staff who are being subjected to or have been victims of domestic 
violence 
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• Ensure that any staff member who may be perpetrating abuse during work time 
is made accountable and dealt with accordingly 


 
• Track and analyze incidents for trends and prevention initiatives 


 
Employee 
 


• Understands and complies with this statement of policy and all related 
procedures 
 


• Participates in education and training programs that are offered in order to 
increase awareness of the risk of domestic violence and its effect on the 
workplace 
 


• Responds to disclosure or witnessing/suspecting of any incident of domestic 
violence 
 


• Assists in maintaining a safe work environment 
 


• Cooperates with the police, the Town of Gananoque’s internal or external 
investigation team and/or other authorities during an investigation of domestic 
violence  
 


• Seeks medical attention when necessary 
 
Joint Health and Safety Committees (JHSC) 
 


• Assists with the monitoring and evaluation of the Domestic Violence Policy 
 
Perpetrators of Domestic Violence/Abuse 
 
The Town of Gananoque recognizes that perpetrators of domestic violence/abuse might 
use workplace resources such as telephone, fax or e-mail to threaten, harass or abuse 
their current or former partners, and may involve other colleagues, who may or not be 
aware of their motives, in assisting them. 
 
The Town of Gananoque will consider action against any domestic violence perpetrator 
upwards and including dismissal in addition to the contacting police. 
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Unsubstantiated complaints 
 
If a person, in good faith, files a domestic violence complaint that is not supported by 
evidence gathered during an investigation, that complaint will be dismissed and no 
record of it will be put in the accused file.  As long as the complaint was made in good 
faith there will be no penalty to the person who complained, and no record in her or his 
file. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
The Town of Gananoque will not disclose a complainant’s or respondent’s name, or any 
circumstances related to a complaint, to anyone, except as necessary to investigate the 
complaint or take disciplinary action related to the complaint, or as required by law.  
Managers involved in a complaint are reminded to keep all information confidential, 
except in the above circumstances. Any breach of confidentiality will be sanctioned up 
to and including dismissal. 
 
Retaliation 
 
Retaliation is considered a serious disciplinary breach.  Anyone who retaliates in any 
way against a person who has complained of harassment, given evidence in a domestic 
violence investigation, or been found guilty of domestic violence, will themselves be 
considered guilty of harassment and penalized accordingly.  The possible penalties are 
the same as those assessed against harassers. 
 
Malicious Reporting 
 
In the event that the complaint was made in bad faith (with malicious intent to harm 
another person’s reputation) that person will be disciplined and a record of the incident 
will be put in his/her file. 
 
Penalties for someone who complains in bad faith will be the same as for a case of 
harassment and will depend on the seriousness of the situation. 
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Policy  
 
The Ontario Human Rights Code (the "Code") states that it is public policy to recognize 
the inherent dignity and worth of every person, and to provide for equal rights and 
opportunities without discrimination.  
 
The Town of Gananoque’s policies state that dealings between Employees at all levels 
of the organization are to be based on high standards of justice and integrity.  The Town 
strives to create work environments where all individuals are treated fairly, with 
complete respect, and where personnel decisions are clearly made on the basis of job 
qualifications, competency and merit. 
 
The Town of Gananoque does not tolerate discrimination in the workplace perpetrated 
by or against staff, volunteers and clients or other third parties.  
 
Although harassment is a form of discrimination, this policy will not deal with this 
specific form. For specific information on workplace harassment, refer to the Town of 
Gananoque’s Workplace Harassment Policy – HR-600-03. 
 
Objective 
 
The objective of this policy is to establish procedures to minimize or prevent 
discrimination in the workplace; and to foster equality and fair treatment of Employees, 
contractor, members of the public and visitors to Town work sites.   
 
Scope  
 
This policy applies to all Employees of the Town of Gananoque, contractors, members 
of the public and visitors to the Town of Gananoque. 
 
Definitions 
 
Discrimination means unfair treatment because of ancestry, ethnic origin, colour, race, 
religion, citizenship, place of origin, sex (including pregnancy and gender identity), 
disability (including mental and physical disabilities), age, sexual orientation as well as 
family or marital status (opposite or same sex partners).  
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Workplace means any place where business or work-related activities are conducted. It 
includes, but is not limited to, the physical work premises (e.g., offices or plants), work-
related social functions (e.g., parties, golf games, etc.), work assignments outside the 
Town of Gananoque’s offices, work-related travel and work-related conferences or 
training sessions. 
 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 
Employer  
 
The Town of Gananoque will not tolerate discrimination under any circumstances. Any 
Employee experiencing discrimination has the full support of the Town in resolving the 
issue.  All complaints of discrimination will be promptly and thoroughly investigated.   
  
Management (Manager/Supervisor) 
 


• Provide a work environment that is free from discrimination, including actively 
promoting a positive, discrimination-free work environment and intervening when 
problems occur 


 
• Deal with inappropriate actions of others that come to their attention 


 
• Cooperating with Town investigators or other authorities, as required during any 


investigation related to workplace discrimination 
 
Employee 
 


• Informs Management of any discrimination he/she experiences or witnesses  
 


• Reports to Management any incidents of discrimination, according to the 
procedures set out in this policy 


 
• Attends any training or information sessions provided by the Employer to reduce 


discrimination 
 


• Cooperates with Town investigators or other authorities as required during any 
investigation related to workplace discrimination 
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Procedure 
 
General 
 
Employees are encouraged to attempt to resolve their concerns by direct 
communication with the person(s) engaging in the discriminating behaviour.  Where 
employees feel confident or comfortable in doing so, they should communicate their 
disapproval in clear terms to the person(s) whose conduct or comments are offensive. 
 
The Employee should keep a written record of the date, time, details of the conduct and 
witnesses, if any. 
 
Employees who are not confident or comfortable with direct communication and who 
believe they are subjects of discrimination, or become aware of situations where such 
conduct may be occurring, must report these matters to his or her Supervisor, Manager, 
Union Representative or EAP Counselor. 
  
If informal attempts at resolving the issue are not appropriate, or prove to be ineffective, 
a formal complaint may be filed.  
 


To file a formal complaint: 
 


a) Provide a letter of complaint that contains a brief account of the offensive 
incident (i.e., when it occurred, the persons involved, and names of 
witnesses, if any)  


b) File the complaint with a Management member 
c) Cooperate with those responsible for investigating the complaint 


 
Reporting and Investigation 
 
This section is an overview of the investigation procedure.  For further details on the 
investigation procedure please review Town of Gananoque Policy – Investigation 
Procedure – HR-600-06. 
 
All complaints of discrimination shall be handled in a confidential manner.  Information 
concerning a complaint, or action taken as a result of the investigation, will not be 
released to anyone who is not involved with the investigation. 
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The CAO or designate shall assess the complaint and determine if an investigation into 
the complaint is warranted  
 
In the event an investigation is warranted, an Investigation Team will be established for 
the investigation process. 
 
Interviews will be held with the complainant, witnesses and accused to establish the 
facts of the complaint. 
 
Upon completion of the interviews the Investigation Team will determine the likeliness of 
the complaint as to whether or not it occurred. 
 
A written report of the findings will be provided to the CAO or designate for review and 
determination of any potential disciplinary action. 
 
Disciplinary Action 
 
Disciplinary action for violations of this policy will take into consideration the nature and 
impact of the violations, and may include a verbal or written reprimand, suspension 
(with or without pay) or termination (with or without notice). Reference will be made to 
the Discipline Policy – HR-300-01 when determining disciplinary action relating to this 
policy. 
 
Unsubstantiated Complaints 
 
If a person, in good faith, files a harassment complaint that is not supported by evidence 
gathered during an investigation, that complaint will be dismissed and no record of it will 
be put in the accused harasser’s file.  As long as the complaint was made in good faith 
there will be no penalty to the person who complained, and no record in her or his file. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
The Town of Gananoque will not disclose a complainant’s or respondent’s name, or any 
circumstances related to a complaint, to anyone, except as necessary to investigate the 
complaint or take disciplinary action related to the complaint, or as required by law.  
Managers involved in a complaint are reminded to keep all information confidential, 
except in the above circumstances. Any breach of confidentiality will be sanctioned 
upward and including dismissal. 
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Retaliation 
 
Retaliation is considered a serious disciplinary breach.  Anyone who retaliates in any 
way against a person who has complained of harassment, given evidence in a 
harassment investigation, or been found guilty of harassment, will themselves be 
considered guilty of harassment and penalized accordingly.  The possible penalties are 
the same as those assessed against harassers. 
 
Malicious Reporting 
 
In the event that the complaint was made in bad faith (with malicious intent to harm 
another person’s reputation) that person will be disciplined and a record of the incident 
will be put in her or his file. 
 
Penalties for someone who complains in bad faith will be the same as for a case of 
harassment and will depend on the seriousness of the situation. 
 
Education 
 
All new Employees will receive a copy of this Policy and all other related policies during 
that Employee’s documentation and orientation process. 
 
This Policy shall be posted so that it is available to all Employees. 
 
Review  
 
All aspects of the discrimination prevention plan including the policies will be reviewed 
annually to ensure the plan is effective. 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to investigating any formal complaint of 
workplace violence, domestic abuse, harassment and discrimination.  It is committed to 
a workplace of respect and dignity where Employees know they can come to 
management to report such incidents and know they will be appropriately dealt with in a 
consistent manner.   
 
The Town of Gananoque supports zero tolerance for all types of workplace violence, 
domestic violence, harassment and discrimination within the workplace or at work 
related activities.  The Town is committed to control and minimize the risk of workplace 
violence and to support Employees who may be exposed to workplace violence. 
 
This Investigation Policy applies to the following policies: 
 


• Workplace Violence Prevention – HR-600-02 
• Workplace Harassment Prevention – HR-600-03 
• Domestic Violence Prevention – HR-600-04 
• Workplace Discrimination Prevention – HR-600-05 


 
Objective 
 
To treat Employees (including volunteers, and clients) with respect, fairness and 
sensitivity by investigating their complaints in a consistent manner to foster a healthy 
work environment. 
 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 
Employer 
 


• Provide Management with the appropriate training to accept reports of 
workplace violence, domestic violence, harassment and discrimination 


• Provide Management with the appropriate training and resources to investigate 
complaints of workplace violence, domestic violence, harassment and 
discrimination 


• Create and maintain appropriate policies for consistent investigation for 
Employee complaints 
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• Review all reports of violence and/or threats of violence in a prompt, objective 
and sensitive manner, including investigation reports 


• Take appropriate corrective and disciplinary action 
• Provide appropriate response measures 


 
Management (Manager/Supervisor) 
 


• Initiate investigations for all formal reports of workplace violence, domestic 
violence, harassment and discrimination 


• Notify the CAO of all reports of workplace violence, domestic violence, 
harassment or discrimination lodged 


• Facilitate an unbiased investigation, through an Investigation Team made up of 
two members (one of whom may be from Human Resources), of all incidents of 
workplace violence, domestic abuse, harassment or discrimination using the 
Investigation Procedure (detailed below); 


• Complete the necessary paperwork required of the Investigation Process 
• Contact the police department as required when a criminal act is alleged to have 


taken place on Town property or at off-site events 
• Maintain confidentiality throughout the process 
• Ensure that debriefing is completed for those either directly or indirectly involved 


in the incident 
 
Human Resources 
 


• Provides support to Management throughout the process of accepting and 
investigating complaints 


• Participates as an Investigation Team member where appropriate 
• Assists with the arrangements to contract with an external investigator as 


required 
• Ensures that this and related policies are reviewed regularly to ensure 


compliance with appropriate legislation 
 
Investigation Team 
 


• Leads the investigation in an unbiased manner 
• Assigns one member to be the interviewer and the other to be the scribe 
• Provides a report of its findings to the CAO or designate 
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Employee (Complainant) 
 


• Reports all incidents of violence and/or threats of violence to any manager/ 
supervisor immediately 


• Complies with all policies and related procedures 
• Participates in the investigation process 
• Seeks appropriate support from available resources when confronted with 


violence or threats of violence 
 
Investigation Procedure 
 
1. Reporting 


• The Employee reports the complaint to Management (any manager/supervisor). 
 
2. Staging 


• Prior to receiving the complaint, Management must use and explain the 
C.A.R.E. method for receiving the complaint: 


o C→ Confidentiality 
Outline the commitment to confidentiality and preserving the integrity of 
the complaint process.  All parties must sign a Confidentiality Statement. 
o A→ Accountability 
Knowledge = Accountability and therefore Management, with knowledge, 
has a responsibility to act. 
o R→ Retaliation 
Remind the Employee that he/she is free from retaliation from individuals 
involved in the process to the best of our ability. 
o E→ Expectations 
Clarify who the Employee has talked to and when, determine outcome, 
explain process. 


• Willingness to Proceed – after the C.A.R.E. has been explained, the 
manager/supervisor needs to ask the complainant if he/she is prepared to 
proceed. 


• Once the complainant has agreed to proceed, the manager/supervisor may 
accept the complaint. 


 
3. Accepting the Complaint 


• Management must take every complaint/incident seriously and 
o Offer support to all complainants 
o Encourage the Employee to talk about the incident or concern 
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o Consider the Employee’s well-being 
o Provide counselling when necessary 
o Involve the Employee when creating solutions to address the concern 


• Management must write down the complaint as the Employee is explaining the 
situation, highlighting who, what, when, where, and the resolution, encouraging 
the Employee to provide as much detail as possible; 


• Management must make sure the discussion is date- and time-stamped.   
• Management must immediately notify the Department Head, CAO and Human 


Resources of the report who is responsible for immediately establishing the 
Investigation Team 


• The Investigation Team must follow up, possibly the same day, depending on 
severity of the allegations 


• The Employee must provide a written report of the complaint and deliver it to 
Management by an assigned date. 


 
4. Notification 


• Human Resources will coordinate the preparation and delivery of a letter signed 
by Management advising the accused that a complaint has been lodged against 
him/her and what is expected of him/her during the investigation. 


• Human Resources will coordinate the preparation of a letter to the witness(es) 
signed by Management explaining that a complaint has been lodged and he/she 
has been named as a witness and what is expected of him/her during the 
investigation. 


• Human Resources will coordinate the preparation of a letter to the complainant 
signed by Management acknowledging receipt of the complaint and the 
investigation steps. 


  
5. Assessing the Complaint 


• The Investigation Team will: 
o Assess the complaint in an unbiased manner 
o Identify the nature of the complaint and issues as presented 
o Review all applicable policies and the legislation, if necessary, to 


ensure a full understanding of the framework within which the 
complaint is considered 


 
6. Evidence Collection 


• The Investigation Team will: 
o Collect the necessary documents to further review the allegations of 


the Employee (e.g. documentation, photos, sketches, policies and 
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procedures, emails, visitor logs, phone records, equipment, 
assignment sheets, regulations, legislation, swipe cards, etc.) 


o Review any and all documentation that may be available 
 
7. Interviews 


• The Investigation Team will: 
o Interview the Employee first to establish the facts of the complaint and 


to gather more information; 
o Interview the witness(es) after the complainant to establish the facts 


provided by the Employee; 
o Interview the accused last, providing him/her with an opportunity to 


respond to the complaint.  
 
8. Evaluating Evidence 


• The Investigation Team will evaluate all the evidence that has been gathered 
during the course of the investigation and make a determination as to the 
likeliness of the complaint. 


• The evidence and resulting outcome must be considered within the applicable 
Town policies and the relevant legislation. 


 
9. Report 


• The Investigation Team will submit a report to the Department Head and CAO 
detailing the investigation undertaken including any recommendations for action. 


 
10. Outcome 


• Notification to the complainant will be provided upon conclusion of the 
investigation.  Information pertaining solely to the findings will be provided.  No 
disciplinary outcomes will be discussed. 


• Notification to the accused will be provided upon conclusion of the investigation 
including any disciplinary action or training required. 


• Notification to the witness(s) will be provided that the investigation has 
concluded. 


• Any disciplinary action will be as per the Town of Gananoque Discipline policy – 
HR-02-02. 


 
Retaliation 
 
No report of workplace violence, domestic violence, harassment or discrimination can 
be the basis of reprisal against the reporting Employee.  Any failure to respect this 
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prohibition against retaliation will be taken seriously and will be sanctioned upward and 
including dismissal.  This is inclusive of malicious reporting.  Malicious reporting is 
extremely serious and will not be tolerated and is a serious offence. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
The Town of Gananoque will not disclose the names of any person involved with a 
complaint (the Employee, the witnesses or the accused) , or any circumstances related 
to a complaint, to anyone, except as necessary to investigate the complaint or take 
disciplinary action related to the complaint, or as required by law.  All persons involved 
with an investigation can be expected to complete confidentiality statements when 
deemed necessary (copy appended).  Management involved with a complaint is 
reminded to keep all information confidential, except in the above circumstances.  Any 
breach of confidentiality will be sanctioned upward and including dismissal.   
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CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT 


 
Confidentiality as defined under the Investigation Procedure – HR-600-06 will be 
maintained ensuring that information is accessible only to those authorized to have 
access. 
 
In order to preserve the integrity of this investigation discussed on ________________ 
(insert date), all parties are being requested to sign a statement ensuring that 
confidentiality will be strictly maintained.  This process and any information shared 
(verbally or in writing) is to be kept confidential and not to be discussed during or after 
the process with anyone including co-workers or any other persons on staff, with the 
exception of Human Resources, legal counsel, union representation or the police. 
 
Any breach of confidentiality will result in serious consequences upward and including 
dismissal. 
 
Moreover, any act of retaliation as a result of this process will be taken seriously and 
acted upon by the organization with discipline upwards and including dismissal. 
 
In addition to maintaining confidentiality, there is an expectation that all statements 
made either verbally or in writing during this process will be true and accurate. 
 
 
Signed on: ________________________________ 
               (Date) 
 
 
Print Name:      Signature: 
 
____________________________  ________________________________ 
 
 
Print Name (Witness):    Signature: 
 
____________________________  ________________________________ 
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is committed to providing a safe workplace for its employees, 
its clients, residents, and the public.  Equally important to the Town is the promotion of 
employee health and well-being.  The use of drugs (both legal and illegal, as explained 
below) and alcohol, both on and off the job, can jeopardize employee health, safety and 
well-being as well as adversely affect job performance. 
 
The Town has adopted the following policy to establish and maintain a safe workplace 
and a healthy and efficient workforce free from the effects of drug and alcohol use. 
 
Objective 
 
The intent of this policy is to: 
 


a) establish and maintain a workplace which is free of the negative effects of drug 
and/or alcohol use 


b) clarify the respective responsibilities of the Town and its employees to ensure a 
workplace which is free of the negative effects of drug and/or alcohol use 


c) implement appropriate corrective disciplinary action up to and including 
dismissal where employees violate this policy 


d) identify, assist and, where appropriate, accommodate employees who are 
identified as having a drug and/or alcohol related disability. 


 
Procedure 
 
The use, sale, distribution or possession of alcohol and/or illegal drugs while on the job 
or at the workplace is cause for dismissal. 
 
Reporting for work while under the influence of alcohol and/or illegal drugs may lead to 
discipline up to and including dismissal.  The employee will not be allowed to work 
his/her shift and will be sent home immediately. 
 
An employee is not to be at work when his/her judgment is impaired or his/her 
behaviour is inappropriate due to the use of over-the-counter or legally prescribed 
drugs.  If an employee is undergoing prescribed medical treatment with drugs, which 
are likely to impair his/her performance, he/she should promptly report this treatment to 
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his/her immediate supervisor.  Failure to report may lead to discipline up to and 
including dismissal. 
 
Being unfit for scheduled work due to the use or after-effects of illegal drugs or alcohol 
may lead to discipline up to and including dismissal. 
 
Employees returning to work after seeking treatment for drug and/or alcohol 
dependency may be subject to conditions of reinstatement including regular attendance 
at work, satisfactory work performance or any other conditions deemed appropriate by 
the Town. 
 
Human Rights Considerations 
 
In dealing with violations of this policy, the Town will differentiate between behaviour 
that is properly characterized as relating to a disability – including alcohol and/or drug 
dependency – and behaviour that is not. 
 
If a violation of this policy occurs because an employee suffers from a disability – 
including alcohol and/or drug dependency – the Town’s response will be directed at the 
goal of rehabilitation.  Accommodation pursuant to the Ontario Human Rights Code will 
be offered, where appropriate. 
 
It is the employee’s obligation to advise the Town that he/she suffers from alcohol 
and/or drug dependency as soon as possible and to provide appropriate medical proof 
of his/her condition.  The employee also has a duty to cooperate with rehabilitation 
offered by the Town. 
 
If rehabilitation is not achieved, termination of employment may result, however, each 
case will be assessed on its individual merits. 
 
Employee Assistance 
 
The Town encourages any employee with a drug and/or alcohol problem to contact 
his/her Supervisor for assistance.   
 
Employees may also contact directly the Town’s Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
provider at 613-549-5561 or toll free at 1-888-409-4499 for quick, professional, 
confidential help. 
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Confidentiality 
 
All actions taken and employee information obtained pursuant to this policy will be 
confidential and disclosed only on a “need to know” basis.  
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque is dedicated to providing affordable and high quality services 
to the public and residents we serve and the operations we manage.  Healthy and work 
ready employees assure the Town’s ability to meet and maintain this level of quality. 
 
In order to facilitate return to work, the Town of Gananoque engages in a cooperative 
discussion with the employee, their Health Care Professional(s), the Insurance Carrier 
and/or the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) in order to determine the 
appropriate return to work plan and the availability of meaningful, purposeful work. The 
Town is also committed and complies with all applicable legislative Acts including but 
not limited to: the tenets of the Ontario Human Rights Code (OHRC) and the duty to 
accommodate set out in the Act as well as the Accessibility for Ontarians with 
Disabilities Act (AODA). 
 
Objective 
 
To expedite the safe and effective return to work for employees who have been absent 
for a period related to an occupational or non-occupational injury or illness. 
 
To assist an employee who requests an accommodation.  
 
Definitions 
 
Occupational illness/injury: 
Cases of illness, injury or medical conditions of both a physical and psychological 
nature incurred by an employee in the performance of, or in connection with, his or her 
work. 
   
Non-Occupational illness/injury: 
Cases of illness, injury or medical conditions of both a physical and psychological 
nature not incurred in the performance of, or in connection with his or her work. 
 
Modified work:  
Temporary work designed for employees returning from an injury or illness  Generally, 
recovery takes up to twelve (12) weeks. Modified work is designed for employees, who 
temporarily cannot fully perform the essential duties of their own positions, provided 
meaningful and purposeful work is available. 
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Work hardening:  
Temporary work designed for employees who have fully recovered from an injury or 
illness but require a short reconditioning period to prevent injury and build work stamina 
after a prolonged absence. 
 
Sponsored work hardening: 
Temporary work designed for employees who have fully recovered from an injury or 
illness but require a longer (up to 6 weeks) reconditioning period to prevent injury. This 
period is financially sponsored by the Insurance Carrier. 
 
Accommodated work: 
Permanent alterations to an employee’s duties or working conditions which will enable 
them to return to their pre-injury/illness position. 
 
Employees who cannot fully perform the essential duties of their own position on a 
permanent basis or who have accessibility needs due to a disability will be 
accommodated provided: 


• the accommodation required does not necessitate the creation of a new position; 
• the alteration of one position to meet the accommodation needs does not require 


additional staffing  for that position on a permanent basis; 
• the employee is able to fulfill the bona fide requirements of the position. 


 
Health Care Professional: 
A member in good standing of one of the 26 regulatory colleges/licensing bodies in 
Ontario such as  Physicians, Nurses, Practitioners, Surgeons, Physiotherapists, 
Chiropractors, Chiropodists, Psychiatrists, Midwives, etc. 
 
Supervisor: 
For the purpose of this policy, the term “supervisor” refers to anyone in a supervisory 
role. This term would therefore include titles such as but not limited to supervisor, 
manager, director and CAO. 
 
Procedure 
 
Upon receipt of notification and/or documentation supporting an accommodation, 
Management will make every effort to expedite all return to work plans within five (5) 
business days. When additional or clarifying information is required and/or other 
extenuating circumstances arise, the commencement date may be delayed. 
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The employer can request an employee who is or has been absent due to illness/injury 
to be evaluated by a second, objective health care professional at the employer’s 
expense. 
 
Occupational Injury (WSIB) 
 
An employee should follow the procedures outlined in Health & Safety Policy Employee 
Occupational Illness/Injury Reporting when experiencing an occupational illness/injury. 
The supervisor will maintain regular contact with the ill/injured employee during their 
leave period the supervisor will initiate discussions of the return to work process and the 
modified work /accommodation program when appropriate. When ready to return to 
work from an occupational illness/injury, accommodation may be provided where 
applicable as per the following procedures; 
 
1. In collaboration with Human Resources the employee’s supervisor, will design an 


individualized modified work program to facilitate the early and safe return to work 
of the employee. The supervisor may utilize a standardized plan that has been 
designed for that position. 


 
2.  The employee and if requested by the employee, their union representative, will 


meet their supervisor and Human Resources to review and discuss the return to 
work plan and schedule of shifts. 


 
3. The employee is responsible for working within the identified functional abilities so 


as not to prolong recovery. 
 
4. The employee will maintain regular contact (at least weekly) with the supervisor to 


discuss progress and problem solve any obstacles or concerns. If any concerns 
exist about the appropriateness of assignments, the employee will advise their 
supervisor of their concern. 


 
5. As updated Functional Abilities Forms (FAF) are received, the supervisor and 


Human Resources will update the work assignment to reflect the changes. 
 
6. On occasion, a meeting of the workplace parties with a Return to Work Specialist 


from WSIB may be scheduled to facilitate the return to full duties. 
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7.    Management shall determine the place and duration of an employee’s 
individualized RTW taking into consideration what is in the best interests of the 
work hardening process.  


 
Non-Occupational Injury/Illness 
 


1. When an employee has incurred a non-occupational illness or injury, the supervisor 
will maintain regular contact with the employee during their leave period. Once the 
employee is ready to return to work, either the employee or the employer may 
initiate the discussion concerning the need for modified work where applicable.  The 
employee is then responsible for submitting their request in writing to their 
supervisor, along with a current FAF (completed by their Health Care Professional) 
outlining their precautions and prognosis.   
 


 *All confidential medical information will be maintained according to the applicable 
privacy legislative requirements in secured health care files. 


 
2. On receipt of this information, the supervisor/manager and Human Resources will 


meet to review the request.  The Employer has the right to request an Independent 
Medical Examination (IME) by a health care professional of their choice in any 
case. 


 
3. If the requirements can be met and there is sufficient meaningful and purposeful 


work available, the employee, supervisor/manager and Human Resources will 
collaboratively design and review an individualized work plan and schedule.  The 
use of an outside consultant or professional may be utilized if necessary. 


 
 If the requirements cannot be met, the supervisor and Human Resources will meet 


with the employee to advise of the reason for the decision. 
 
 The employee is welcome to bring union representation to any meeting      


concerning return to work. 
 
4. The employee will maintain regular contact throughout the modified work program 


with the supervisor/manager, the Health Care Professional, and the Insurance 
Carrier (if applicable). 


 
The plan will be amended each time there is a change in the FAF. Employees 
participating in modified work are expected to be re-assessed by a Health Care 
Professional at least every two weeks 
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The employee is responsible for working within the identified functional abilities so as 
not to prolong recovery. 
 
Whenever possible, the employer will try to place employees on modified work in their 
own position. However, as this is not always possible, the employer reserves the right to 
place the employee in another position according to their abilities and limitations and the 
requirements of the job assignment. 
 
Declared Disability 
 
When an employee has a permanent disability and requires permanent workplace 
accommodation, he/she is responsible for submitting this request in writing to their 
supervisor/manager. 
 
On receipt of this information, the employee, supervisor/manager and Human 
Resources will meet to review the application for workplace accommodation within the 
following parameters: 


• the accommodation required does not necessitate the creation of a new position; 
• the alteration of one position to meet the accommodation needs does not require 


additional staffing  for that position on a permanent basis; 
• the employee is able to fulfill the bona fide requirements of the position. 


 
The employer will make every effort to install any equipment or devices which would 
enable the employee to fulfill the requirements of the position. 
 
The Employer has the right to request an Independent Medical Examination (IME) by a 
health care professional of their choice in any case. 
 
A ‘buddy’ will be assigned to employees whose mobility is compromised to ensure their 
safety and/or assist them to evacuate in the event of an emergency situation.  


 5/5  







 
 
   
Human Resources – Non-Union Terms & Conditions of 
Employment - General  


Policy Type:  Human Resources 
Policy # HR-700-01 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


 
Policy Statement  
 
The polices contained in the Non-Union Terms of Employment policies establish the 
conditions of employment and benefits for all permanent non-union employees of the 
Corporation of the Town of Gananoque not covered by a union, temporary or student 
agreement or an individual employment contract. 
 
Where benefits are negotiated either through an individual employment contract, 
temporary or student agreement, the conditions of that individual employment contract 
or temporary or student agreement shall apply.  Benefit enhancements will be applied to 
non-union employees that are equal to those in the CUPE 1707 collective agreement. 
 
The Corporation maintains the right to manage and direct all operations of the 
Corporation to maintain order, discipline and efficiency of the operations. The 
Corporation shall exercise these rights in a fair and reasonable manner. 
 
The Non-Union Terms & Conditions of Employment will remain in effect unless changed 
by Council through a By-Law and supersede previous versions of Non-Union Terms & 
Conditions of Employment. 
 
Objective 
 
To outline employment conditions governing Town of Gananoque Non-Union 
Employees. 
 
Procedure 
 
The Non-Union terms and conditions of employment outline specific employment 
conditions for this group of employees.  Non-union employees are still subject to and 
expected to comply as a condition of their employment with all Human Resources, 
Corporate, Departmental, Position specific policies and procedures and applicable 
legislation. 
 
Corporate Representation 
 
Non-Union employees will be provided with a name tag that clearly identifies them as an 
employee of the Town of Gananoque, with their name and their position.  Employees 
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are required to wear this when they are representing the Town with external clients, at 
an external meeting, conference or function. 
 
Non-Union employees who regularly attend meetings with external agencies, who 
represent the Town at conferences/trade shows/networking functions will be provided 
with one (1) business appropriate shirt with the Town of Gananoque logo to wear at 
such events.   
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Policy  
 
The Town of Gananoque hereby adopts the following categories of employment for non-
union employees.   
 
Objective 
 
To define employment categories for non-union employees. 
 
Procedure 
 
Probationary 
 
An employee who has not yet completed six (6) consecutive months of employment 
with the Town, and whose continued employment is subject to satisfactory performance 
during the six (6) months probationary period. 
 
A probationary employee may be dismissed for any reason at any time during this six 
(6) month probationary period, or at the end of the period, without notice or pay in lieu of 
notice except in accordance with the Employment Standards Act, 2000, if applicable.  
 
Permanent Full-Time 
 
An employee employed on a continuous full-time basis and regularly scheduled to work 
thirty-five (35) hours or forty (40) hours per week over five (5) days as defined in the 
employment contract.  These employees are entitled to staff benefits. 
 
Permanent Part-Time  
 
An employee regularly scheduled to work an average of less than 35 hours per week on 
a continuing basis.  These employees are only eligible for benefits (standard 
deductions) as specified by legislation, i.e. Employment Standards Act. 
 
Regular Part-Time 
 
An employee who is engaged to work scheduled shifts and may be “called in” to cover 
unscheduled, unforeseen or intermittent work.  These employees are only eligible for 
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benefits (standard deductions) as specified by legislation, i.e. Employment Standards 
Act. 
 
Casual  
 
An employee hired to cover unscheduled, unforeseen or intermittent work. These 
employees are only eligible for benefits (standard deductions) as specified by legislation 
i.e. Employment Standards Act.  
 
Student 
 
An employee who is registered and attends an educational institution on a full-time 
basis and is employed for the school vacation periods only. These employees are only 
eligible for benefits (standard deductions) as specified by legislation i.e. Employment 
Standards Act. 
 
Seasonal 
 
An employee who is hired for a temporary period to assist with duties of a periodic 
nature.  These employees are only eligible for benefits (standard deductions) as 
specified by legislation i.e.  Employment Standards Act. 
 
Contract 
 
An employee who is hired under a letter of agreement or formal employment contract to 
carry out special projects or duties for a specified period. These employees are only 
eligible for benefits as specified in the applicable employment contract and as specified 
by legislation i.e. Employment Standards Act. 
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Policy  
 
The Town shall provide annual vacation to all eligible employees. 
 
Objective 
 
To provide a period of vacation in recognition of the need of employees for rest and 
relaxation, to encourage continued employment and reward continuous service. 
 
Procedure 
 
Non Union Employees 
 
Vacation entitlement for non-union employees shall be as follows: 
 
Full-time employees shall earn an annual vacation with pay based on their years of 
service, calculated as of January 1 of each year, in accordance with the following 
schedule: 
 


Employment Period  
(in year employment completed) 


Entitlement 


Less than one (1) year of continuous 
service 


One (1) day for every month worked up to 
a maximum of ten (10) days 


One year and each year thereafter Two (2) weeks 
4 years and each year thereafter Three (3) weeks 
8 years and each year thereafter Four (4) weeks 
12 years and each year thereafter Five (5) weeks 
20 years and each year thereafter Six (6) weeks 
25 years and each year thereafter Seven (7) weeks 


 
All vacation entitlement will be provided to the employee on January 1st each year.  In 
the event the employee leaves the employ of the Town their vacation entitlement will be 
pro-rated based on actual service in that year.  If the employee has taken vacation time 
they have not earned, the value of any unearned time will repaid to the Town at the time 
of final financial settlement.  The employee will have the owing amount deducted from 
any outstanding payments.  If the employee is owed vacation time after it has been pro-
rated it will be paid out at the time of final financial settlement. 
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Employees shall be entitled to their vacation in an unbroken period, wherever possible.  
In meeting the overall staffing needs of the organization and to ensure all employees 
have an opportunity to take their vacation, the duration of vacations shall be kept to a 
maximum of two (2) weeks at a time consecutively.  Under special circumstances and 
considering operational needs an employee may request an additional week(s) be taken 
upon approval of the Department Head and CAO. 
 
Each year in January the CAO will request submissions for vacation leave on a 
prescribed “Application for Leave” form.  The form shall be completed and discussed 
with the Supervisor by April 15.  Upon approval by the Supervisor, the request shall be 
submitted to the CAO by April 25.  Depending on the sufficiency of adequate and 
appropriate staffing, the CAO shall review and authorize by May 1. 
 
Employees who are absent from work in excess of thirty (30) days in any calendar year, 
except employees on pregnancy or parental leave or any other legislated leave; shall 
have their vacation entitlement for the year prorated based on the actual time worked in 
the calendar year. 
 
Vacation Entitlement in Offers of Employment 
 
A starting vacation entitlement or a schedule of increments in vacation entitlements that 
varies from the vacation entitlement policy may be negotiated with a candidate for a 
non-union position where: 


a) The candidate’s experience is substantial and directly related to the position 
sought; and 


b) The entitlement negotiated does not exceed the vacation to which the candidate 
would have earned had all his or her previous experience been in the employ of 
the Town; and 


c) The approval of the Chief Administrative Officer or designate has been obtained. 
 
In such circumstances, a determination regarding the employee’s future vacation 
entitlement shall be determined by the CAO. 
 
Vacation pay shall be at the rate effective immediately prior to the vacation period. 
 
Part-time employees shall be paid vacation pay at the rate of four percent (4%) of their 
regular wages earned, to be paid on a bi-weekly basis and shall be provided time off in 
accordance with the Employment Standards Act. 
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Vacation Carryover 
 
Earned annual vacation entitlements must be taken in the calendar year and cannot be 
accumulated or carried over from year to year.  However it is recognized that there may 
be certain circumstances where employees are unable to take their full vacation 
entitlement during the calendar year. 
 
Up to two (2) weeks of vacation entitlement may be carried over into the next year only 
with the written approval of the Department Head, when circumstances beyond the 
control of the employee warrant such consideration.  Circumstances noted may include 
but are not limited to: situations where operational needs require deferral of vacation, 
illness or injury, or a very special vacation plan where an individual’s choice is limited.  
Any vacation entitlement remaining above the two (2) weeks carryover will be paid out 
at the end of the year.  
 
In considering such requests the Department Head shall first consider any banked 
overtime that is also outstanding so that the combined effect if carried over will not place 
an unmanageable burden on the following years vacation program.  The Department 
Head shall consider the number of employees making similar requests and ensure that 
the number is kept to a minimum in order to ensure effective operations. 
 
The Department Head will keep the CAO apprised on the status of the total department 
vacation carry over and banked overtime, with a clear plan of how these will be 
accommodated and eliminated by the end of the carry over year. 
 
Circumstances which cannot be resolved by the above may be brought to Council by 
the CAO for consideration. 
 
All employees should make an effort to use their vacation entitlement in the year it is 
provided. 
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Policy  
 
Full time employees of the Town of Gananoque are entitled to a designated number of 
paid holidays each calendar year.   
 
Objective 
 
To ensure compliance with legislation. 
 
Procedure 
 
Non Union Employees 
 
Full –Time Non-Union Employees shall be entitled to the following paid holidays: 
 
New Year’s Day Labour Day 
Family Day Thanksgiving Day 
Good Friday Christmas Day 
Easter Monday Boxing Day 
Victoria Day The last one half (1/2) of the day on the 


last working day before Christmas Day  
Canada Day The last one half (1/2) of the day on the 


last working day before New Year’s Day 
Civic Holiday Float Day (in lieu of Remembrance Day) 


 
The date and time for taking the Float Day shall be mutually agreed upon by the Town 
and employee.  The Float Day cannot be carried over from one calendar year to the 
next. 
 
If the Federal Government declares another Paid Holiday such holiday will be added to 
the above list and be effective on the day declared. 
  
When any of the above holidays falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the CAO shall declare 
either the preceding Friday or the following Monday as the holiday. 
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An employee who qualifies to receive pay for any holiday will not be entitled, in the 
event of illness or injury, to receive short term disability benefits in addition to holiday 
pay in respect of the same day. 
 
All other categories of employees will be entitled to statutory holiday pay as defined in 
the Employment Standards Act. 
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Policy  
 
The Town shall grant a leave of absence without loss of pay in the event of a death in 
the employee’s family in accordance with this Policy. 
 
Objective 
 
To provide employees the opportunity to grieve. 
 
Procedure 
 
Non-Union Full-Time Employees 
 
Bereavement leave without loss of pay, benefits or seniority will be granted to non-union 
full-time employees upon request in accordance with the following entitlement: 
 


a) In the event of the death of the following family member the employee will be 
provided up to a maximum of five (5) working days, including the day of the 
funeral. 
 


Employee’s spouse 
(including common-law & 
same-sex) 


Mother 
Step-Mother 


Father 
Step-Father 


Child  
(biological, adopted, step-
child or foster child) 


Grandparent  
Spouse’s Grandparent 


Grandchild 


Brother Sister  
 
 


b) In the event of the death of the following family member the employee will be 
provided one (1) working day. 
 


Daughter-in-law Son-in-law Sister-in-law 
Brother-in-law Aunt Uncle 
Step-Brother Step-Sister  
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Should the one (1) working day allowed not provide adequate time for travel, the 
Employee may make application for special consideration which will be decided 
by the Employer with due diligence and dispatch. 
 


c) One day of leave shall be granted without loss of pay to attend a funeral as a 
pallbearer, except where leave is granted under (a) or (b) above provided that 
this provision is not used by any single Employee more than once in any 
calendar year. 


 
Payment for bereavement leave will be based on time lost from regularly scheduled 
shifts, which the employee would otherwise have worked. 
 
An employee who has commenced his/her scheduled vacation and suffers a death in 
the immediate family shall have his/her vacation extended by the number of days to 
which he/she is entitled pursuant to (a) or (b) above. 
 
In special circumstances the CAO may, at his/her sole discretion, grant bereavement 
leave to employees upon request. 
 
Compassionate Leave 
 
There may be times when an employee is required to attend to a family member 
because of a serious illness.  The Department Head in consultation with the CAO may 
grant compassionate leave to employees upon request. 
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Policy  
 
Employees who have at least thirteen (13) weeks service with the Town of Gananoque 
are entitled to pregnancy and parental leave in accordance with this Policy. 
 
Objective 
 
To provide pregnancy and parental leave in accordance with the Employment 
Standards Act, 2000. 
 
Procedure 
 
Non Union Employees 
 
Non-union employees shall be granted pregnancy and parental leave as follows:  
 
Pregnancy Leave 
 


i. A pregnant employee who has been employed with the Town for at least thirteen 
(13) weeks prior to the expected date of birth is entitled to take a pregnancy 
leave without pay and without loss of service/seniority or benefits. The pregnancy 
leave is for a seventeen (17) week period commencing no earlier than the 17 
weeks before her due date and the day on which she gives birth; 


ii. An employee taking pregnancy leave must provide at least two (2) weeks written 
notice to the Town advising of the date that the leave is to begin; 


iii. In the event of complications with the pregnancy or a birth, still birth, or 
miscarriage that occurs earlier than the expected date of delivery of the child, the 
employee must, within two (2) weeks of stopping work, provide written notice to 
the Town of the date the pregnancy leave will begin or has begun; 


iv. If the Town requests it, the employee shall provide a certificate from a legally 
qualified medical practitioner stating, in the case of an employee who stops 
working because of a complication; and 


v. The pregnancy leave of an employee ends seventeen (17) weeks after the 
pregnancy leave began. If the employee wishes to return to work earlier, the 
employee must provide the Town at least four (4) weeks' written notice before the 
day she wishes to end her leave.    
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vi. Permanent Full-Time employees who qualify for pregnancy benefits under the 
Employment Insurance Act may elect to receive a supplementary maternity 
benefit for a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks equal to the difference between 
benefits payable under the Employment Insurance Act and ninety-three percent 
(93%) of the Employee’s regular pay.  Such benefit shall be funded by the 
Employee’s available short term disability benefits.  In no case shall the 
Employer be required to pay out more than is available to the Employee through 
their Short Term Disability benefits when the leave starts. 


 
 
Parental Leave (includes Adoption Leave) 
 


i. If an employee has been in the employ of the Town for at least thirteen (13) 
weeks and is the parent of a child, he/she is entitled to take an unpaid parental 
leave, without loss of service/seniority or benefits, for up to thirty-five (35) or thirty 
seven (37) weeks following the birth of the child, or the coming of the child into 
the employee’s custody, care, and control for the first time. The term "parent" 
includes a person with whom a child is placed for adoption and a person who is 
in a relationship of some permanence with a parent of a child and who intends to 
treat the child as his or her own;  


 
ii. Employees who wish to take a parental leave must commence such leave no 


later than fifty-two (52) weeks after the day the child is born or comes into the 
employee’s custody, care and control for the first time; 


 
iii. Employees who have taken a pregnancy leave and who also desire to take 


parental leave, must commence parental leave immediately when the pregnancy 
leave ends, unless the child has not yet come into the custody, care and control 
of the employee for the first time; 


 
iv. The employee must give the Town at least two (2) weeks' written notice of the 


date the leave is to begin. In the event that an employee who is a parent stops 
working because the child comes into his or her custody, care and control for the 
first time earlier than expected, the employee’s parental leave begins on the date 
that the employee stopped working and the employee, must give the Town 
written notice that he or she is taking parental leave within two (2) weeks of 
stopping work; and 
 


v. Parental leave ends thirty-five (35) weeks after it began if the employee also took 
pregnancy leave, and thirty-seven (37) weeks after it began, otherwise; or on an 
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Policy # HR-700-06 
Approved By Council on: 
  
 
By-Law #  


earlier day if the employee gives the Town at least four (4) weeks' written notice 
before the earlier day. 
 


vi. Permanent Full-Time employees who qualify for Parental benefits under the 
Employment Insurance Act may elect to receive a supplementary maternity 
benefit for a maximum of thirty-five (35) weeks or thirty-seven (37) weeks if the 
employee has not taken Pregnancy leave, equal to the difference between 
benefits payable under the Employment Insurance Act and ninety-three percent 
(93%) of the Employee’s regular pay.  Such benefit shall be funded by the 
Employee’s available short term disability benefits.  In no case shall the 
Employer be required to pay out more than is available to the Employee through 
their Short Term Disability benefits when the leave starts. 


 
General Provisions Applicable to Pregnancy and Parental Leave 
 


i. An employee who has given notice to begin pregnancy or parental leave may 
change the notice to begin leave upon giving the Town at least two (2) weeks' 
written notice; 


 
ii. An employee who has given notice to end leave may change the notice to an 


earlier date upon giving the Town at least four (4) weeks' written notice before 
the earlier date; 


 
iii. Employees are entitled, during pregnancy and parental leave, to continue 


participation in the group benefit plans that they participated in prior to taking the 
leave. The Town will continue to make the Town’s contributions for such group 
benefit plans unless the employee gives the Town written notice that the 
employee does not intend to pay the employee's contributions during the leave 
period, in which case such benefits would cease; 


 
iv. While on Pregnancy and Parental Leave, employees continue to accumulate 


service for the purposes of determining their rights under an employment 
contract; and 


 
Upon the conclusion of an employee’s pregnancy or parental leave, the Town 
shall reinstate the employee to the position that the employee most recently held 
with the Town, if it still exists, or a comparable position, if it does not.  This 
provision does not apply if the employment of the employee is ended solely for 
reasons unrelated to the leave. 
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Policy  
 
Leave of absence without loss of pay or seniority shall be granted to an employee who 
reports for jury duty or who appears as a witness before a court pursuant to a summons 
or subpoena, subject to the requirements identified below. 
 
Objective 
 
To allow employees to perform their civic duty without loss of pay. 
 
Procedure 
 
Non-Union Employees 
 
An employee who receives notice to report for jury duty, or who receives a summons 
also known as a subpoena to testify as a witness, must provide a copy of the notice or 
summons to their supervisor prior to reporting for jury duty or to testify. 


 
The employee must repay to the Town any payments received in connection with the 
performance of jury duty or testifying as a witness (excluding any payments received for 
travel or meal expenses) within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of any such payments. 


 
Employees who are on jury duty or testifying in court must report back to work if 
excused for a half a day or an entire day. 


 
Provided the employee meets the above requirements, payment for jury leave shall be 
based on time lost from regularly scheduled shifts, which the employee would otherwise 
have worked. 
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Policy  
 
The Town shall provide a short-term disability plan as outlined herein. 
 
Objective 
 
To minimize the financial hardship which may be created when an employee is 
temporarily unable to report to work due to illness or injury. 
 
Procedure 
 
Non-Union Full-Time Employees 
  
The provision of sick leave is to be utilized by employees when they are unable to report 
to work due to their own illness or injury.  Sick leave is not to be utilized to care for 
family members or for medical appointments of the employee or their family member. 
 
All permanent full-time employees shall be entitled to eighty five (85) sick leave days 
per annum, the use of which shall be subject to a letter of confirmation by their 
physician. 
 
Sickness must be reported by employees to the employer as soon as possible on the 
first day of absence. 
 
To ensure the continuation of short-term disability benefits, when requested by the 
Town, or where the employee is absent or expected to be absent for longer than three 
(3) days, employees must provide a medical certificate signed by a duly qualified 
medical practitioner: 
 


a) confirming that the employee is unable to perform his/her duties due to his/her 
medical condition;  


b) indicating the prognosis and/or probable or expected duration of the medical 
condition; and  


c) identifying the medical restrictions, if any, applicable to the employee’s return to 
work, where appropriate.   
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In any case of prolonged illness, the employee shall submit such periodic reports on 
his/her condition as the Town may require. 
 
Where written notice of termination of employment has been given, and the employee 
becomes disabled during the notice period, the Town will maintain disability payments in 
accordance with the short-term plan.  This notwithstanding, the Town will deem the 
employer/employee relationship to be severed at the end of the notice period. 
 
If an employee has approved vacation scheduled during the short-term disability period, 
the employee will be charged with the vacation unless he/she becomes an inpatient at a 
recognized hospital or attends a hospital emergency room for a serious illness, 
 


a) immediately preceding the scheduled vacation period and continues under the 
care of a physician during the scheduled vacation period; or 


b) during a scheduled vacation period and continues under the care of a physician 
during the scheduled vacation period,  


 
in which case, the vacation will be rescheduled at a time agreeable to the employee and 
the Town. 
 
During a period of short-term disability, the employer’s share of the contributions to 
maintain the employee’s enrollment in existing benefit plans will continue. 
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Policy  
 
Benefits are an integral part of the remuneration provided to non-union employees. 
 
Objective 
 
To establish benefits provided by the Town to non-union employees.  
 
Procedure 
 
Permanent Full-Time Non-Union Employees  
 
Currently the following benefits are in effect for permanent full-time non-union 
employees: 
 


a) Group Life Insurance/Accidental Death & Dismemberment 
b) Long-Term Disability 
c) Extended Health 
d) Dental 
e) Prescription Vision  
f) Hearing Aids 


 
All full-time permanent non-union staff are eligible for benefit coverage. 
 
All benefits are provided in accordance with the benefit and insurance carriers. 
 
All benefits cease the day of the employee turning age 65 or when the employee leaves 
the employ of the Town whichever happens first.   
 
The Employer will pay 100% of the premiums for Extended Health and Dental Care, 
Long Term Disability (LTD) and Group Life/AD&D Insurance as provided by the Town’s 
approved plan. 
 
Upon retirement and with confirmation of at least fifteen (15) years of service with the 
Town of Gananoque the premiums of the Extended Health benefits under the Town’s 
approved plan or equivalent will be paid by the Corporation until the age of 65, at which 
time all benefits entitlements will be terminated. 
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Vision Care 
 
Employees, their spouse and children, children over the age of 18 and less than 25 
must be enrolled in full-time attendance at an accredited school, shall be entitled to 
reimbursement of up to $450.00 total every two years toward the cost of prescription 
eye glasses, contact lenses, laser surgery and the cost of an eye exam.  Proof of 
current enrollment must be provided to the Employer.  The cost will be reimbursed only 
where they are prescribed as the result of an eye examination and the Employee 
provides a receipt showing that the cost has been incurred. 
 
Hearing Aids  
 
Employees, their spouse and children, children over the age of 18 and less than 25 
must be enrolled in full-time attendance at an accredited school, shall be entitled to 
reimbursement of up to $450.00 for the purchase of hearing aids once every three (3) 
years.  Proof of current enrollment must be provided to the Employer.  The cost will be 
reimbursed only where the hearing aid is prescribed as the result of a hearing 
examination and the Employee provides a receipt showing that the cost has been 
incurred. 
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Policy  
 
The Town shall pay the premiums necessary to maintain the non-union regular full-time 
employees’ enrollment in a Long Term Disability Plan as may be altered by the Town 
from time to time at its sole discretion. 
 
Objective 
 
To minimize the financial hardship which may result from a prolonged absence from 
work due to long term disability. 
 
Procedure 
 
Eligibility for and entitlement to benefits are subject to the terms and conditions of the 
policy or policies of insurance providing such plan.   
 
Refer to the LTD handbook for insurance coverage and specific information in regards 
to the LTD plan. 
 
The Town is only required to pay the premiums and has no further obligation. 
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Policy  
 
All permanent full time employees join the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement 
System. Subject to enrolment requirements, other than continuous full-time employees 
(OTCFT) may participate in the O.M.E.R.S. pension system if they meet the OMERS 
requirements.   
 
It is also mandatory to participate in the Canada Pension Plan. 
 
Objective 
 
To meet legislative requirements. 
 
To ensure all eligible employees are enrolled in the pension plan at time of eligibility. 
 
Procedure 


Non-Union Employees 


Documentation is completed at the time of hire and submitted to the appropriate staff 
person. Payroll deductions are made in accordance with the OMERS Act and 
Regulations. 


Enrolment is mandatory for full-time employees from the first day of employment and 
premiums are shared by the employee and the Town. 


When a full time employee transfers from full time to part time (or vice-versa) the 
O.M.E.R.S. pension contributions continue.  


Voluntary membership 


Subject to specific legislated conditions, a part-time employee or OTCFT may 
participate in the O.M.E.R.S. plan.  These conditions are: 


a) Effective January 1, 1988, any employee who, in each of two immediately 
preceding calendar years is given the option to join the pension plan if, 
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i. has earned including overtime and vacation pay, at least 35% of the 
Year’s Maximum Pensionable Earnings (YMPE) with any participating 
employer, or 


ii. has worked at least 700 hours (including overtime) with any 
participating employer. 


b) Waiver forms are completed every year by OTCFT employees who qualify for, 
but choose not to participate in, the O.M.E.R.S. Plan; and 
 


c) For OTCFT employees participating in O.M.E.R.S., premiums are shared by the 
employee and the Town. 


Details of the O.M.E.R.S. Plan are outlined in a brochure available on the website at 
www.omers.com  
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Policy  
 
This policy applies to all non-union employees and is intended to establish the normal 
hours of work for non-union jobs as thirty-five (35) or forty (40) hours per week as 
outlined in the position’s offer of employment. 
 
Objective 
 
To provide a procedure that outlines the standard hours of work for full-time non-union 
employees. 
 
Procedure 
 
The normal work week shall consist of thirty-five (35) hours or forty (40) hours and the 
normal work day will be seven (7) working hours or eight (8) working hours respectively.     
 
Employees will be provided with a meal break of one (1) hour unpaid as well as two (2) 
fifteen (15) minute paid break periods in the morning and afternoon. 
 
Business hours for Town Hall are 8:30am - 4:30pm. 
 
Flexible Hours:  
 
In order to accommodate special or extenuating circumstances employees may by 
mutual agreement with their Department Head, and approval of the CAO alternate start 
and end times with respect to the normal work day provided the hours of work are 
maintained and fulfill the requirement of daily and weekly hours of work and meet the 
operational requirements of the department and Town. 
 
Operational Needs: 
 
There may be times when hours of work will need to be adjusted due to operational 
needs.  The Department Head should give the employee as much notice as possible 
when hours of week need to be altered.  If overtime is incurred, please refer the Non-
Union Overtime Policy #HR-700-13. 
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Policy  
 
This policy applies to all non-union employees and is intended to compensate 
employees for approved time worked beyond regular hours only. 
 
Overtime shall be kept to a minimum and should not form a regular part of the work 
schedule. 
 
It is the responsibility of the senior manager to ensure that all overtime worked is 
authorized prior to such work being carried out. 
 
Objective 
 
To provide a procedure whereby employees required to work overtime are recognized 
and compensated for such work in a fair and reasonable manner. 
 
Procedure 
 
Employees, only when pre-authorized by their supervisor using the approved overtime 
form, shall be entitled to be paid or bank overtime worked at straight time.  Any overtime 
hours worked that are in excess of 44 hours per week up to the maximum of 48 hours 
per week shall be paid or banked at one and one-half (1.5) times their regular hourly 
rate. 
 
Overtime should be kept to a minimum and should not become a daily part of an 
employee’s work week.   
 
All overtime worked must be pre-authorized by an employee’s Supervisor in order 
to be eligible.  Employee’s must fill out the Overtime form (Appendix A) and 
submit for approval of overtime. 
 
Employees will receive compensating time off in lieu subject to the following: 
 


a) Time off in lieu of payment will be at a time mutually agreed upon by the 
employee and the employee’s supervisor and will not deny other employees of 
vacation entitlement; 
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b) Employees will not bank more than thirty-five (35) hours of time in lieu, if the 
ceiling of 35 hours is reached all overtime hours will be paid out at the 
Employee’s current rate of pay; 


 
c) Employees will not carry over any banked time from one year to the next. A 


request to carry-over lieu time must be authorized by the CAO. 
 
Supervisors & Managers 
 
Supervisors and Managers are not eligible for overtime payments for any time worked 
outside of their normal working hours. 
 
However, recognizing that overtime is inevitable and must be worked by those in 
supervisory and management positions, an employee who is not eligible for overtime 
payment will be granted a maximum of thirty-five (35) hours of authorized leave with pay 
each year, at a time to be arranged between the employee and his/her supervisor, in 
accordance with the Town’s Vacation Policy.  Department Heads will be responsible to 
ensure that eligible employees work the amount of overtime sufficient to qualify for the 
authorized leave with pay.  This additional one week of authorized leave must be used 
within the year it is granted and cannot be paid out. This additional one week cannot be 
carried forward except in exceptional cases with the authority of the CAO. 
 
 







HR-700-13 – Appendix A - Non-Union Overtime Form 


 
 


Please Note:  All overtime must be pre-authorized by your direct Supervisor.  
Any claim for overtime that was not pre-authorized will be denied. 


As per Human Resource Policy #HR-700-13 
 


 
Name:  
 
Direct Supervisor:  
 
Date Overtime Worked:  


Rationale: 


 
 
 
 


 
 


Time Number of 
Hours Worked 


Total Hours @ 
Straight Time 


Total Hours 
@ 1 ½  


 
  


 
 


 
 
 
Signature of Employee:  
 
Signature of Direct Supervisor:  
 
 Approved  
Date: 
 


 


 


STAFF- NON-UNION 
Overtime Form 


Upon approval, submit to Payroll  
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Policy  
 
The Town is committed to a policy of salary administration which is internally and 
externally competitive and equitable and that also recognizes and encourages individual 
performance.  Salary administration for non-union staff is an effective part of the Town’s 
management process, therefore, the salary structure and its use must not become 
restrictive. 
 
Objective 
 
To provide guidelines for ongoing salary administration and direction to management 
and non-union staff as to how the non-union salary grid will be managed. 
 
Procedure 
 
Salary Structure and Rate Ranges 
 
The salary structure and rate ranges shall be those approved by the C.A.O. and the 
Town Council from time to time. 
 
Cost of Living Adjustments 
 
Salary ranges shall be reviewed regularly.  Adjustments to the salary schedule or salary 
ranges shall be determined by Council having reference to: 
 


a) the need to attract, retain and motivate employees 
b) variations in the cost of living as indicated by the Consumer Price Index reported 


by Statistics Canada 
c) compensation rate increases in the appropriate labour market in this and other 


municipal corporations of similar structure 
a) compensation rate increases bargained or unilaterally set by other public and 


private employers in the appropriate labour market. 
 
Annual cost of living adjustments are necessary to maintain an equitable compensation 
system for non-union employees; it assists with reducing the compression between 
unionized and non-unionized positions and provides an annual increase that is fair. 
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Council should consider the following criteria when determining the annual cost of living 
adjustment provided to non-union staff: 


1. Annual adjustments to non-union rates will be set in accordance with the annual 
Ontario Consumer Price Index for October of each year based on the annual CPI 
rate. 


2. If the Index falls below one and a half (1.5) percent, the average of the Town 
collective agreements wage increases for the year being adjusted should be 
applied to the non-union wage schedules to reflect a wage increase and maintain 
a margin between the unionized and non-unionized bands to curtail compression.   


3. Should the Index exceed three (3) percent, Council direction shall be sought. 
4. All adjustments will be effective January 1st of each year. 


 
Classification 
 
The various steps in the grid are meant to represent the following: 


• Steps 1 and 2 – Training and Orientation Phase 


• Steps 3 and 4 – Skill and Education Development 


• Step 5 – Represents the Full Job Rate, with the employee capable of 
performing all related tasks as outlined in their respective job descriptions. 


 
An employee will normally start at the first step or minimum rate on the salary range for 
his/her position unless otherwise approved by the C.A.O. (Town Council when dealing 
with the C.A.O.). 
 
Salary Increases 
 
No progression on the salary schedule shall be automatic but rather by 
recommendation of the Manager and approval of the C.A.O. (Town Council when 
dealing with the C.A.O.) at his/her discretion based on a positive performance review; 
and having achieved at least 80% or more of their goals and objectives as set at the 
previous performance review. 
 
Performance reviews will be done during probationary periods, and at a minimum 
annually on or before November 30th each year, with any relative annual increase being 
effective on January 1st of the following year. This will provide ample opportunity for the 
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financial impact of any salary changes to be accommodated in the subsequent year’s 
annual operating budget. Probationary increases will be relative to positive performance 
reviews at the end of the given probationary period agreed to in their Offer of 
Employment. 
 
Acting Pay 
 
When an employee is in an acting position they will receive the minimum rate within the 
salary range of the higher paid position, which affords an increase in pay.  The 
employee will return to their regular rate of pay upon the completion of their acting 
assignment.  An acting assignment must be approved by the CAO for all positions or 
Town Council when dealing with the CAO position, before it commences. 
 
Eligibility for Acting Pay is for any assignment in excess of two (2) weeks. 
 
Reclassification 
 
When an employee is promoted to a higher paid position, the employee shall receive 
the minimum rate within the salary range of the higher paid position, which affords an 
increase in pay. 
 
When an employee voluntarily moves to a lower paid position, the employee shall be 
paid a salary that does not exceed the maximum of the new salary range. 
 
When an employee is involuntarily demoted to a lower paid position for cause, or due to 
performance related issues, the employee shall be paid a salary that does not exceed 
the maximum of the new salary range.  
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Policy  
 
Where a dispute arises over the interpretation or application of any provision in the Non-
Union Conditions of Employment policies or any other employment matter it requires a 
procedure to ensure the matter is dealt with consistently and promptly. 
 
Objective 
 
To ensure employees can bring forward issues arising from the interpretation or 
application of any provision in the Non-Union Conditions of Employment. 
 
To ensure follow-up to these concerns as required. 
 
Procedure 
 
In a situation where a dispute arises over the interpretation or application of any 
provision in this policy or any other employment matter, the CAO, or designate, shall 
adjudicate with the decision binding on all concerned. 
 
Employees who bring forward complaints and/or problems should not have reason to 
feel threatened or guilty for making such complaints known. 
 
Prior to filing a formal complaint an employee is encouraged to discuss his/her concern 
with the individual(s) with whom he/she has the complaint. 
 
If the employee's concern is not addressed, then the employee can submit a formal 
complaint using the procedure outlined below: 
 
An employee having cause for complaint shall first discuss the matter with their 
Department Head.  The Department Head shall hear, or receive the complaint within 
five (5) working days of the occurrence giving rise to the complaint.   If the employee 
reports directly to the CAO the complaint may be heard by a Committee of Council.  
 
The Department Head shall investigate and provide a written response of their decision 
within five (5) working days of hearing the complaint.   
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In the event that the Department Head fails to respond within the time specified, or the 
Employee is dissatisfied with the ruling of the Department Head, the Employee may file 
their complaint with the CAO within ten (10) working days.   
 
In the event that the Department Head fails to respond within the time specified, or the 
response is not satisfactory to the Employee, that Employee may submit his or her 
complaint directly to the CAO.  If the Employees’ Supervisor is the Department Head., 
the employee may submit his or her complaint directly to the CAO.  
 
The CAO shall hear or receive the grievance within five (5) working days of being 
requested.  If the Employee reports directly to the CAO the grievance may be heard by 
a Committee of Council. 
 
The CAO (or Committee of Council if complaint is in regards to CAO) shall provide a 
written response to the Employee of their decision within five (5) working days of 
hearing the complaint. 
 
In the event that the CAO fails to respond with the time specified, or the response is not 
satisfactory to the Employee, that Employee may submit her or her complaint with 
Council within ten (10) working days. 
 
Council shall hear the complaint within fifteen (15) working days of receipt of the 
complaint and communicate in writing their decision in the matter within five (5) working 
days of hearing the complaint. 
 
Any time limited specified in the procedure may be extended by the consent of both 
parties. 
 
The Employee may be accompanied by a representative (at his/her expense) at any of 
the foregoing meetings. 
 
Should the Employee be dissatisfied with the decision of Council, the Employee then 
shall have leave to pursue the matter at his or her expense through the civil court 
system provided by the Province of Ontario. 
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Policy Statement  
 
The employer agrees that in the event that the Municipality is merged or amalgamated 
with another municipal government, that prior to such merger or amalgamation the 
employer will develop an agreement that will address the following for non-union 
employees: 
 


a) Transfer of pensions 
b) Sick leave 
c) Severance for those Employees not offered employment in the new municipality 
d) Vacation and lieu time 
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		HR-700-16 - Human Resources - Merger or Amalgamation
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Council Report 2014 - 18 – Economic Development 
 
Council Date: November 4, 2014       IN CAMERA  


Subject:  Parking Shuttle Overview 


Author:  Shelley Hirstwood, Economic Development Manager            OPEN COUNCIL 
   
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That Council receive this report for information purposes.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The 2014 Parking Shuttle service was a pilot project with the intent of alleviating some of the parking 
congestion and loss of trailer parking as a result of the construction at the waterfront.    
 
The free shuttle operated from June 1, 2014 until September 1, 2014 from 8am-6pm continuously.  
There were 2 designated offsite parking lots including 900 Queen Street for trailer parking and 760 
Stone Street North for vehicle parking.   The express route travelled between the parking lots and 
waterfront every 15 minutes in addition to an extended route that travelled to the casino three times 
per day.    
 


Waterfront Express Route 
• 900 Queen Street – Gan 401 Storage 
• 760 Stone Street North  
• 100 Park Street – Beside the Visitor Centre 
• Water Street – In Front of Customs Dock 
• Extended Route (3 times per day) 


 
Extended Route (3 times daily) 


• 900 Queen Street – Gan 401 Storage 
• 760 Stone Street North  


• 100 Park Street – Beside the Visitor Centre 
• Water Street – In Front of Customs Dock 
• 185 South Street, Playhouse  


• 787 King Street East, TIAP Visitor Centre  
• 380 Hwy 2, OLG 
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INFORMATION/DISCUSSION 
 
The service provided by McCoy was reliable and consistent throughout the contract.  The drivers 
ensured that the schedule was maintained and tracked the passenger use on a daily basis.  Further, the 
drivers maintained a stock of community brochures to promote attractions and businesses.  The 
brochures in addition to a video showcasing our region provided passengers an overview of the 
community. 
 
The total number passengers that utilized the shuttle in June was 455, July was 877 and August was 
1207.  Overall there were a total of 2538 passengers that used the shuttle over the 93 day period.   The 
peak days were Saturday and Sunday with the off peak days being Wednesday and Thursday (Table 1).   
Further, the trailer parking lot was noted to be at full capacity several times during the month of August.  
 


Table 1: Weekday Usage 
Monday 11% 
Tuesday 11% 


Wednesday 7% 


Thursday 9% 
Friday 13% 
Saturday 28% 
Sunday 22% 


 
Communication was a critical component throughout the project and the information was originally 
distributed through the following channels: 
 


• Town website, www.gananoque.ca 
• Tourism website, www.travel1000islands.ca 
• Facebook and Twitter 
• Gananoque Marina 
• Gananoque and 1000 Islands Visitor Centre 
• TIAP Visitor Centre 
• Staff debriefings with Visitor Centre and Marina Staff 
• Gananoque MyFm Minute 
• Each shuttle stop had a mailbox restocked throughout summer 
• Shuttle Guide was stuffed in the parking brochures 
• Shuttle Guides and Parking Guides were hand delivered to attractions, accommodations 


and BIA businesses 
• Emailed to business community  


 
Although there was an extensive amount of outreach, there still seemed to be misconceptions 
regarding the service throughout the community at large.  The two main misconceptions that circulated 
included the belief that the shuttle was a transit system and that it was not for residents.  Upon receiving 
this information a story was written in the Gananoque Reporter and through MyFm to help circulate 
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the proper information.   As the service was intended as a parking solution, staff worked with the Taxi 
Companies and included their contact information on all signage and promotional information.   
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:   
 
The EDC is reviewing the shuttle service and will be bringing forward recommendations that will be 
presented during budget deliberation. 
 
CONSULTATIONS:  
 
Robert Small, CAO 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Parking Shuttle Flyer 
Shuttle Passenger Counts 
 


A
PP


R
O


VA
L 


               
__                                                                          _______________ 
Shelley Hirstwood, Manager of Economic Development 
   
_________________________________________________ 
Bill McKennan, Treasurer 
Certifies that unless otherwise provided for in this report the funds are contained within the approved Budgets and that the financial 
transactions are in compliance with Council’s own policies and guidelines and the Municipal Act and regulations. 


_________________________________________________ 
  Robert Small, CAO 
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DATE:


Time: Time: Time: Time: Time: Time: Time:
8:00am 8:01am 4 8:04am 8:08am 8:10am 8:17am 8:21am
8:30am 8:31am 11 8:34am 8:38am
8:45am 8:46am 5 8:49am 8:53am
9:00am 9:01am 4 9:04am 2 9:08am
9:15am 9:16am 3 9:19am 9:23am 2
9:30am 1 9:31am 9:34am 9:38am 1
9:45am 1 9:46am 13 9:49am 9:53am 1
10:00am 10:01am 5 10:04am 10:08am
10:15am 10:16am 1 10:19am 10:23am 2
10:30am 10:31am 11 10:34am 1 10:38am 2
10:45am 1 10:46am 5 10:49am 3 10:53am 3
11:00am 11:01am 11 11:04am 11:08am 5
11:15am 11:16am 11:19am 11:23am 2
11:30am 2 11:31am 9 11:34am 11:38am 1
11:45am 11:46am 5 11:49am 11:53am 1
12:00pm 2 12:01pm 4 12:04pm 12:08pm 2
12:15pm 3 12:16pm 3 12:19pm 12:23pm 1
12:30pm 1 12:31pm 10 12:34pm 2 12:38pm 7
12:45pm 3 12:46pm 5 12:49pm 2 12:53pm
1:00pm 3 1:01pm 8 1:04pm 6 1:08pm 1
1:15pm 1:16pm 1:19pm 3 1:23pm 1
1:30pm 2 1:31pm 2 1:34pm 1 1:38pm 2 1:40pm 2 1:47pm 19 1:51pm
1:45pm 1:46pm 1:49pm 3 1:53pm 2
2:00pm 2:01pm 2 2:04pm 3 2:08pm 5
2:15pm 1 2:16pm 2 2:19pm 2:23pm
2:30pm 2 2:31pm 4 2:34pm 1 2:38pm
2:45pm 2:46pm 2:49pm 7 2:53pm 9
3:00pm 2 3:01pm 5 3:04pm 4 3:08pm 9
3:15pm 3:16pm 4 3:19pm 2 3:23pm 4
3:30pm 3:31pm 5 3:34pm 2 3:38pm 14
3:45pm 3:46pm 5 3:49pm 2 3:53pm 6
4:00pm 1 4:01pm 2 4:04pm 4:08pm 9
4:15pm 2 4:16pm 4:19pm 10 4:23pm 41
4:30pm 4:31pm 4:34pm 8 4:38pm 23 4:40pm 4:47pm 4:51pm 3
4:45pm 4:46pm 4:49pm 4:53pm
5:00pm 5:01pm 12 5:04pm 5:08pm 10
5:15pm 5:16pm 5:19pm 4 5:23pm 2
5:30pm 5:31pm 2 5:34pm 2 5:38pm
5:45pm 5:46pm 2 5:49pm 3 5:53pm


TOTALs 27 164 71 168 2 19 3


All Stops 454


Gananoque Parking Shuttle - Passenger Count


900 Queen Street 760 Stone Street 100 Park Street
Water Street  


(Customs Dock)
185 South St 787 King St OLG Casino 


June 2014







DATE:


Time: Time: Time: Time: Time: Time: Time:
8:00am 8:01am 5 8:04am 8:08am 2 8:10am 8:17am 1 8:21am
8:30am 2 8:31am 37 8:34am 8:38am 4
8:45am 8:46am 7 8:49am 8:53am 9
9:00am 9:01am 8 9:04am 9:08am 7
9:15am 1 9:16am 4 9:19am 5 9:23am
9:30am 4 9:31am 9:34am 1 9:38am 13
9:45am 4 9:46am 8 9:49am 3 9:53am 2
10:00am 3 10:01am 3 10:04am 2 10:08am
10:15am 2 10:16am 12 10:19am 10:23am 10
10:30am 3 10:31am 1 10:34am 10:38am 2
10:45am 3 10:46am 7 10:49am 1 10:53am 5
11:00am 11:01am 5 11:04am 11:08am 3
11:15am 3 11:16am 4 11:19am 11:23am 11
11:30am 2 11:31am 22 11:34am 11:38am 8
11:45am 2 11:46am 4 11:49am 11:53am 5
12:00pm 6 12:01pm 13 12:04pm 12:08pm 9
12:15pm 12 12:16pm 5 12:19pm 12:23pm 25
12:30pm 7 12:31pm 17 12:34pm 12:38pm 7
12:45pm 4 12:46pm 12 12:49pm 1 12:53pm 9
1:00pm 3 1:01pm 10 1:04pm 1 1:08pm 7
1:15pm 6 1:16pm 15 1:19pm 5 1:23pm 4
1:30pm 4 1:31pm 10 1:34pm 3 1:38pm 10 1:40pm 1 1:47pm 1 1:51pm 1
1:45pm 1:46pm 1:49pm 1:53pm
2:00pm 9 2:01pm 3 2:04pm 3 2:08pm 10
2:15pm 6 2:16pm 2:19pm 2:23pm 18
2:30pm 3 2:31pm 9 2:34pm 3 2:38pm 19
2:45pm 8 2:46pm 3 2:49pm 2:53pm 18
3:00pm 3 3:01pm 4 3:04pm 2 3:08pm 13
3:15pm 4 3:16pm 3 3:19pm 1 3:23pm 2
3:30pm 7 3:31pm 1 3:34pm 3:38pm 29
3:45pm 5 3:46pm 5 3:49pm 3 3:53pm 16
4:00pm 1 4:01pm 6 4:04pm 2 4:08pm 14
4:15pm 2 4:16pm 4:19pm 9 4:23pm 32
4:30pm 1 4:31pm 4:34pm 5 4:38pm 19 4:40pm 4:47pm 4:51pm 4
4:45pm 4:46pm 4:49pm 1 4:53pm 2
5:00pm 11 5:01pm 5:04pm 8 5:08pm 36
5:15pm 1 5:16pm 5:19pm 2 5:23pm 7
5:30pm 12 5:31pm 4 5:34pm 5:38pm 15
5:45pm 3 5:46pm 5:49pm 5:53pm 12


147 247 61 414 1 2 5


All Stops 877


Gananoque Parking Shuttle - Passenger Count
July 2014


900 Queen Street 760 Stone Street 100 Park Street
Water Street  


(Customs Dock)
185 South St 787 King St OLG Casino 







DATE:


Time: Time: Time: Time: Time: Time: Time:
8:00am 8:01am 8 8:04am 1 8:08am 8:10am 8:17am 8:21am
8:30am 2 8:31am 61 8:34am 8:38am 2
8:45am 1 8:46am 30 8:49am 8:53am 2
9:00am 9:01am 11 9:04am 9:08am 4
9:15am 9:16am 12 9:19am 9:23am 10
9:30am 1 9:31am 9 9:34am 9:38am 2
9:45am 3 9:46am 9 9:49am 9:53am 3
10:00am 3 10:01am 3 10:04am 2 10:08am 2
10:15am 5 10:16am 12 10:19am 2 10:23am 6
10:30am 2 10:31am 11 10:34am 10:38am 3
10:45am 10 10:46am 10 10:49am 10:53am 7
11:00am 1 11:01am 13 11:04am 11:08am 7
11:15am 5 11:16am 4 11:19am 2 11:23am 19
11:30am 6 11:31am 11 11:34am 11:38am 12
11:45am 6 11:46am 8 11:49am 7 11:53am 7
12:00pm 3 12:01pm 30 12:04pm 2 12:08pm 8
12:15pm 4 12:16pm 24 12:19pm 12:23pm 25
12:30pm 6 12:31pm 11 12:34pm 2 12:38pm 4
12:45pm 4 12:46pm 14 12:49pm 8 12:53pm 7
1:00pm 11 1:01pm 23 1:04pm 2 1:08pm 14
1:15pm 4 1:16pm 2 1:19pm 1 1:23pm 10
1:30pm 10 1:31pm 8 1:34pm 3 1:38pm 18 1:40pm 1 1:47pm 1:51pm 2
1:45pm 6 1:46pm 5 1:49pm 1 1:53pm 5
2:00pm 3 2:01pm 5 2:04pm 5 2:08pm 15
2:15pm 6 2:16pm 4 2:19pm 2:23pm 14
2:30pm 2:31pm 3 2:34pm 3 2:38pm 9
2:45pm 2 2:46pm 1 2:49pm 2 2:53pm 31
3:00pm 1 3:01pm 3 3:04pm 2 3:08pm 30
3:15pm 8 3:16pm 4 3:19pm 3:23pm 27
3:30pm 1 3:31pm 6 3:34pm 3:38pm 15
3:45pm 3:46pm 4 3:49pm 3:53pm 10
4:00pm 1 4:01pm 4:04pm 4:08pm 14
4:15pm 3 4:16pm 2 4:19pm 2 4:23pm 75
4:30pm 7 4:31pm 4 4:34pm 5 4:38pm 61 4:40pm 1 4:47pm 4:51pm 3
4:45pm 4:46pm 4:49pm 4:53pm 15
5:00pm 5 5:01pm 8 5:04pm 2 5:08pm 70
5:15pm 2 5:16pm 7 5:19pm 5:23pm 32
5:30pm 5 5:31pm 3 5:34pm 5:38pm 12
5:45pm 5:46pm 5 5:49pm 5 5:53pm 9


Totals 137 388 59 616 2 5


All Stops 1207


787 King St OLG Casino 


Gananoque Parking Shuttle - Passenger Count
August 2014


900 Queen Street 760 Stone Street 100 Park Street Water Street  
(Customs Dock)


185 South St







185 
South St.


100 
Park St.


Water St.
Docks


760 
Stone St.


900 
Queen St. 


787
King St


Waterfront Express Route Every 15 minutes


• 900 Queen Street – Gan 401 Storage
Parking lot south of the building)


• 760 Stone Street North


• 100 Park Street – Beside the Visitor Centre


• Water Street – In Front of Customs Dock


 


 


Extended Route 


8:00am, 1:30pm, 4:30pm


• 900 Queen Street – Gan 401 Storage, 
Parking lot south of the building


• 760 Stone Street North


• 100 Park Street – Beside the Visitor Centre


• Water Street – In Front of Customs Dock


• 185 South Street, Playhouse


• 787 King Street East, TIAP Visitor Centre


• 380 Hwy 2, OLG


380
 HWY 2


OLG Casino


SHUTTLE BUS 
FREE SERVICE 
Town of Gananoque 


Free Shuttle June 1st – September 2nd 8:00am – 6:00pm


Taxi Companies  A-One Taxi 613 382 3777  Executive Taxi - 613 382 3399 


Ki
ng


 S
t.







Taxi Companies  A-One Taxi 613 382 377  Executive Taxi - 613 382 3399 
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		Council Report 2014 - 18 – Economic Development

		Council Date: November 4, 2014       IN CAMERA

		Recommendation:

		That Council receive this report for information purposes.

		Background:

		Information/Discussion

		The service provided by McCoy was reliable and consistent throughout the contract.  The drivers ensured that the schedule was maintained and tracked the passenger use on a daily basis.  Further, the drivers maintained a stock of community brochures to...

		The total number passengers that utilized the shuttle in June was 455, July was 877 and August was 1207.  Overall there were a total of 2538 passengers that used the shuttle over the 93 day period.   The peak days were Saturday and Sunday with the off...

		Table 1: Weekday Usage

		Communication was a critical component throughout the project and the information was originally distributed through the following channels:

		 Town website, www.gananoque.ca

		 Tourism website, www.travel1000islands.ca

		 Facebook and Twitter

		 Gananoque Marina

		 Gananoque and 1000 Islands Visitor Centre

		 TIAP Visitor Centre

		 Staff debriefings with Visitor Centre and Marina Staff

		 Gananoque MyFm Minute

		 Each shuttle stop had a mailbox restocked throughout summer

		 Shuttle Guide was stuffed in the parking brochures

		 Shuttle Guides and Parking Guides were hand delivered to attractions, accommodations and BIA businesses

		 Emailed to business community

		Although there was an extensive amount of outreach, there still seemed to be misconceptions regarding the service throughout the community at large.  The two main misconceptions that circulated included the belief that the shuttle was a transit system...

		financial considerations:

		The EDC is reviewing the shuttle service and will be bringing forward recommendations that will be presented during budget deliberation.

		consultations:

		Robert Small, CAO

		ATTACHMENTS:

		ED-2014-18-Parking Shuttle Usage Attachment 1 of 2.pdf

		JUNE 

		JULY

		AUGUST
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Gananoque Town Council Members 
Town Hall 
Gananoque, Ontario 


Craig Higgs 
427 Charles Street North 
Gananoque, Ontario 
K7G I V8 


October 2, 2014 


Re: Chip Truck License, 2015 


I Craig Higgs, would like to ask Council Members to reserve my Chip Truck 
License for the 2015 season until I have cleared up the matters with the Health Unit. 


I will put the down payment on the License like every other year with the 
completion of payment made by June Is\ 20 15. 


Thank you, 


Craig Higgs 
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Mayor Demchuk 
Town Council 
Town of Gananoque 
30 King Street East 
PO Box 100 
Gananoque, ON   K7G 2T6 
 
October 22nd, 2014 
 
 


RE:  Request to waive parking meter fees from December 1st, 2014 to March 01, 2015, 
inclusive, to encourage visitors in the Downtown Gananoque area during the holiday and winter 
season. 
 
The Board of Management of the Gananoque BIA would like to request that the Town of 
Gananoque approve placing parking meter bags on meters as an incentive to residents and 
visitors to shop and enjoy the downtown during the holiday and winter season.   
 
The free seasonal parking is an important public relations tool in our annual marketing plan and 
if approved will be featured in our holiday advertising campaign. We would like to emphasis 
that the free parking will still be in accordance of the 3 hour parking limit at each meter. 
Vehicles parked at meters for in excess of the posted 3 hour limit should be ticketed as it takes 
away from the circulation of visitors. 
 
We have received excellent feedback from downtown merchants who benefit from this 
practice and we know that they, and their customers, appreciate this gesture to help keep the 
downtown vibrant during the winter months. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of this request. 
 
 
Management Board 
Gananoque BIA 
 


 
 


Gananoque Business Improvement Area     
10 King Street East    Gananoque   ON  K7G 1E6 
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@ Thinking 
beyond 
the box 


St ·'l rdship Ontar io 


GANANOQUE, TOWN OF 


30 King St. East 


Gananoque, ON K7G 2T6 


September 30, 2014 


RECEIV ED OC1 0 Z 2014 
Without Prejudice 


Dear Mayor and Members of Council: 


RE: Interim Industry funding for Municipal Blue Box Recycling for the 2014 Program Year 


Packaging and printed paper companies, represented by Stewardship Ontario, fulfill their responsibilities to fund SO% of 
the net cost of the Blue Box Program by making cash payments to municipalities on a quarterly basis. The determination 
of the amount of industry funding for the 2014 program year was referred to arbitration by Waste Diversion Ontario 
(WOO} after the Municipal Industry Programs Committee (MIPC} was unable to agree on the calculation of the net cost 
of the Blue Box Program. 


I am pleased to inform you that Stewardship Ontario will be making interim payments on a without prejudice basis 
following an agreement with the Association of Municipalities of Ontario and the City of Toronto. This agreement 
ensures that funding continues to flow. Stewardship Ontario will be making payments of $22.9 million for ea.ch of the 
first two quarterly payments of the 2014 program year (on or about June 30, 2014 and September 30, 2014). 


Once the 2014 steward obligation has been determined, the third and fourth quarterly payments will be adjusted such 
that each Blue Box program will receive its appropriate share of the final amount. 


MIPC recommended, and the WOO Board approved, the use of the 2013 Municipal Funding Allocation Model on in 
interim basis to determine payments to individual Blue Box programs. 


WOO has posted a memo providing additional details regarding the distribution of the 2014 interim Blue Box payments. 
( www. wd o .ca/progra ms/bl ue-box) 


I would like to thank you for your partnership and significant contributions to waste diversion in this province. 


Sincerely, 


David Pearce 
Managing Director 
Stewardship Ontario 


1 St. Clair Avenue West 
7th Floor 
Toronto, Ontario 
M4VIK6 


T. 416.323.0101 
F. 416.323.3185 
info@stewardshipontario.ca 


www.stewardshipont ar io.ca 
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October 17, 2014 


Mayor Demchuk, 


LCOME
ACI(JN uo . 


.S i l';( I I,, \(, 


I am continuing with the Welcome Wagon Basket Program in Gananoque for 2015. As 
you are aware, I give out a waste collection schedule with 2 bag tags attached as a gift 
from the Town of Gananoque. 


The civic package for the Town of Gananoque provides a letter of welcome from you, 
Mayor Demchuk, as well as information on libraries, waste sites and recycling, maps of 
the town of Gananoque and of the surrounding area. 


At tltis time, I am asking that Council consider continuing this program so that I may 
include this small gift from you as part of my civic package. I make approximately 5-8 
visits per month to new families in Gananoque. 


I look forward to hearing from you as soon as possible. 


~~;:N /)U<~ 
Donna Dempsey d-· 
Welcome Wagon Representative 
613-659-3550 





kshipclark
File Attachment
COR-Donna Dempsey.pdf




From: AMO Communications [mailto:communicate@amo.on.ca] 
Sent: October-03-14 3:36PM 
To: Bonnie Dingwall 
Subject: Protecting Rural Broadband 


Rural Ontario 
Municipal Association 


Dear Colleagues: 


Protecting Rural Broadband 


Industry Canada has proposed changes that would seriously affect current rural internet service. The process 
involves reclassifying vast rural areas as "urban" and for all "urban" licenses to be taken away fi·om rural internet 
service providers even though licenses are in use providing service to people today in rural Ontario. That spectrum 
would be allocated to cellular phone companies for future use not yet developed. 


In effect, this policy change would see many rural communit ies across Ontario and Canada lose their existing high 
speed internet service. Ln our view, this shor1 sighted proposal appears only to benefit the major telecommunication 
companies and is contrary to the Federal government's priority of providing high speed internet service to rural 
communities throughout Canada. For rural communities, access to high speed internet services allows them to 
compete globally. It also enhances economic returns for local businesses as well as attracts businesses and residents 
to the community. 


The ROMA Board feels that this matter deserves the attention of rural communities across the provi nce and urges 
municipal governments to raise this matter in submissions to Industry Canada. A draft mock-up of a letter is 
available for your use on the ROMA website to help in crafting your message to the Federal government. Additional 
information on this matter is also posted on the ROMA website. The turnaround time on these submissions is shor1. 
Comments are due to Industry Canada electronically by Wednesday, October 81h. If your Council has an 
exist ing position on access to rural high speed internet, we urge you to send that along as well. 


Thank you for taking the time to respond to th is important issue that affects all rural communities across Canada. 


Sincerely, 


Ron Eddy 
ROMA Chair 


Rural Section of the Association of Municipalities of Ontario 
200 University Ave., Suite 801, Toronto, Ontario M5H 3C6 Website: www.roma.on.ca 


E-mail: amo@amo.on.ca 
Toll-Free: 1-877-426-6527 • Tel: (416) 971-9856 • Fax: (416) 971-6191 







Rural Ontario 
Municipal Association Representing Rural Ontario 


Sent via e-mail: spectrum.operations@ic.gc.ca 


October 3, 2014 


Mr. Peter Hill 
Director General, Spectrum Management Operations Branch 
Industry Canada 
300 Slater Street 
Ottawa, ON K1A OC8 


Dear Mr. Hill: 


Re: Canada Gazette, Part I, August 19, 2014, DGS0-003-14 
Consultation on Policy Changes in the 3500 MHz Band (3475-3650 MHz) 
and a New Licensing Process in Rural Areas 


Today the Rural Ontario Municipal Association (ROMA) learned that Industry Canada has 
proposed changes effecting rural Internet service in the Consultation on Policy Changes in the 
3500 MHz Band (3475-3650 MHz) and a New Licensing Process in Rural Areas, DGS0-003-14, 
dated August 19, 2014 (the "Consultation Paper'J. We are gravely concerned about this 
proposal. 


ROMA is the rural arm of the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO). The Association 
is an integral part of AMO and a number of its Executive Members serve on the AMO Board of 
Directors. Policy, research and advocacy activities are undertaken by ROMA through AMO. 
Matters which affect rural communities are brought to the attention of the provincial and 
federal governments. 


Our comments are responding to the proposals in questions 1, 7 and 8 of the Consultation 
Paper. 


While we share the stated goal of ensuring the best possible high-speed Internet in Ontario's 
rural regions, the proposals in the Consultation Paper would not have that effect. The 
proposals, as drafted, take away spectrum in use today to provide Internet service to 
Ontarians outside of the big cities and give it to telephone companies for future mobile phone 
use. If that happens, hundreds of thousands of current residential and business 


Rural Section of the Association of Municipalities of Ontario 
200 University Ave., Suite 801, Toronto, Ontario M5H 3C6 Website: www.roma.on.ca E-mail.· amo@amo.on.ca 


Toll-Free: 1-877-426-6527* Tel.· (416) 971-9856* Fax: (416) 971-6191 
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customers in rural Canada will lose their existing high-speed Internet service, including 
people in our area. Access to Internet is the foundation of economic enterprise in rural areas. 
This proposal is a step backwards for rural Ontarians and not in keeping with the stated goal 
of increasing Internet access for Ontarians. 


The proposed reclassification of the licensed areas would designate vast rural areas as 
"urban" areas. Once this reclassification happens, the proposal then calls for g_U the "urban" 
licences to be taken away from rural Internet service providers (ISPs}, even though the 
licences are in use providing service to people today and for that spectrum to be given to 
cellular phone companies for future use with smart phones that have not yet been developed. 


We do not support any proposal that ignores the current needs of rural Ontarians by taking 
away ALL of the spectrum and giving it to cellular companies. 


The Consultation Paper states that the "Government of Canada is committed to ensuring that 
Ontarians benefit from the availability of advanced, competitively priced telecommunications 
services in all regions of the country" and has a commitment "to extend and enhance 
broadband Internet services in rural and northern communities in order to meet the 
continued demand for fixed services in rural areas".1 However, the proposals in the 
Consultation Paper do not live up to those promises. Any proposal that would see a large 
number of rural Ontarians being designated "urban" and having fixed wireless Internet 
service in their areas shut down does not benefit "all regions of the country''. It sacrifices the 
current needs of rural communities, takes away the economic and social benefits of the 
Internet from rural residents and undermines all the hard work that rural areas have done to 
ensure we connect rural residents to high quality Internet services. 


We urge the Minister of Industry and Industry Canada to reject the flawed proposals in the 
Consultation Paper and, at the very minimum, to do no harm - please leave the licences in 
place for spectrum that is in use today providing service to Ontarians and exempt the 
licensees that are delivering high speed fixed wireless internet services today from any 
requirement to depart from this spectrum. Please do not take away Internet service from 
rural residents. 


Sincerely, 


ef?~~ 
Ron Eddy 
Chair 


1 Consultation Paper, para. 6. 







[Your Letterhead] 


[Date] 


Mr. Peter Hill 
Director General, Spectrum Management Operations Branch 
Industry Canada 
300 Slater Street (JETN, 15th) 
Ottawa, ON K1A OA5 
Email: spectrum.operations@ic.gc.ca 


Dear Mr. Hill: 


Canada Gazette, Part I, August 19, 2014, DGS0-003-14 
Consultation on Policy Changes in the 3500 MHz Band (3475-3650 MHz) 
and a New Licensing Process in Rural Areas 


Today the Rural Ontario Municipal Association learned that Industry Canada has proposed 
changes effecting rural Internet service in the Consultation on Policy Changes in the 3500 MHz 
Band (3475-3650 MHz) and a New Licensing Process in Rural Areas, DGS0-003-14, dated 
August 19, 2014 (the "Consultation Paper'J. We are gravely concerned about this proposal. 


The Rural Ontario Municipal Association (ROMA) is the rural arm of the Association of 
Municipalities of Ontario (AMO). The association is an integral part of AMO and a number of its 
Executive Members serve on the AMO Board of Directors. Policy, research and advocacy 
activities are undertaken by ROMA through AMO. Matters which affect rural communities are 
brought to the attention of the provincial and federal governments. 


These comments are in response to the proposals in questions 1, 7 and 8 of the Consultation 
Paper. 


While we share the stated goal of ensuring the best possible high-speed Internet in Ontario's 
rural regions, the proposals in the Consultation Paper would not have that effect. The 
proposals, as drafted, take away spectrum in use today to provide Internet service to Ontarians 
outside of the big cities and gives it to telephone companies for future mobile phone use. If that 
happens, hundreds of thousands of current residential and business customers in rural Canada 
will lose their existing high-speed Internet service, including people in our area. Access to 
internet is the foundation of economic enterprise in rural areas. This proposal is a step 
backwards for rural Ontarians and not in keeping with the stated goal of increasing Internet 
access for Ontarians. 







The proposed reclassification of the licensed areas would designate vast rural areas as "urban" 
areas. Once this reclassification happens, the proposal then calls for all the "urban" licences to 
be taken away from rural Internet service providers (ISPs), even though the licences are in use 
providing service to people today, and for that spectrum to be given to cellular phone companies 
for future use with smart phones that have not yet been developed. 


We do not support any proposal that ignores the current needs of rural Ontarians by taking 
away ALL of the spectrum and giving it to cellular companies. 


The Consultation Paper states that the "Government of Canada is committed to ensuring that 
Ontarians benefit from the availability of advanced, competitively priced telecommunications 
services in all regions of the country" and has a commitment "to extend and enhance broadband 
Internet services in rural and northern communities in order to meet the continued demand for 
fixed services in rural areas".1 However, the proposals in the Consultation Paper do not live up 
to those promises. Any proposal that would see a large number of rural Ontarians being 
designated "urban" and having fixed wireless Internet service in their areas shut down does not 
benefit "all regions of the country" . It sacrifices the current needs of rural communities, takes 
away the economic and social benefits of the Internet from rural residents and undermines all 
the hard work that rural areas have done to ensure we connect rural residents to high quality 
Internet services. 


We urge the Minister of Industry and Industry Canada to reject the flawed proposals in the 
Consultation Paper and, at the very minimum, to do no harm - please leave the licences in 
place for spectrum that is in use today providing service to Ontarians and exempt the licensees 
that are delivering high speed fixed wireless internet services today from any requirement to 
depart from this spectrum. Please do not take away Internet service from rural residents. 


Sincerely, 


cc. Anne Marie Quinn, Senior Vice President and Partner, FleishmanHillard- email: 
annemarie.quinn@fleishman.ca 


1 Consultation Paper, para. 6. 
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October 23, 2014 
 
Town of Gananoque  
30 King St. E  
PO Box 100 
Gananoque, ON 
K7G 2T6 
 
 
Good Afternoon, 
 
On October 24, 2014, the Municipal Property Assessment Corporation (MPAC) will begin mailing nearly 
one million Property Assessment Notices to property taxpayers across the province.  
 
Each Notice mailed this fall shows the assessed value and classification of a property based on the 
legislated valuation date of January 1, 2012, which is in place for the 2013-2016 property tax years.  
 
The last province-wide Assessment Update took place in 2012 when every property owner in Ontario 
received a Property Assessment Notice from MPAC. During non-Assessment Update years, MPAC 
continues to review properties as new homes are built, owners renovate, structures are removed and 
properties change use. The next province-wide Assessment Update takes place in 2016. 
 
Although each Notice includes a variety of ways to contact MPAC, you may also receive enquiries. To 
help answer property taxpayers’ questions, an online information kit has been posted on mpac.ca. The 
kit includes: 


 a sample Property Assessment Notice; 


 a copy of the Information Insert included with every Notice; 


 an Important Information About Your 2014 Property Assessment Notice brochure; and, 


 a fact sheet about 2014 Notices. 
 
The key dates for the 2014 Notice mailing are:  
 
October 24 - November 7, 2014                             Property Assessment Notice delivery period 


November 21, 2014                                                         Amended Property Assessment Notice delivery  
 
December 1-8, 2014                                                        Assessment Rolls delivered to municipalities 
 
March 31, 2015                                                                  Deadline for filing a Request for Reconsideration 


with MPAC or Appeal with the Assessment Review 
Board 


 
Property owners are encouraged to visit www.aboutmyproperty.ca to confirm their property details and 
compare their property with others in their neighbourhood. Login information is included with every 
Notice mailed. 
 



http://www.mpac.ca/property_owners/2014notices/default.asp

http://www.aboutmyproperty.ca/





Enquiries about Property Assessment Notices and assessment matters in general may be directed to the 
Customer Contact Centre at 1 866 296-MPAC (6722) or 1 877 889-6722 (TTY). Property taxpayers may 
also visit www.mpac.ca or their local MPAC office. The hours and address for the local office are 
included on every Notice mailed.  
 
We are pleased to provide support to help you answer questions and address the concerns of property 
taxpayers in your community and members of your associations. If you have any questions, please do 
not hesitate to contact me at 1 877 469-3829 Ext. 4491. 
 
 
Yours truly,  


 
 
Art Merrill AIMA 
A/Municipal Relations Representative 
Stakeholder Relations and Communications Department 
Municipal Property Assessment Corporation 



http://www.mpac.ca/
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RECEIVED OCT 1 6 2014 


Save The River 
the Upper St. LavvTence RIVERKEEPER® 


Protectino the St. Lawrence River throuoh Advocacy, Education and Research 


October 7, 2014 


Town of Gan(lnoque 
30 King Street East 
P.O. Box 100 
Gananoque, ON K7G 2T6 


Dear Mayor Demchuk: 


We are asking the Town of Gananoque to adopt a resolution expressing support 
for Plan 2014, a modem water levels plan for Lake Ontario and the St. Lawrence 
River, and urging its speedy implementation by Canadian and U.S. federa l 
governments. 


Last June, the International Joint Commission took unanimous, historic action to 
protect the St. Lawrence River and Lake Ontario by refening P lan 2014 to the 
U.S. and Canadian federal governments. This action stands as one of the singular 
most important policy decisions of our lifetime in efforts to bolster our 
environment and our tourism economy. 


The cunent regulation plan "Plan 1958D" has caused clear environmental harm to 
fi sh populations, wetlands, coastal habitats, and the myriad economically and 
environmentally important species of plants and animals they harbor, thereby 
degrading the quality of life for all citizens of the Lake Ontario-St. Lawrence 
reg10n. 


Plan 2014 will increase production of hydropower by the dams in the St. 
Lawrence River, arid maintain the benefits that regulation of the River and Lake 
has provided to international shipping. By restoring some of the natural 
fluctuations in water levels, while avoiding extreme high and low levels, Plan 
2014 will restore the plant and animal diversity of coastal wetlands without public 
investment and dramatically increase opportunities for hunting, fishing, and 
wildlife viewing. 


The IJC noted in its referral, that "If such an opportunity is lost due to delayed 
implementation of Plan 2014, then the next opportunity may not arise for · 
decades." 


Sm•e The t<il·er i: the lewling grt~ssrootl· acll'O(.'til',l' vrg11ni;_ut ion 11·orl:ing to /if'Otl'l't the l'COiogical integrity of St. 


Lttll 'l'elln' Rit·er. Fr.t tnclecl in llJ78 ,, has ClllllfWigncd to 'stop illfl/utic i11rusil'c Sf'ccin·. {tl/tg lllc.\'fltllls iun t!{ the .)'eu trur 
und H•inta l ltll'i~llti. '"· allll fimJno lcd an c·n ri i'VtliiiC'II/llllr.fi'icndly il't ll erln•els plan. Sa rt' The Ni1·c·r also organi;cs the 


ll 'tttl'l' qtwlitv , c·.I'/Orlllion and mnniloring f!I'O,t:l'll/11.\' thllllruck Rirer hl'illth will idcntifr eolltllirm f11'11hlt•ms. 







Plan 2014 Resolution 


Our communities need this. In the River region our economy is direc tly tied to our environment. 
Plan 2014 will improve both. We can no longer claim that we don' t understand the effects of our 
outdated water levels plan - we have the data and knowledge we need to restore the Lake and 
River. 


Now, we just need the wisdom and will to leave a healthy, vi tal and thriving River to the 
generations that follow. The IJC has done their part- our federal officials must do theirs and 
implement Plan 2014 inuned ia tely. 


Enclosed is suggested language for a resolution, a fact sheet about Plan 2014 and an envelope to 
return a copy of the enacted resolution to us so we can collect them to forward to Minister Baird 
at the Office of Foreign Affairs. Feel free to put the resolution in the format typically used by 
your municpality. 


Of course, we are certainly willing to provide additional in formation and I or speak before a 
meeting in support of this request. Please do not hesitate to contact us if we can provide 
additional information or assis tance. 







DRAFT 


Resolution in Support of the 
International Joint Commission's Lake Ontario-St. Lawrence River Plan 2014 


WHEREAS, the ecological health of Lake Ontario and the St. Lawrence River is paramount to 
the economy of the region, contributing billions through sectors including but not limited to 
tourism, commercial and recreational fishing, boating, shipping, and power generation. 


WHEREAS, landowners, public infrastructure, businesses, and communities are now threatened 
by erosion, and by a lack of coordination in management of the shoreline, and have experienced 
flooding in the past; and 


WHEREAS, the levels and flows of Lake Ontario and the St. Lawrence River are regulated 
tlU'ough a dam in the River in accordance v·.rith a regulation plan that is over 50 years old; and 


WHEREAS, the current regulation plan "Plan 1958D" has proven inadequate to address 
unforeseen conditions, requiring frequent deviations attempting to stabilize the lake, and has 
caused clear environmental harm to wetlands, coastal habitats, and the myriad economically and 


environmentally imp011ant species of plants and animals they harbor, thereby degrading the 
quality of life for all citizens of the Lake Ontario-St. Lawrence River region; and 


WHEREAS, the International Joint Conunission has sponsored a 10-year, $20 million process to 


develop a new regulation plan that addresses the concerns of all stakeholders in New York, 
Ontario, and Quebec; and 


Vt'HEREAS, the International Joint Conunission now proposes "Plan 2014" as the new 
regulation plan for the Lake Ontario- St. Lawrence River system; at'ld 


WHEREAS, Plan 2014 will. increase production of hydropower by the dams in the St. Lawrence 
River, and maintain the benefits that regulation of the River and Lake has provided to 
international shipping; and 


WHEREAS, by restoring some of the natural fluctuations in water levels, while avoiding 
extreme high and low levels, Plan 2014 will restore the plant and animal diversity of coastal 
wetlands without public investment and dramatically increase opportunities for hunting, fishing, 
and wildlife viewing. 


NOW THEREFORE, _________ supports Plan 2014 and urges its swift adoption 


by the Canadian and U.S. federal governments. 







SENATE 
The Honourable Robert (Bob) Runciman 


Senator -Ontario 
(Thousand Islands and Rideau Lakes) 


September 22, 2014 


Dear Mayor and Council: 


CANADA 


SENAT 


L'honorable Robert (Bob) Runciman 
Senateur- Ontario 


(Mille-lies etlacs Rideau) 


I am writing· to ask that you support Save the River's request to pass a resolution urging the 
speedy approval and implementation of Plan 2014 to regulate wate r levels on the St. 
Lawrence River and Lake Ontario. I have been involved in this issue for many years, trying to 
persuade the International Joint Commission to replace the current water levels policy, which 
shortens the recreational boating season in the Thousand Islands and causes significant 
damage to wetlands. 


Plan 2014 is the result of 14 years of study and consultation. costing some $20 million. In my 
opinion. it is good for the local economy, by providing a longer boating season most years, 
and will benefit the environment by assisting in the rejuvenation of wetlands. It is also 
beneficial to power generation and satisfies the interests of the shipping industry. 


I do not believe we can do better than Plan 2014 and I hope you will j oin me in urging its 
adoption and implementation. 


Sincerely, 


Senator Robert W. Runciman 


351, East Block/edifice de I'Est 
Ottawa ON 1<1A OA4 


Tel/Tel: 613-943-4020 
1-800-267-7362 


F ax/T elec: 613-943-4022 
Bob.Runciman@sen.parl.gc.ca 
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Audubon 
The Nature 6. ·j 
Conservancv ~_.., 


I 
Protecting n.:sture. Preservtng lile. ~ 


" NEW YORK WWF 


PLAN 2014 
A GREAT LAKE AND RIVER 
Shaped over thousands of years by the natural ebb and flow of water, the 650-mile coast line of Lake 
Ontario and the upper St. Lawrence River constitutes the largest coastal environment in Quebec, Ontario 
and New York State,. 


A BEITER CHOICE FOR THE FUTURE 


But 50 years of regulated water levels - originally 
designed to benefit hydroelectric power generation and 
shipping- have significantly altered the lake and river's 
natural habitats and processes and reduced critical 
natural services for people. 


Today, the International Joint Commission (IJC} and the 
governments of U.S. and Canada have an historic 


· opportunity to exercise principles of sound water 
management for Lake Ontario and the St. Lawrence 
River- improving the resiliency of our shores, ensuring 
the surviva l of birds, mammals, and fish, and benefiting 
the region's residents and businesses. 


Developed with the construction of the Moses-Saunders Dam in the 1950s, the current regulation plan for 
Lake Ontario and the St. Lawrence River has reduced the range of water levels to the point of causing 
extensive damage to coastal wetlands that perform services like filtering water, providing habitat for fish 
and protecting communities from f loods. 


A new approach that achieves a balance of benefits for all interests is currently being proposed. This new 
plan, called Plan 2014, was formulated over the course of ten years w ith the input of hundreds of 
stakeholder representa tives and scientists from government agencies, academia, NGOs and industry in 
New York, Ontario, and Quebec. A diverse coalition strongly supports Plan 2014 because it will increase 
th e overall health of coastal habitats and provide greater economic opportunities for people. 


Plan 2014 will also enhance the resiliency of natural shorelines, helping to protect property owners in a 
changing climate. 


BROAD SUPPORT 


Expressions of Citizen Support Environmental, Conservation 
and Sportsmen 


Businesses & Community 
Leaders 


-+ 7,945 CCE petition signatures -+ Coalition led by Audubon New York, Citizens -+ Business Counci l of the State of New York 


-+ 3,065 CCE letters Campaign for the Environment, The Nature -+ Alcoa 


-+ 1,379 The Nature Conservancy Save The Conservancy, Save The River and WWF- -+ Anthony G. Collins, President of Clarkson 


River's peti tion signatures canada University 


-+ 1,082 Audubon New York petition signatures -+ Conservation groups include National Wildlife -+ Cornelius Murphy, Jr. Ph.D. President of 


and letters 


-+ 600+ Save The River telegrams 


-+ 452 comments to UC 


-+ 200 anglers and hunters to Gov. Cuomo 


15,083+ 
expressions of Citizen Support 


Federation, Environmental Advocates of NY, 


Onondaga Audubon Society, l zaak Walton 


League 


-+ Sportsmen groups include Ducks Unlimited, 


Trout Unlimited, Lakeplalns Waterfowl 


Association, Lake Ontario Fisheries Coalition, 


New York State Conservation Council 


42 
organizations signed a letter of support 


SUNY College of Environmental Science and 


Forestry 


35 
businesses signed a letter of support 







QUICK FACTS ABOUT PLAN 2014 


ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS 


Plan 2014 will replace over 50 years of water level management, which has sign ificantly altered the 


environment of the Lake and River and dramatically reduced habitat diversity. A healthy environment is 


the cornerstone of our economy and prosperity. Plan 2014 wi ll enhance the qua lity-of-life benefits for all 


citizens of the lake and river watershed. It also will directly benefit migrating and nesting waterfowl, key 


wetland habitats, and beaches and dunes, which provide millions of dollars every year in outdoor 


r~creation, flood control, and water filtration services. 


Here are just a few indicators that signal an environment in trouble: 


The Wet Meadow 
The wet meadow is a major component 


of coastal wetlands, and its status tells 


us a great deal about the condition of 


the wetland ecosystem as a whole. 


Current Regulation: -50% 
Plan 2014: 40% Increase from 
current conditions 


Northern Pike 
The Northern Pike Is the top predator 


in coastal marshes. Their reduction 


affects the entire food chain and 


ecosystem. 


Current Regulation: -70% 
Plan 2014: 39% Increase from 
current conditions 


ECONOMIC AND SHORELINE BENEFITS 


Black Terns 
Marsh-nesting birds like Black Terns 


depend on diverse marshes 


interspersed w ith open water for 


nesting. New Yorkers spend $660 


million each year on t rips within the 


state for wildlife viewing. 


Current Regulation : -80% 


Plan 2014: 16% Increase from 
current conditions 


The economy of the Great Lakes region depends on the health and beauty of its ecosystems. A 2007 cost


benefit analysis by the Brookings Institution demonstrates that each dollar of restoration brings two 


dollars of benefits to the economy of the Great Lakes region. 


Hydropower 
Hydro-electricity production will increase 


under Plan 2014. This low-cost power 


supports jobs in New York State. 


$5.3 M 
Every year In additional generation 


Recreational Opportunities 
Healthier l ake and River wetlands will 


support stronger populations of native 


f ish and w ildlife, Improving the area's 


hunting, angling, and wildlife-viewing 


opportunities. The Nature Conservancy 


estimates economic benefits, just from 


improved wildlife recreation, of $4.0 


million- $9.1 million per year. 


$9.1 M 
In increased net economic value 


Shorelines 
Compared to the cost of protect ing 


properties from erosion under 


unregulated conditions, Plan 2014 is 


estimated to save property owners on 


the lake $25.2 million dollars a year. This 


may be $2.2 million less than current 


savings, but the figure remains very 


significant. 


$25.2 M 
In savings when compared to no regulation 


~ 1986 Panda symbol \VWF-World Wide Fund For Nature (also known as World Wildlife Fund). • "WWF" Is a \VWF Registered Trademark. 
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Regular Council Meeting Minutes for November 4, 2014 

Peter Murray- Bay St. Review Receive and Derfered to 
New Council and Added to 

M atters Pending 

Ministry of Citizenship, Immigration and International Trade 
Received and Posted on Town's Website 

By-laws- {1st, 2nd, and/or 3 readings) 
By-law 2014-109- Agreement with Andrecon Construction- Arthur Child Heritage 

Museum renovations. 3 Readings 

By-law 2014-110- Human Resources Policies and Procedures. 1 & 2 Readings 

By-law 2014-111- Amend the General Fees and Rates By-law. 3 Readings 

By-law 2014-112- Amend By-law 2007-054 Traffic and Parking- Park for Free 
Program in the Downtown Core. 3 Readings 

By-law 2014-113- Agrement with Minister of Community Safety and Correctional 
Servicies- Court Security and Prisoner Transportation Program 
for 2051-2016. 3 Readings 

SAVE AND EXCEPT: 
Correspondence: 
Donna Dempsey- Welcome Wagon Basket Program 
Rural Ontario Municipal Association- Protecting Rural Broadband 
Save the River- 2014 Plan for Modern Water Levels for Lake Ontario and St. 

Lawrence River 

MOTION NO: 2014-307 
Moved by: Councillor Warren 
Seconded by: Councillor Jansen 
Be it resolved that council support the Welcome Wagon Basket Program. 

MOTION NO: 2014-308 
Moved by: Councillor Girling 
Seconded by: Councillor Warren 

CARRIED 

CARRIED 

Be it resolved that council advised the Clerk to send a letter to Industry Canada 
regarding the rural internet services. 

MOTION NO: 2014-309 
Moved by: Councillor Warren 
Seconded by: Councillor Girling 

CARRIED 

WHEREAS, the ecological health of Lake Ontario and the St. Lawrence River is 
paramount to the economy of the region, contributing billions through sectors 
including but not limited to tourism, commercial and recreational fishing, boating, 
shipping, and power generation. 

WHEREAS, landowners, public infrastructure, businesses, and communities are now 
threatened by erosion, and by a lack of coordination in management of the shoreline, 
and have experienced flooding in the past; and 

WHEREAS, the levels and flows of Lake Ontario and the St. Lawrence River are 
regulated through a dam in the River in accordance with a regulation plan that is over 
50 years old; and 

· WHEREAS, the current regulation plan "Plan 1958D" has proven inadequate to 
address unforeseen conditions, requiring frequent deviations attempting to stabilize 
the lake, and has caused clear environmental harm to wetlands, coastal habitats, and 
myriad economically and environmentally important species of plants and animals 

Page 3 ofS 




From: Peter 


Dingwall 
Cc: Bickerton, Doug; Cornish, John; Garrah, Jim; Dunn, Rick; Macleod, John; Watkins, Joe; Bill 
Sheppard Hotmail 
Subject: Bay St Review 


Bonnie; 


At the Trees and Trails meeting of Oct 15, our committee acknowledged receipt of the Council 


motion to refer the request from a delegation on the Bay St. trees to us, and to report back to 


Council with recommendations. After a briefing by Mr. Gibbons, the committee agreed to 


recommend that the matter be dealt with at the first meeting of the new Urban Forest and 


Trails Committee to be established by the new Council. 


In discussing the upcoming appointments for the new UF& TC, we recommend that Council 


appoint 7 members, and one Councillor. It is after all, two committees combined. 


The mandate as established in 2011 is: 


To develop, maintain, and promote hiking, walking, cycling and paddling trails in Gananoque 


and immediate area, and to ensure that the trees of the Town are maintained in accordance 


with the best Urban Forest management principles, for the economic, spiritual, health and 


fitness quality of life of those who live and visit here. 


Peter Murray, Chairman, 2011 to 2014 



bdingwall

Typewritten Text



bdingwall

Typewritten Text



bdingwall

Typewritten Text
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RECEIVED OCT Z !, Z014 
Ministry of Citizenship, 
Immigration and International 
Trade 


Minister 


6"' Floor 


Minlstere des Affalres civiques, 
de I' Immigration et du Commerce 
international 


Ministre 


6' etage 
~ 


400 University Avenue 
Toronto ON M?A 2R9 
Tel.: (416) 325-6200 
Fax: (416) 325-6195 


October 2014 


Dear friends, 


400, avenue University 
Toronto ON M7A 2R9 
Tel.: (416) 325-6200 
Telae.: (416) 325-6195 


It is my pleasure to send out the call for nominations for the June Callwood 
Outstanding Achievement Award for Voluntarism in Ontario. 


-Ontario 


Volunteers play a significant role in leading and supporting services in their 
communities; they lay the foundation for a strong and dynamic province. This award 
recognizes exceptional leadership, innovation and creativity in voluntarism and 
community service. Recipients of this award can include individual volunteers, 
volunteer groups, businesses and other organizations which have made outstanding 
contributions to their communities and the province. 


Do you know an individual or group that makes an outstanding contribution? 
Nomination.forms and additional information are available on the Ministry of 
Citizenship, Immigration and International Trade website at 
www.ontario.ca/honoursandawards or by phone at 416 314-7526, 
toll free 877 832-8622, TTY 416 327-2391. Deadline for nominations is 
December 5, 2014. 


I hope you will take this opportunity to ensure that volunteers receive the recognition 
they deserve. 


Yours truly, 


Hon. Michael Chan 
Minister 
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CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE 
 


BY-LAW NO. 2014-109 
 


 
BEING A BY-LAW TO AUTHORIZE THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE TO  


ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH ANDRECON CONSTRUCTION FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF RENOVATIONS TO THE ARTHUR CHILD HERITAGE 


MUSEUM. 
 


 
 


WHEREAS by Section 5 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, the 
powers of a municipal corporation are to be exercised by its Council; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, provides that 
the powers of every Council are to be exercised by Bylaw; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Manager of Community Development in Report 2014-
27-CD has obtained quotations for the renovations to the Arthur Child 
Heritage Museum. 
 
NOW THEREFORE be it resolved that the Council of the Corporation of 
the Town of Gananoque enacts as follows; 
 


1. That the Town of Gananoque enter into an agreement with 
Andrecon Construction for the renovations to the Arthur Child 
Heritage Museum and form part of the by-law as Schedule A. 
 


2. That the Mayor and Clerk are hereby authorized to execute an 
Agreement to facilitate said purchase. 
 


3. That this by-law come into force and effect on the date of passing. 
 
 
READ THREE TIMES and finally passed this 4th day of November, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
 
__________________________ ____________________________ 
Mayor, Erika Demchuk  Deputy Clerk, Kelly Shipclark 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE 
 


GENERAL RATES AND FEES BY-LAW 
 


BY-LAW NUMBER 2014-111  
 


 
BEING A BY-LAW TO AMEND BY-LAW 2014-084 A BY-LAW TO  


CONSOLIDATE THE GENERAL RATES AND FEES BY-LAW AS AMENDED. 
 


 
 
WHEREAS pursuant to Part XII Section 391 (1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, 
c. 25, a municipality is authorized to pass by-laws imposing fees or charges on 
persons for services and activities provided or done by or on behalf of it; for costs 
payable by it for services or activities provided or done by or on behalf of any other 
municipality or local board; and for the use of its property including property under 
its control; and 
 
WHEREAS pursuant to Part XII Section 398 (1) and 398 (2) of the Municipal Act, 2001, 
S.O. 2001, c. 25, fees and charges constitute debt to the municipality, and the 
municipality may add unpaid fees and charges to the collector’s roll for the property 
and collect in the same manner as municipal taxes; and  
 
WHEREAS Council of the Town of Gananoque has adopted By-law 2014-084 
establishing certain General Rates and Fees. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque hereby 
enacts as follows: 
 
1) That Schedule ‘N’ of By-law 2014-084 be deleted and replaced with Appendix 1 – 


Visitor Centre Fees attached hereto and forming part of this by-law. 
 


2) That this by-law come into force and effect on the date of passing. 
 
 


READ THREE TIMES and finally passed this 04th day of November, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Mayor, Erika Demchuk   Deputy Clerk, Kelly Shipclark 
 







 
 


Appendix 1 
 


By-law 2014-111 – amending 2014-084 
 


SCHEDULE “N” - FEES FOR VISITOR CENTRE  
PLUS HST WHERE APPLICABLE 


 
 


Brochure Racking & Feature Sheet (8 ½ x 11) - $100.00 for 1st space.   
 
For Chamber members that purchase an ad in the 2015 Visitor Guide 10% off – $90.00 -1st space.  
 $50.00 for each additional space. 
 
Poster Display (36” x 24”) - $500.00 


Business Card - $50.00  


On-site Outdoor Sandwich Board - $200.00 


Bathroom Poster – 11 x 17 –$50.00  


 
Come Dine with Us guide ad fees: 


2.25 x 3.75 - $250.00  


2.25 x 2.00 - $125.00  


4.75 x 3.75 
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CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE 
 


BY-LAW 2014-112 
 


 
BEING A BY-LAW TO AMEND BY-LAW 2007-54,  


A BY-LAW RESPECTING THE REGULATING OF TRAFFIC AND  
PARKING ON HIGHWAYS, TO ALLOW FOR THE PARK FOR FREE  


PROGRAM IN THE DOWNTOWN CORE. 


 


 
 
WHEREAS by Section 5 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, the powers of a 
municipal corporation are to be exercised by its Council; 
 


AND WHEREAS Subsection 2 of Section 11 of the Municipal Act,  2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, 
the powers of every Council are to be exercised by Bylaw; 
 
AND WHEREAS Section 27(1) of the Municipal Act, R.S.O. 2001, c.25, as amended, a 
Council may pass by-laws in respect of a highway; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque deems it 
appropriate in the public interest to pass a By-law to amend By-Law 2007-54 
 
AND WHEREAS the Downtown Business Improvement Area has requested that the Town 
of Gananoque allow for a three (3) hour park for free holiday in the downtown area. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque hereby 
enacts as follows: 
 


1. That the request for a three (3) hour park for free holiday period is hereby granted. 
 


2. That the park for free holiday be for the period of December 1st, 2014 to March 1st, 
2015. 
 


3. That this by-law comes into force and effect on December 1st, 2014. 
 


 
READ A FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD TIME passed, signed and sealed with the Corporate 
seal this 4th day of November, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________  _____________________________ 
Mayor, Erika Demchuk   Deputy Clerk, Kelly Shipclark 
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CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE 
 


BY-LAW NO. 2014-113 
 


 
BEING A BY-LAW TO AUTHORIZE ENTERING INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH  


HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO AS REPRESENTED BY THE  
MINISTER OF COMMUNITY SAFETY AND CORRECTIONAL SERVICES FOR THE 


PURPOSE OF THE COURT SECURITY AND PRISONER TRANSPORTATION  
PROGRAM FOR 2015 - 2016. 


 


 
 


WHEREAS by Section 5 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, the powers of a 
municipal corporation are to be exercised by its Council; 
 
 
AND WHEREAS the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, provides that the powers of 
every Council are to be exercised by Bylaw 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE be it resolved that the Council of the Corporation of the Town of 
Gananoque enacts as follows; 
 
 


1. That the Council hereby authorizes entering into an agreement with Her Majesty 
the Queen in right of Ontario, as represented by the Minister of Community 
Safety and Correctional Services, as set out in Schedule A attached hereto, for 
the purpose of the Court Security and Prisoner Transportation Program for 
2015-2016 
 


2. That the Mayor and Clerk is hereby authorized to execute all documents in 
regard to said agreement.  


 
3. That this bylaw shall come into force and effect on January 1, 2015. 


 
 


READ THREE TIMES and finally passed this 4th day of November, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ___________________________ 
Mayor, Erika Demchuk    Deputy Clerk, Kelly Shipclark 
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THE AGREEMENT effective as of the 1st day of January, 2015.   
 
B E T W E E N : 
 


HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO  
as represented by the Minister of Community Safety and 
Correctional Services 
 
(the “Province”) 
 
- and - 
 
Town of Gananoque 
 
(the “Recipient”) 


 
BACKGROUND: 
 
A. As part of the 2008 Provincial-Municipal Fiscal and Service Delivery Review 


(PMFSDR), the Ontario government committed to upload court security and 
prisoner transportation costs from municipalities, beginning in 2012 and phased 
in by an equal amount over seven years, to a maximum of $125 million annually 
at maturity by 2018. 
 


B. The Province established the Court Security and Prisoner Transportation (CSPT) 
Program (the “Program”) in 2012 to assist municipalities in offsetting their costs 
of providing CSPT services in their jurisdictions; 


 
C. The Recipient is a municipality who is responsible for the costs of providing 


security for court premises during hours of court operations and security of 
persons attending court; and the costs of transporting prisoners and custodial 
minors (i.e., persons between twelve and seventeen years of age) between 
correctional institutions, custodial facilities and court locations for the purposes of 
court attendance; 
 


D. The Recipient has provided its 2013 CSPT costs, as confirmed in the 2013 
Annual Financial Report, which the Recipient submitted as part of the reporting 
requirements for the 2012-2014 agreement for the Program; 


 
E. Funding will be provided based on the Recipient’s relative share of the total 2013 


provincial CSPT costs.  
 
 


CONSIDERATION: 
 
In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are expressly 
acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 
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ARTICLE 1 
INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS 


 
1.1 Interpretation.  For the purposes of interpretation: 
 


(a) words in the singular include the plural and vice-versa; 
 
(b) words in one gender include all genders; 


 
(c) the background and the headings do not form part of the Agreement; they 


are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of the 
Agreement;   


 
(d) any reference to dollars or currency shall be to Canadian dollars and 


currency; and   
 


(e) “include”, “includes” and “including” denote that the subsequent list is not 
exhaustive. 


 
1.2 Definitions.  In the Agreement, the following terms shall have the following 


meanings: 
 


“Agreement” means this agreement entered into between the Province and the 
Recipient and includes all of the schedules listed in section 31.1 and any 
amending agreement entered into pursuant to section 34.2. 
 
"BPSAA" means the Broader Public Sector Accountability Act, 2010 (Ontario). 
 
“Business Day” means any working day, Monday to Friday inclusive, excluding 
statutory and other holidays, namely: New Year’s Day; Family Day; Good Friday; 
Easter Monday; Victoria Day; Canada Day; Civic Holiday; Labour Day; 
Thanksgiving Day; Remembrance Day; Christmas Day; Boxing Day and any 
other day on which the Province has elected to be closed for business. 
 


“Court Security and Prisoner Transportation Services” means the 
services and activities eligible for funding, as set out in Schedule “B”. 
 
“Effective Date” means the date set out at the top of the Agreement.  
 
“Event of Default” has the meaning ascribed to it in section 14.1. 
 
“Funding Year” means:  


 
(a) in the case of the first Funding Year, the period commencing on the 


Effective Date and ending on the following December 31; and  
 


(b) in the case of Funding Years subsequent to the first Funding Year, the 
period commencing on January 1 following the end of the previous 
Funding Year and ending on the following December 31. 
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“Funds” means the money the Province provides to the Recipient pursuant to 
the Agreement.  
 
“Indemnified Parties” means Her Majesty the Queen in right of Ontario, Her 
ministers, agents, appointees and employees. 


 
“Maximum Funds” means a total of $46,097.80 being $20,487.91 for Funding 
Year 1 and $25,609.89 for Funding Year 2.  
 
“Notice” means any communication given or required to be given pursuant to 
the Agreement.  
 
“Notice Period” means the period of time within which the Recipient is required 
to remedy an Event of Default, and includes any such period or periods of time 
by which the Province considers it reasonable to extend that time.  
 
“Parties” means the Province and the Recipient. 
 
“Party” means either the Province or the Recipient.  
 
“Project” means the undertaking described in Schedule “A”.  
 
“Reports” means the reports described in Schedule “A”.  
 
“Timelines” means the Project schedule set out in Schedule “A”.  


 
 


ARTICLE 2 
REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS 


 
2.1 General.  The Recipient represents, warrants and covenants that: 
 


(a) it is, and shall continue to be for the term of the Agreement, a validly 
existing legal entity with full power to fulfill its obligations under the 
Agreement;  


 
(b) it has, and shall continue to have for the term of the Agreement, the 


experience and expertise necessary to carry out the Project;  
 


(c) it is in compliance with all federal and provincial laws and regulations, all 
municipal by-laws, and any other orders, rules and by-laws related to any 
aspect of the Project, the Funds or both;  


  
(d) unless otherwise provided for in the Agreement, any information the 


Recipient provided to the Province in support of its request for funds 
(including information relating to any eligibility requirements) was true and 
complete at the time the Recipient provided it and shall continue to be 
true and complete for the term of the Agreement. 
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2.2 Execution of Agreement.  The Recipient represents and warrants that: 
 


(a) it has the full power and authority to enter into the Agreement; and 
 


(b) it has taken all necessary actions to authorize the execution of the 
Agreement. 


 
2.3 Governance.  The Recipient represents, warrants and covenants that it has, and 


shall maintain, in writing for the period during which the Agreement is in effect:  
 
(a) a code of conduct and ethical responsibilities for all persons at all levels 


of the Recipient’s organization; 
 
(b) procedures to ensure the ongoing effective functioning of the Recipient;  
 
(c) decision-making mechanisms for the Recipient; 
 
(d) procedures to enable the Recipient to manage the Funds prudently and 


effectively;  
 
(e) procedures to enable the Recipient to complete the Project successfully;  
 
(f) procedures to enable the Recipient, in a timely manner, to identify risks to 


the completion of the Project, and strategies to address the identified 
risks; 


 
(g) procedures to enable the preparation and delivery of all Reports required 


pursuant to Article 7; and 
 
(h) procedures to enable the Recipient to deal with such other matters as the 


Recipient considers necessary to ensure that the Recipient carries out its 
obligations under the Agreement. 


 
2.4 Supporting Documentation.  Upon request, the Recipient shall provide the 


Province with proof of the matters referred to in this Article 2.    
 
 


ARTICLE 3 
TERM OF THE AGREEMENT 


 
3.1 Term.  The term of the Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and 


shall expire on December 31, 2016 unless terminated earlier pursuant to Article 
12, Article 13 or Article 14. 







 
 
 
 


Page 5 of 23 


ARTICLE 4 
FUNDS AND CARRYING OUT THE PROJECT 


 
4.1 Funds Provided.  The Province shall: 
 


(a) provide the Recipient up to the Maximum Funds for the purpose of 
carrying out the Project; 


 
(b) provide the Funds to the Recipient in accordance with the payment plan 


attached to the Agreement as Schedule “A”;  
 
(c) deposit the Funds into an account designated by the Recipient provided 


that the account: 
 


(i) resides at a Canadian financial institution;  
 
(ii) is in the name of the Recipient; and 


 
(d) in addition to the Province’s rights under Section 15.1, if the Recipient 


identifies that any Funds for the Funding Year are not expected to be 
used for the Project in that Funding Year, the Province may reallocate the 
Funds to other municipalities. 


 
4.2 Limitation on Payment of Funds.  Despite section 4.1: 
 


(a) the Province is not obligated to provide any Funds to the Recipient until 
the Recipient provides the insurance certificate or other proof as the 
Province may request pursuant to section 11.2; 


 
(b) the Province is not obligated to provide instalments of Funds until it is 


satisfied with the progress of the Project; 
 


(c) the Province may adjust the amount of Funds it provides to the Recipient 
in any Funding Year based upon the Province’s assessment of the 
information provided by the Recipient pursuant to section 7.1; and 


 
(d) if, pursuant to the Financial Administration Act (Ontario), the Province 


does not receive the necessary appropriation from the Ontario Legislature 
for payment under the Agreement, the Province is not obligated to make 
any such payment, and, as a consequence, the Province may: 


 
(i) reduce the amount of the Funds and, in consultation with the 


Recipient, change the Project; or  
 
(ii) terminate the Agreement pursuant to section 13.1. 
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4.3 Use of Funds and Project.  The Recipient shall: 
 


(a) carry out the Project in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Agreement; and 


 
(b) use the Funds only for the purpose of carrying the Project; and 


 
(c) spend the Funds only on activities and services eligible for funding as set 


out in Schedule “B”.  
 
 


4.4 No Changes.  The Recipient shall not make any changes to the Project, the 
Timelines, or spend any of the Funds on any activities or services that are not 
eligible for funding as set out in Schedule “B” without the prior written consent of 
the Province. 


 
4.5 Interest Bearing Account.  If the Province provides Funds to the Recipient prior 


to the Recipient’s immediate need for the Funds, the Recipient shall place the 
Funds in a separate interest bearing account in the name of the Recipient at a 
Canadian financial institution.  


 
4.6 Interest.  If the Recipient earns any interest on the Funds, the Province may:   
 


(a) deduct an amount equal to the interest from any further instalments of 
Funds; or 


 
(b)  demand from the Recipient the repayment of an amount equal to the 


interest.   
 


4.7 Maximum Funds.  The Recipient acknowledges that the Funds available to it 
pursuant to the Agreement shall not exceed the Maximum Funds. 


 
4.8 Rebates, Credits and Refunds.  The Recipient acknowledges that the amount 


of Funds available to it pursuant to the Agreement is based on the actual costs to 
the Recipient, less any costs (including taxes) for which the Recipient has 
received, will receive, or is eligible to receive, a rebate, credit or refund. 


 
 


ARTICLE 5 
ACQUISITION OF GOODS OR SERVICES  


 
5.1 Acquisition.  Subject to section 28.1, if the Recipient acquires goods, services, 


or both with the Funds, it shall do so through a process that promotes the best 
value for money. 
 


5.2 Disposal. The Recipient shall sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any asset 
purchased with the Funds or for which Funds were provided only in accordance 
with its asset disposal policies and procedures, unless the Province agrees 
otherwise. 
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ARTICLE 6 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 


 
6.1 No Conflict of Interest.  The Recipient shall carry out the Project and use the 


Funds without an actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest. 
 
6.2 Conflict of Interest Includes.  For the purposes of this Article, a conflict of 


interest includes any circumstances where: 
 


(a) the Recipient; or  
 
(b) any person who has the capacity to influence the Recipient’s decisions, 


           
      has outside commitments, relationships or financial interests that could, or could 


be seen to, interfere with the Recipient’s objective, unbiased and impartial 
judgment relating to the Project, the use of the Funds, or both. 


 
6.3 Disclosure to Province.  The Recipient shall: 
 


(a) disclose to the Province, without delay, any situation that a reasonable 
person would interpret as an actual, potential or perceived conflict of 
interest; and  


 
(b) comply with any terms and conditions that the Province may prescribe as a 


result of the disclosure.  
 
 


ARTICLE 7 
REPORTING, ACCOUNTING AND REVIEW 


 
7.1 Preparation and Submission.  The Recipient shall: 
 


(a) submit to the Province at the address provided in section 18.1, all Reports 
in accordance with the timelines and content requirements set out in 
Schedules “A”, “B” and “C” , or in a form as specified by the Province from 
time to time; 


 
(b) submit to the Province at the address provided in section 18.1, any other 


reports as may be requested by the Province in accordance with the 
timelines and content requirements specified by the Province; 


 
(c) ensure that all Reports and other reports are completed to the satisfaction 


of the Province; and  
 


(d) ensure that all Reports and other reports are signed on behalf of the 
Recipient by an authorized signing officer. 
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7.2 Record Maintenance.  The Recipient shall keep and maintain: 
 


(a) all financial records (including invoices) relating to the Funds or otherwise 
to the Project in a manner consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles; and 


(b) all non-financial documents and records relating to the Funds or 
otherwise to the Project. 


7.3 Inspection.  The Province, its authorized representatives or an independent 
auditor identified by the Province may, at its own expense, upon twenty-four 
hours’ Notice to the Recipient and during normal business hours, enter upon the 
Recipient’s premises to review the progress of the Project and the Recipient’s 
allocation and expenditure of the Funds and, for these purposes, the Province, its 
authorized representatives or an independent auditor identified by the Province 
may take one or more of the following actions:  


 
(a) inspect and copy the records and documents referred to in section 7.2;  


(b) remove any copies made pursuant to section 7.3(a) from the Recipient’s 
premises; and  


(c) conduct an audit or investigation of the Recipient in respect of the 
expenditure of the Funds, the Project, or both. 


7.4 Disclosure.  To assist in respect of the rights set out in section 7.3, the Recipient 
shall disclose any information requested by the Province, its authorized 
representatives or an independent auditor identified by the Province, and shall do 
so in the form requested by the Province, its authorized representatives or an 
independent auditor identified by the Province, as the case may be. 


 
7.5 No Control of Records.  No provision of the Agreement shall be construed so 


as to give the Province any control whatsoever over the Recipient’s records. 
 
7.6 Auditor General.  For greater certainty, the Province’s rights under this Article 


are in addition to any rights provided to the Auditor General pursuant to section 
9.2 of the Auditor General Act (Ontario). 


 
 


ARTICLE 8 
COMMUNICATIONS REQUIREMENTS 


 
8.1 Acknowledge Support.  Unless otherwise directed by the Province, the 


Recipient shall acknowledge the support of the Province in a form and manner as 
directed by the Province.  


 
8.2 Publication. The Recipient shall indicate, in any of its publications, of any kind, 


including written, oral, or visual, relating to the Project, that the views expressed 
in the publication are the views of the Recipient and do not necessarily reflect 
those of the Province. 
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ARTICLE 9 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY 


 
9.1 FIPPA.  The Recipient acknowledges that the Province is bound by the Freedom 


of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (Ontario) and that any information 
provided to the Province in connection with the Project or otherwise in connection 
with the Agreement may be subject to disclosure in accordance with that Act. 
 


9.2 MFIPPA. The Province acknowledges that the Recipient is bound by the 
Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (Ontario) and 
that any information provided to the Recipient in connection with the Project or 
otherwise in connection with the Agreement may be subject to disclosure in 
accordance with that Act. 
 


 
ARTICLE 10 
INDEMNITY 


 
10.1 Indemnification.  The Recipient hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless 


the Indemnified Parties from and against any and all liability, loss, costs, 
damages and expenses (including legal, expert and consultant fees), causes of 
action, actions, claims, demands, lawsuits or other proceedings, by whomever 
made, sustained, incurred, brought or prosecuted, in any way arising out of or in 
connection with the Project or otherwise in connection with the Agreement, 
unless solely caused by the negligence or wilful misconduct of the Province. 


 
 


ARTICLE 11 
INSURANCE 


 
11.1 Recipient’s Insurance.  The Recipient represents and warrants that it has, and 


shall maintain for the term of the Agreement, at its own cost and expense, with 
insurers having a secure A.M. Best rating of B+ or greater, or the equivalent, all 
the necessary and appropriate insurance that a prudent person carrying out a 
project similar to the Project would maintain, including commercial general 
liability insurance on an occurrence basis for third party bodily injury, personal 
injury and property damage, to an inclusive limit of not less than five million 
dollars ($5,000,000) per occurrence. The policy shall include the following:  


 
(a) the Indemnified Parties as additional insureds with respect to liability 


arising in the course of performance of the Recipient’s obligations under, 
or otherwise in connection with, the Agreement; 


 
(b) a cross-liability clause;  
 
(c) contractual liability coverage; and 
 
(d) a 30 day written notice of cancellation, termination or material change. 
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11.2 Proof of Insurance.  The Recipient shall provide the Province with certificates of 
insurance, or other proof as may be requested by the Province, that confirms the 
insurance coverage as provided for in section 11.1.  Upon the request of the 
Province, the Recipient shall make available to the Province a copy of each 
insurance policy. 


 
 


ARTICLE 12 
TERMINATION ON NOTICE 


 
12.1 Termination on Notice.  The Province may terminate the Agreement at any time 


upon giving at least 30 days Notice to the Recipient. 
 
12.2 Consequences of Termination on Notice by the Province.  If the Province 


terminates the Agreement pursuant to section 12.1, the Province may take one 
or more of the following actions: 


 
(a) cancel all further instalments of Funds; 
 
(b) demand the repayment of any Funds remaining in the possession or 


under the control of the Recipient;  and 
 


(c) determine the reasonable costs for the Recipient to wind down the 
Project, and do either or both of the following: 
 
(i) permit the Recipient to offset the costs determined pursuant to section 


12.2(c), against the amount owing pursuant to section 12.2(b); and  
 
(ii)  subject to section 4.7, provide Funds to the Recipient to cover the 


costs determined pursuant to section 12.2(c).  
 


 
ARTICLE 13 


TERMINATION WHERE NO APPROPRIATION 
 


13.1 Termination Where No Appropriation.  If, as provided for in section 4.2(d), the 
Province does not receive the necessary appropriation from the Ontario 
Legislature for any payment the Province is to make pursuant to the Agreement, 
the Province may terminate the Agreement immediately by giving Notice to the 
Recipient. 


 
13.2 Consequences of Termination Where No Appropriation.  If the Province 


terminates the Agreement pursuant to section 13.1, the Province may take one 
or more of the following actions:  


 
(a) cancel all further instalments of Funds; 
 
(b) demand the repayment of any Funds remaining in the possession or 


under the control of the Recipient;  and 
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(c) determine the reasonable costs for the Recipient to wind down the Project 
and permit the Recipient to offset such costs against the amount owing 
pursuant to section 13.2(b). 


 
13.3 No Additional Funds.  For purposes of clarity, if the costs determined pursuant 


to section 13.2(c) exceed the Funds remaining in the possession or under the 
control of the Recipient, the Province shall not provide additional Funds to the 
Recipient. 


 
 


ARTICLE 14 
EVENT OF DEFAULT, CORRECTIVE ACTION AND TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT 


 
14.1 Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall constitute an Event of 


Default:  
 
(a) in the opinion of the Province, the Recipient breaches any representation, 


warranty, covenant or other material term of the Agreement, including 
failing to do any of the following in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Agreement:  


 
(i) carry out the Project; 


 
(ii) use or spend Funds;  or 


 
(iii) provide, in accordance with section 7.1, Reports or such other 


reports as may have been requested pursuant to section 7.1(b);  
 


(b) the Recipient’s operations, or its organizational structure, changes such 
that it no longer meets one or more of the eligibility requirements of the 
program under which the Province provides the Funds; 


 
(c) the Recipient makes an assignment, proposal, compromise, or 


arrangement for the benefit of creditors, or a creditor makes an 
application for an order adjudging the Recipient bankrupt, or applies for 
the appointment of a receiver; 


 
(d) the Recipient ceases to operate. 
 


14.2 Consequences of Events of Default and Corrective Action.  If an Event of 
Default occurs, the Province may, at any time, take one or more of the following 
actions: 


 
(a) initiate any action the Province considers necessary in order to facilitate 


the successful continuation or completion of the Project; 
 
(b) provide the Recipient with an opportunity to remedy the Event of Default; 
 
(c) suspend the payment of Funds for such period as the Province 


determines appropriate; 
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(d) reduce the amount of the Funds; 
 
(e) cancel all further instalments of Funds;  
 
(f) demand the repayment of any Funds remaining in the possession or 


under the control of the Recipient;  
 
(g) demand the repayment of an amount equal to any Funds the Recipient 


used, but did not use in accordance with the Agreement; 
 
(h) demand the repayment of an amount equal to any Funds the Province 


provided to the Recipient; and 
 
(i) terminate the Agreement at any time, including immediately, upon giving 


Notice to the Recipient. 
 
14.3 Opportunity to Remedy.  If, in accordance with section 14.2(b), the Province 


provides the Recipient with an opportunity to remedy the Event of Default, the 
Province shall provide Notice to the Recipient of:  


 
(a) the particulars of the Event of Default; and 


 
(b) the Notice Period.  


 
14.4 Recipient not Remedying.  If the Province has provided the Recipient with an 


opportunity to remedy the Event of Default pursuant to section 14.2(b), and: 
 


(a) the Recipient does not remedy the Event of Default within the Notice 
Period; 


 
(b) it becomes apparent to the Province that the Recipient cannot completely 


remedy the Event of Default within the Notice Period; or 
 


(c) the Recipient is not proceeding to remedy the Event of Default in a way 
that is satisfactory to the Province, 


 
the Province may extend the Notice Period, or initiate any one or more of the 
actions provided for in sections 14.2(a), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) and (i). 
 


14.5 When Termination Effective. Termination under this Article shall take effect as 
set out in the Notice.  
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ARTICLE 15 
FUNDS AT THE END OF A FUNDING YEAR 


 
15.1 Funds at the End of a Funding Year. Without limiting any rights of the Province 


under Article 14, if the Recipient has not spent all of the Funds allocated for the 
Funding Year, the Province may take one or both of the following actions:  


 
(a) demand the return of the unspent Funds; and 
 
(b) adjust the amount of any further instalments of Funds accordingly. 


 
 


ARTICLE 16 
FUNDS UPON EXPIRY 


 
16.1 Funds Upon Expiry.  The Recipient shall, upon expiry of the Agreement, return 


to the Province any Funds remaining in its possession or under its control.  
 


 
ARTICLE 17 
REPAYMENT 


 
17.1 Repayment of Overpayment. If at any time during the term of the Agreement 


the Province provides Funds in excess of the funds to which the Recipient is 
entitled under the Agreement, the Province may: 


 
(a)  deduct an amount equal to the excess Funds from any further instalments 


of Funds; or 
 
(b)  demand that the Recipient pay an amount equal to the excess Funds to 


the Province.  
 
17.2 Debt Due. If, pursuant to the Agreement: 
 


(a) the Province demands the payment of any Funds or an amount equal to 
any Funds from the Recipient; or 


 
(b) the Recipient owes any Funds or an amount equal to any Funds to the 


Province, whether or not their return or repayment has been demanded 
by the Province,  


 
such Funds or other amount shall be deemed to be a debt due and owing to the 
Province by the Recipient, and the Recipient shall pay or return the amount to 
the Province immediately, unless the Province directs otherwise. 


 
17.3 Interest Rate. The Province may charge the Recipient interest on any money 


owing by the Recipient at the then current interest rate charged by the Province 
of Ontario on accounts receivable. 
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17.4 Payment of Money to Province.  The Recipient shall pay any money owing to 
the Province by cheque payable to the “Ontario Minister of Finance” and 
delivered to the Province at the address provided in section 18.1. 


 
 


ARTICLE 18 
NOTICE 


 
18.1 Notice in Writing and Addressed.  Notice shall be in writing and shall be 


delivered by email, postage-prepaid mail, personal delivery or fax, and shall be 
addressed to the Province and the Recipient respectively as set out below, or as 
either Party later designates to the other by Notice: 


 
To the Province: 
Ministry of Community Safety and 
Correctional Services 
Public Safety Division 
External Relations Branch 
Program Development Section 
12th Floor, 25 Grosvenor Street 
Toronto ON  M7A 2H3 
 
  


To the Recipient: 
Town of Gananoque 
30 King Street East, P.O. Box 100 
Gananoque ON  K7G 2T6 
 
 


Attention: 
Fionne Yip 
Community Safety Analyst 
 
Fax:     416-314-3092   
Email:  Fionne.Yip@ontario.ca                


Attention: 
Mr. Bill McKennan 
Treasurer 
 
Fax:     613-382-8587 
Email:  bmckennan@gananoque.ca               


 
 
18.2 Notice Given.  Notice shall be deemed to have been received:  
 


(a) in the case of postage-prepaid mail, seven days after a Party mails the 
Notice; or 


(b) in the case of email, personal delivery or fax, at the time the other Party 
receives the Notice. 


 
18.3 Postal Disruption.  Despite section 18.2(a), in the event of a postal disruption: 
 


(a) Notice by postage-prepaid mail shall not be deemed to be received; and 
 
(b) the Party giving Notice shall provide Notice by email, personal delivery or 


by fax.   
 
18.4 Despite Section 18.2. Despite section 18.2, if either Party receives a Notice on a 


non-Business Day, or after 5 p.m. on a Business Day, the Notice shall be 
deemed to have been received on the next Business Day. 



http://www.search.e-laws.gov.on.ca/en/isysquery/3d11893a-4f45-442c-a062-4c574166dcdc/10/doc/?search=browseStatutes&context=#hit2#hit2
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ARTICLE 19 
CONSENT BY PROVINCE AND COMPLICANCE BY RECIPIENT  


 
19.1 Consent. When the Province provides its consent pursuant to the Agreement, it 


may impose any terms and conditions on such consent and the Recipient shall 
comply with such terms and conditions.  


 
 


ARTICLE 20 
SEVERABILITY OF PROVISIONS 


 
20.1 Invalidity or Unenforceability of Any Provision. The invalidity or 


unenforceability of any provision of the Agreement shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of any other provision of the Agreement. Any invalid or 
unenforceable provision shall be deemed to be severed. 


 
 


ARTICLE 21 
WAIVER 


 
21.1 Waivers in Writing.  If a Party fails to comply with any term of the Agreement, 


that Party may only rely on a waiver of the other Party if the other Party has 
provided a written waiver in accordance with the Notice provisions in Article 18.  
Any waiver must refer to a specific failure to comply and shall not have the effect 
of waiving any subsequent failures to comply. 


 
 


ARTICLE 22 
INDEPENDENT PARTIES 


 
22.1 Parties Independent.  The Recipient acknowledges that it is not an agent, joint 


venturer, partner or employee of the Province, and the Recipient shall not 
represent itself in any way that might be taken by a reasonable person to suggest 
that it is, or take any actions that could establish or imply such a relationship. 


 
 


ARTICLE 23 
ASSIGNMENT OF AGREEMENT OR FUNDS 


 
23.1 No Assignment.  The Recipient shall not, without the prior written consent of the 


Province, assign any of its rights, or obligations under the Agreement. 
 
23.2 Agreement Binding.  All rights and obligations contained in the Agreement shall 


extend to and be binding on the Parties’ respective heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and permitted assigns. 
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ARTICLE 24 
GOVERNING LAW 


 
24.1 Governing Law.  The Agreement and the rights, obligations and relations of the 


Parties shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
Province of Ontario and the applicable federal laws of Canada. Any actions or 
proceedings arising in connection with the Agreement shall be conducted in the 
courts of Ontario, which shall have exclusive jurisdiction over such proceedings.  


 
 


ARTICLE 25 
FURTHER ASSURANCES 


 
25.1 Agreement into Effect.  The Recipient shall provide such further assurances as 


the Province may request from time to time with respect to any matter to which 
the Agreement pertains, and shall otherwise do or cause to be done all acts or 
things necessary to implement and carry into effect the terms and conditions of 
the Agreement to their full extent. 


 
 


ARTICLE 26 
JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY 


 
26.1 Joint and Several Liability. Where the Recipient is comprised of more than one 


entity, all such entities shall be jointly and severally liable to the Province for the 
fulfillment of the obligations of the Recipient under the Agreement. 


 
 


ARTICLE 27 
RIGHTS AND REMEDIES CUMULATIVE 


 
27.1 Rights and Remedies Cumulative.  The rights and remedies of the Province 


under the Agreement are cumulative and are in addition to, and not in 
substitution for, any of its rights and remedies provided by law or in equity. 


 
 


ARTICLE 28 
BPSAA  


 
28.1 BPSAA.   For the purposes of clarity, if the Recipient is subject to the BPSAA 


and there is a conflict between any of the requirements of the Agreement and the 
requirements of the BPSAA, the BPSAA shall prevail. 
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ARTICLE 29 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF OTHER LEGISLATION  


 
29.1 Recipient Acknowledges. The Recipient acknowledges that by receiving Funds 


it may become subject to legislation applicable to organizations that receive 
funding from the Government of Ontario, including the BPSAA, the Public Sector 
Salary Disclosure Act, 1996 (Ontario), and the Auditor General Act (Ontario). 


 
 


ARTICLE 30 
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH OTHER AGREEMENTS 


 
30.1   Other Agreements.  If the Recipient: 
  


(a) has failed to comply (a “Failure”) with any term, condition or obligation 
under any other agreement with Her Majesty the Queen in right of Ontario 
or a Crown agency;  


 
(b)  has been provided with notice of such Failure in accordance with the 


requirements of such other agreement;  
 
(c)  has, if applicable, failed to rectify such Failure in accordance with the 


requirements of such other agreement; and 
 
(d)  such Failure is continuing, 
 
the Province may suspend the payment of Funds for such period as the Province 
determines appropriate. 


 
 


ARTICLE 31 
SCHEDULES 


 
31.1 Schedules.  The Agreement includes the following schedules: 


 
(a) Schedule “A” - Project Description, Payment and Reporting Schedule; 
 
(b) Schedule “B” - Court Security and Prisoner Transportation Services and 


Activities Eligible for Funding; and 
 
(c) Schedule “C” – Template for Annual Financial Report. 
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ARTICLE 32 
SURVIVAL 


 
32.1 Survival.  The following Articles and sections, and all applicable cross-


referenced sections and schedules, shall continue in full force and effect for a 
period of seven years from the date of expiry or termination of the Agreement: 
Article 1 and any other applicable definitions, section 4.2(d), 4.6, 5.2, section 7.1 
(to the extent that the Recipient has not provided the Reports to the satisfaction 
of the Province), sections 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, Article 8, Article 10, section 12.2, 
sections 13.2 and 13.3, sections 14.1, 14.2(d), (e), (f), (g) and (h), Article 16, 
Article 17, Article 18, Article 20, section 23.2, Article 24, Article 26, Article 27, 
Article 29, Article 30, Article 31, Article 32 and Article 34. 


 
 


ARTICLE 33 
COUNTERPARTS 


 
33.1 Counterparts.  The Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 


each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall 
constitute one and the same instrument. 


 
 


ARTICLE 34 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 


 
34.1 Entire Agreement.  The Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 


the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained in the Agreement and 
supersedes all prior oral or written representations and agreements. 


 
34.2 Modification of Agreement.  The Agreement may only be amended by a written 


agreement duly executed by the Parties. 
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The Parties have executed the Agreement on the dates set out below. 
 


 
HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO 
as represented by the Minister of Community Safety and Correctional 
Services 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  _______________ 
Name: Oscar Mosquera    Date 
Title: Manager 
 Program Development Section 
 External Relations Branch 
 
Pursuant to Delegated Authority 
 
 
Town of Gananoque 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  _______________ 
Name:      Date 
Title: 
 
 
  
_____________________________  _______________ 
Name:      Date 
Title: 
 
I/We have authority to bind the Recipient. 
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SCHEDULE “A” 
 


PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 


As part of the 2008 PMFSDR, the Ontario government committed to upload court 
security and prisoner transportation costs from municipalities, beginning in 2012 and 
phased in by an equal amount over seven years, to a maximum of $125 million annually 
at maturity by 2018. 
 
The Recipient is responsible for the costs of providing security for court premises during 
hours of court operations and security of persons attending court.  The Recipient is also 
responsible for the costs of transporting prisoners and custodial minors (i.e., persons 
between twelve and seventeen years of age) between correctional institutions, custodial 
facilities and court locations for the purposes of court attendance. 
 


Funding is allocated based on the Recipient’s relative share of the total 2013 
provincial CSPT costs. 
 
 
PAYMENT AND REPORTING SCHEDULE 
 
The Funds in the amount of $46,097.80 will be provided to the Recipient according to 
the following schedule: 
 
Funding Year 1 – January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015: 
 
A. First instalment: $5,121.98 will be paid to the Recipient once the Recipient has 


signed the Agreement, provided adequate proof of insurance to the Province in 
accordance with Article 11.2 of the Agreement, and the Agreement has then been 
signed by the Province. 
 


B. Final instalment: $15,365.93 will be paid to the Recipient, following the Province’s 
receipt and approval of the 2014 Annual Financial Report (due April 15, 2015), 
which is part of the reporting requirements of the 2012-2014 agreement for the 
Program. 


 
Funding Year 2 – January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016: 
 
A. First instalment: $6,402.47 will be paid to the Recipient, following the Province’s 


receipt and approval of the 2015 Annual Financial Report (due January 30, 2016). 
 
B. Final instalment: $19,207.42 will be paid to the Recipient by the end of April 2016, 


subject to the Province’s receipt and approval of the 2015 Annual Financial Report. 
 
C. The Recipient must submit the 2016 Annual Financial Report to the Province by 


April 15, 2016. 
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SCHEDULE “B” 
 


COURT SECURITY AND PRISONER TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND 
ACTIVITIES ELIGIBLE FOR FUNDING 


 
A. COURT SECURITY includes: 
 
1. Facility Perimeter Security  


Costs associated with external and/or internal police presence during regular or non-
regular hours to secure the perimeter of the facility, to respond to a specific threat or 
for high-profile matters. 


 
2. Courtroom Security 


Costs associated with the presence of police staff in the courtroom to ensure the 
safety and security of the proceedings and attendees. 


 
3. General Courthouse Security Presence 


Costs associated with the use of screening stations to screen all public visitors to the 
courthouse, including the use of magnetometers and x-ray machines, and police staff 
assigned to perform roving patrols of the court facility. 


 
4. Prisoner Movement in Courthouse  


Costs associated with monitoring the movement of prisoners between holding cells 
and other areas within the courthouse. 


 
5. Prisoner Guarding in Holding Cells 


Costs associated with guarding and monitoring of prisoners brought to court for trial 
and held in courthouse holding cells (where applicable). 


 
6. Prisoner Feeding 


Costs associated with the provision of meals to prisoners required while in the 
custody of local police services for the purpose of attending court. 


 
B. PRISONER TRANSPORTATION includes:  
 
1. Prisoner Transport 


Costs associated with the movement of prisoners between correctional institutions 
and court locations for the purposes of attending trial. 


 
2. Prisoner Transport - Youth 


Costs associated with the movement of custodial minors (i.e. 12-17 years old) 
between correctional and/or custodial facilities and court locations for the purposes 
of attending trial. 


 
*PRISONER includes:  Persons being held in custody as a result of provincial or federal 
offence proceedings, including persons under immigration detention. 
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C. TRAINING, EQUIPMENT AND RECRUITING includes: 
 
1. Costs associated with training that is relevant to court security and prisoner 


transportation only.   
 
2. Cost associated with equipment that is unique to the member's deployment within 


court security and prisoner transportation and does not include equipment that would 
be utilized if the member was deployed in any other capacity within the police 
service.  


 
3. Costs associated with recruiting that is relevant to the staffing of court security and 


prisoner transportation only.  Costs may include advertising for applicants, physical 
fitness and/or psychological testing, applicant screening, interviews or any other 
related human resources expense.  


 
 


 
COURT SECURITY AND PRISONER TRANSPORTATION do NOT include: 


 


 
Court Administration                                                                                                                                                                         
Costs associated with performing court administrative duties including the scheduling of 
staff for daily deployment, the service of legal documents, the preparation/maintenance 
of Crown Brief materials, the entry of data into court information systems, preparing or 
swearing/affirming legal documentation, scheduling of court appearances or other duties 
of a related nature. 
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SCHEDULE “C” 
 


TEMPLATE FOR ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
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Regular Council Meeting Minutes for November 4, 2014 

they harbor, thereby degrading the quality of life for all citizens of the Lake Ontario
St. Lawrence River region; and 

WHEREAS, the International Joint Commission has sponsored a 10-year, $20 million 
process to develop a new regulation plan that addresses the concerns of all 
stakeholders in New York, Ontario, and Quebec; and 

WHEREAS, the International Joint Commission now proposes "Plan 2014" as the new 
regulation plan for Lake Ontario-St. Lawrence River system; and 

WHEREAS, Plan 2014 will increase production of hydropower by the dam in the St. 
Lawrence River, and maintain the benefits that regulation of the River and Lake has 
provided to international shipping; and 

WHEREAS, by restoring some of the natural fluctuations in water levels, while 
avoiding extreme high and low levels, Plan 2014 will restore the plant and animal 
diversity of coastal wetlands without public investment and dramatically increase 
opportunities for hunting, fishing, and wildlife viewing. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council of the Town of Gananoque supports 
Plan 2014 and urges its swift adoption by the Canadian and U.S. federal governments. 

ACCOUNTS 

NONE 

COUNCIL ENQUIRIES & REPORTS {Reports must be in writing} 

MOTION NO: 2014-310 
Moved by: Councillor Girling 
Seconded by: Councillor Warren 

CARRIED 

Be it resolved that council set aside the procedural by-law to permit the second 
regular meeting to be move to November 17, 2014. 

MOTION NO: 2014-311 
Moved by: Councillor Warren 
Seconded by: Councillor Girling 

CARRIED 

Be it resolved that council direct the Clerk to hold a recount of the votes cast for all 
candidates (Mayor and Council) under the Municipal Elections Act 2014 section 57 
(l)(a); and 

Further that the recount will include the electronic and telephone voting result; and 

Further that the Clerk will follow the recount procedure set out in the Municipal 
Elections Act and the Town's 2014 Municipal Election Procedure Manual. 

CARRIED 

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS QUESTIONS OR COMMENTS 

A member of the press asked a question. 
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Regular Council Meeting Minutes for November 4, 2014 

CONFIRMATION BY-LAW 

MOTION NO: 2014-312 
Moved by: Councillor Girling 
Seconded by: Councillor Warren 
Be it resolved that By-law 2014-114 being a by-law to confirm the proceedings of 
Council at their meeting held on November 4, 2014 be read three times and finally 
passed this 4th day of November, 2014. 

CARRIED 

ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by: Councillor Hayes 
Be it resolved that Council adjourn this regular meeting of Council at 7:37 PM. 

Mayor, Erika Demchuk Clerk, Bonnie Dingwall 
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CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE 
 


BYLAW NO. 2014-114
 


 
BEING A BY-LAW TO CONFIRM THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE COUNCIL  


OF THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE AT  
ITS’ MEETING HELD ON NOVEMBER 4th, 2014.  


     


 
WHEREAS by Section 5 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, the powers of a 
municipal corporation are to be exercised by its Council; and 
 
WHEREAS Subsection 2 of Section 11 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, 
provides that the powers of every Council are to be exercised by Bylaw; and 
 
WHEREAS it is deemed expedient that the proceedings of the Council of the 
Corporation of the Town of Gananoque at this meeting be confirmed and adopted by 
Bylaw. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque hereby 
enact as follows; 
 


1. The action of the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque at its 
meeting held on November 4th, 2014, in respect of each recommendation 
contained in the reports of the Committees and each motion and resolution 
passed and other action taken by the Council of the Corporation of the Town of 
Gananoque at its meetings is hereby adopted and confirmed as if all such 
proceedings were expressly embodied in this by-law. 
 


2. That Council confirm the motions adopted during the Committee of the Whole 
at their meeting held on November 4th, 2014.  


 
3. The Mayor and proper officials of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque 


are hereby authorized and directed to do all things necessary to give effect to 
the action of the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque referred 
to in the preceding section hereof. 


 
4. The Mayor and Clerk are authorized and directed to execute all documents 


necessary in that behalf and to affix thereto the seal of the Corporation of the 
Town of Gananoque. 


 
READ THREE TIMES and passed this 4th, day of November, 2014. 
 
 
_________________________  _____________________________ 
Mayor, Erika Demchuk   Deputy Clerk, Kelly Shipclark 
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